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The recent modernization and expansion project at our Sac Tun quarry in Mexico has improved its competitive 

profile while increasing capacity 33 percent to over twelve million tons per year.
PLAYA DEL CARMEN, MEXICO
QUARRY EXPANSION

ON THE COVER:IN 2007, WE POSTED RECORD RESULTS 
IN KEY BUSINESS METRICS DESPITE LAGGING 
DEMAND. NEAR THE END OF THE YEAR, 
FLORIDA ROCK INDUSTRIES JOINED US, CREATING 
OPERATIONAL AND STRATEGIC SYNERGIES WHILE 
INCREASING OUR RESERVES AND ENHANCING 
OUR ABILITY TO SERVE CUSTOMERS IN OUR
GROWTH-MARKET FOOTPRINT. WHILE UNCERTAINTY
IN THE GENERAL ECONOMY SWIRLED, OUR 
FUNDAMENTALS REMAINED STRONG.
 
WHAT HAS NOT AND WILL NOT CHANGE 
ABOUT VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY IS THE 
CONSISTENCY AND EXECUTION OF OUR 
STRATEGY, THE STRENGTH OF OUR UNDERLYING 
BUSINESS, AND OUR PROSPECTS AS A VITAL 
CONTRIBUTOR TO AMERICA’S INFRASTRUCTURE.
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STRATEGIC

HIGHWAY 24 REHABIL ITATION  This heavily traveled 

commuter corridor links San Francisco and 

downtown Oakland to the burgeoning suburbs

and California’s interstate system beyond the 

Berkeley Hills. Its rehabilitation will consume 

85,000 tons of recycled asphalt pavement, 

70,000 tons of rubberized asphaltic concrete and 

50,000 tons of open graded asphaltic concrete.

O ’ H A R E  A I R P O R T  R U N WAY  E X PA N S I O N   Vulcan 

supplied over 800,000 tons of stone in 2007 for 

the O’Hare Modernization Program, an effort to 

improve capacity and reduce delays at the world’s 

second busiest airport. In addition to improving 

travel effi ciency for worldwide travelers, a modern-

ized O’Hare is expected to add 195,000 jobs for 

local workers.

FORT MYERS QUARRY  Underwater mining accesses 

the high quality stone of this major quarry outside 

Fort Myers and Naples, Florida, a highly desirable 

long-term growth market.

SAN FRANCISCO, CA
HIGHWAY 24 REHABILITATION

CHICAGO, IL
O’HARE AIRPORT RUNWAY EXPANSION

FORT MYERS, FL
QUARRY



5

A key asset from the Florida Rock acquisition, the Fort Myers quarry brings to Vulcan signifi cant long-term, high quality reserves 

strategically located in southwest Florida, historically one of the nation’s fastest growing areas. The quarry is currently providing 

material for the I-75 widening project.

KENNESAW QUARRY  The Kennesaw Quarry opened 

in 1952 in a rural portion of Cobb County approx-

imately 25 miles from downtown Atlanta. Today, 

the recently rebuilt quarry operates in the midst 

of a thriving portion of Metro Atlanta. Kennesaw 

provides between three and four million tons of 

stone annually to serve the needs of growing 

northwest Atlanta suburban communities.

PL ANT REBUILD/E XPANSION  The design and con-

struction of our Western Division’s newest 

aggregates plant in Corona uses a downhill 

conveyor that generates electricity as it carries 

the rock to a processing plant below. The downhill 

conveyor at the Corona plant is designed to 

cogenerate more than 200,000 kilowatt hours of 

electricity annually at planned operating efficiency, 

which in turn saves more than 180,000 pounds of 

carbon dioxide emissions. The Corona quarry is 

strategically located in a high demand area near 

Los Angeles. Its high quality material meets the 

specifications for ballast, hot mix asphalt and 

ready-mixed concrete products.

INTERSTATE H IGHWAY 355 AND VE TER AN’S BR IDGE 

E X TENSION  Using half a million tons of stone from 

Vulcan’s fi rst of three underground mines in the 

Chicago metropolitan area, the I-355 tollway 

extension provides relief from traffi c congestion 

for Chicago commuters. The 12.5 mile, six-lane 

exten sion of I-355 south and related Veteran’s 

Bridge was called by Road & Bridges magazine 

one of the top 10 infrastructure projects in the 

nation. Helping make people’s commutes faster 

and safer is just one way that Vulcan improves the 

commu nities we serve.

CORONA, CA
PLANT REBUILD/EXPANSION

CHICAGO, IL
INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 355 

AND VETERAN’S BRIDGE

EXTENSION

ATLANTA, GA
KENNESAW QUARRY

FORT MYERS, FL
ROCK QUARRY
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STRATEGIC
Amid turbulent times and weaker demand, Vulcan posted another 

record year in sales, net cash provided by operating activities, 

operating earnings and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization. Such resilience is characteristic of our people and 

our business.

We have the right strategy built around aggregates and tested by time: 

growth through focused acquisitions; concentration on geographic 

markets that are growing at above-average rates, and securing ample 

reserves within them; and a business mix heavily weighted toward 

infrastructure projects and nonresidential construction. This focus 

helps to shield us, in part, from the cyclical slowdowns in home-

building. And, as our history of out performing the market affi rms, we 

know how to execute our strategy. 

PRO FORMA 2007 NET SALES, VULCAN AND FLORIDA ROCK COMBINED

CONTINUED FOCUS ON AGGREGATES

AGGREGATES

61%
TIED TO AGGREGATES

87%

Aggregates comprise 

61 percent of total 

sales to customers. 

More importantly, 

87 percent of total sales 

to customers are 

tied to Vulcan-produced 

aggregates, which are 

also key inputs in 

the manufacture and 

sale of downstream 

products such as Vulcan 

asphalt and concrete.
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A BUSINESS LIKE NO OTHER

Aggregates remain indispensable to the country’s basic infrastructure 

and to civic growth and maintenance. While they may seem like a 

commodity to some, they are not bought and sold in typical commodity 

markets. The weight-to-value ratio means proximity to market counts. 

Reserves have to be close at hand. And to consistently create value 

over time, those reserves have to be abundant and long-lasting.

THE ADDITION OF FLORIDA ROCK

The acquisition of Florida Rock Industries adds signifi cant aggregates 

reserves in attractive markets. It continues our long-term strategy to 

position our company in markets where access to new reserves is 

limited and where demand for aggregates is expected to grow at 

above-average rates over the long term. Integration of this acquisition 

is proceeding smoothly and according to our plans.

CONTINUED FOCUS ON AGGREGATES

The Florida Rock acquisition signifi cantly expanded our aggregates 

business in several important geographic markets, primarily in Florida, 

Virginia and Maryland. In addition, the Florida Rock acquisition signif-

icantly raised our presence in concrete in several geographic markets, 

primarily in Florida and northern Virginia. We also have both asphalt 

and concrete facilities in certain other geographic markets, primarily 

California, Texas and Arizona. Both types of operations complement 

our basic aggregates business by moving Vulcan-produced aggre-

gates as a key input with every sale.

OPERATING IMPROVEMENTS HAVE DRIVEN EARNINGS GROWTH DESPITE CYCLICAL DOWNTURN 

VULCAN AGGREGATES SHIPMENTS HAVE GROWN
FASTER THAN THE INDUSTRY AS A WHOLE

FUTURE INDUSTRY DEMAND
(millions of tons)
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STABLE

RE ADY-MIX PL ANT  We locate our concrete plants 

as close to the action as possible. This plant is 

adjacent to Washington, DC’s Dulles International 

Airport, and provided most of the white cement 

concrete prominently featured in the recent Dulles 

terminal expansion.

QUARRY E XPANSION  During the plant expansion, 

the Sac Tun quarry shipped record volumes of 

aggregates to the United States, meeting the 

needs of customers across the Gulf Coast region. 

This could only happen through the extraordinary 

efforts of the quarry’s many dedicated employees, 

management team and the company’s three 

Panamax-class ships, which are in service 365 

days per year.

W O O D R O W  W I L S O N  B R I D G E  P R O J E C T   Linking 

Maryland to Virginia across the Potomac River, this 

impressive new bridge is scheduled to open in 

mid-2008. The overall $2.5 billion Woodrow Wilson 

Bridge Project, involving the bridge and related 

interchanges, upgrades a key portion of I-95, the 

main route north and south along the East Coast. 

When the entire project is completed, Vulcan will 

have supplied 2 million tons of stone from a quarry 

and two sales yards in Virginia, as well as some 

50,000 cubic yards of concrete from our Virginia 

Concrete subsidiary.

CARDINAL, VA
READY-MIX PLANT

PLAYA DEL CARMEN, MEXICO
QUARRY EXPANSION

ALEXANDRIA, VA
WOODROW WILSON

BRIDGE PROJECT
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With the M/V H.A. Sklenar, Vulcan now owns and operates three Panamax-class self-unloading vessels. The ships transport high 

quality limestone aggregates from Vulcan’s recently expanded Sac Tun quarry on Mexico’s Yucatán Peninsula to attractive markets 

along the U.S. Gulf Coast, the east coast of Florida and the Caribbean. 

FREEPORT, TX
M/V H.A. SKLENAR

AG G R E G AT E S YA R D  Strategically located at the 

“mixing bowl”—the confl uence of I-95, I-395 and the 

I-495 beltway — Vulcan’s Edsel Yard in Springfi eld, 

Virginia serves the growing Washington, DC area. 

In a continual stream of activity, aggregates are 

brought in by rail, stored at the yard and trucked 

to the many construction projects in the area that 

rely on Vulcan. One of our largest ready-mixed 

concrete plants is also located at this crucial 

transportation hub.

QUARRY E XPANSION  The workers at the modern-

ized Sac Tun quarry are enjoying the benefi ts of 

operating some of the most modern and safe 

equipment available.

M A R AT H O N O I L  E X PA N S I O N  One of the largest 

construction projects in Louisiana, the $3.2 billion 

expansion of the Marathon Oil refi nery will nearly 

double the refi nery’s capacity when it is fi nished 

in 2010. It will require over a half million tons of 

Vulcan crushed stone — limestone with high 

structural value—shipped from our Sac Tun quarry 

in Mexico.

The size and pace of the job would be daunting for 

most, but not Vulcan. We can deliver over 65,000 

tons of high quality stone at a time, in six-day round 

trips, from our Convent, Louisiana yard located 

within ten miles of the construction site. With three 

ships in rotation, Vulcan is well positioned to 

serve future industrial expansions all along the 

Gulf Coast.

WASHINGTON, DC
AGGREGATES YARD

GARYVILLE, LA
MARATHON OIL EXPANSION

PLAYA DEL CARMEN, MEXICO
QUARRY EXPANSION
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STABLE
Vulcan, with great consistency, has delivered superior performance 

over time. 

Through the up and down phases of business cycles, Vulcan 

routinely has outper formed the market and delivered superior value 

to its shareholders. As with the acquisitions of CalMat and Tarmac, 

the assets of Florida Rock bolster and extend our existing, lasting 

strengths: ample reserves; vital presence in long-term growth 

markets nationwide; along with local know ledge and good standing 

in the community. 

OUTPERFORMING THE MARKET

AVERAGE ANNUAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN, WITH DIVIDENDS REINVESTED

VULCANS&P 500

20 Year

13%

15 Year

14%

10 Year

11%

5 Year

19%

3 Year

15%
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INDUSTRY LEADERSHIP 

The acquisition of Florida Rock enhances our U.S. leadership position 

in construction aggregates. We lead in volume of shipments and in 

quantity of permitted reserves. We have also worked hard over the 

years to be a leader in establishing higher standards and norms for 

safety, and in making stewardship of the land and of the communities 

we serve central to our business.

We are a business built on strong results, strong reserves and strong 

relationships. Throughout our more than 50-year history as a public 

company, Vulcan has a proven track record of adding value for 

shareholders. Building on another year of record results and earnings 

growth in 2007, we expect more quality top-line growth in aggregates 

going forward. 

A REPUTATION EARNED

We are proud that others see us as a leader, not just of our industry 

but also within corporate America. In 2007, Vulcan again was ranked 

as one of America’s Most Admired Companies by Fortune magazine.  

We were number 1 in  our industry and in the top 10 of all Fortune 1000 

companies for long-term investment. Vulcan was also ranked in the 

top 10 of all Fortune 1000 companies for social responsibility, and 

among the top 20 for financial soundness and use of corporate 

assets. This recognition is a great tribute to the work of our employees 

in their communities across America, and refl ects well on our sound 

business practices, long-term commitment to social responsibility, 

and performance in the marketplace.

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN AVERAGING 14% ANNUALLY OVER 50 YEARS 

Cumulative share price appreciation with dividends reinvested, over a 50-year period. Results of a $1,000 investment on December 31, 1957.

VULCAN

S&P 500
$1,000

$1,000,000

$750,000

$500,000

$250,000
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GROWING

W A S H I N G T O N  N AT I O N A L S  S TA D I U M  The new 

stadium for the District of Columbia’s major league 

baseball franchise contains over 80,000 cubic 

yards of Vulcan-supplied concrete. The concrete 

was produced literally across the street, at a long-

standing ready-mixed concrete plant that joined 

Vulcan as part of the Florida Rock acquisition.

M A ER S K PR O J ECT  Maersk Sealand, the world’s 

largest shipping line, recently completed its new 

Portsmouth Terminal—the fi rst privately developed 

container terminal in the nation. The terminal 

includes a 4,000 foot long wharf and a dozen new 

cranes. This added capacity has made Hampton 

Roads the second largest port on the East Coast 

behind New York /New Jersey. The project 

consumed a total of just under a million tons of 

Vulcan aggregates.

N AT I O N A L M U S EU M O F T H E M A R I N E C O R PS  This 

new museum honoring the United States Marine 

Corps in Quantico, Virginia, contains over 22,000 

cubic yards of concrete, all of it provided by Vulcan. 

We also supplied the concrete and aggregates 

used in building the award-winning National Air 

Force Memorial in Washington, DC.

WASHINGTON, DC
WASHINGTON NATIONALS STADIUM NORFOLK, VA

MAERSK PROJECT

QUANTICO, VA
NATIONAL MUSEUM

OF THE MARINE CORPS
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Located 45 miles east of Los Angeles, CA, the Corona quarry serves North San Diego, Orange County, and the western 

portion of Riverside County — identifi ed in 2006 by CNNMoney as the third fastest growing county in the United States.

MAERSK PROJECT  The Maersk project is expected 

to create 210 new jobs and generate $500 million 

in local and state tax revenues in its fi rst 15 years.

Aggregates for the project were produced at our 

Skippers quarry and transported by rail to the 

Portsmouth Sales yard, and at our Richmond 

quarry and transported by barge to the Port Norfolk 

yard by our own marine department, then trucked 

to the jobsite.

NE WBERRY CEMENT PL A NT E XPA NSION  This fully 

integrated, state-of-the-art mining and production 

facility, originally brought on line in 2000, is in the 

midst of a two-year expansion project, scheduled 

for completion in the fi rst quarter of 2009, that will 

double its capacity to 1.7 million tons a year. Adding 

a second production line will provide greater 

economies of scale and other effi ciencies in the 

Newberry plant’s process of turning limestone 

into cement — the “glue” in concrete. A key asset 

acquired in the Florida Rock deal, the plant has 

approximately 50 years of reserves in its under-

water limestone deposits.

DEPA RTMENT OF TR ANSPORTAT ION  Over 70,000 

cubic yards of Vulcan-supplied concrete went into 

the new head quarters for the United States 

Department of Transportation. For the project, at 

the request of the client, we built a ready-mixed 

concrete plant on site, in a joint-venture with the 

local minority-owned company, CTI/DC.

NEWBERRY, FL
NEWBERRY CEMENT 

PLANT EXPANSION

WASHINGTON, DC
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

NORFOLK, VA
MAERSK PROJECT

CORONA, CA
QUARRY REBUILD/EXPANSION
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Top 10 aggregates-served Vulcan states

Other aggregates-served Vulcan states

Legacy Vulcan aggregates, asphalt and concrete facilities

Former Florida Rock aggregates, cement and concrete facilities

GROWING
Vulcan has consistently improved its business, and its ability to 

create value, by following a focused and deliberate growth-by-

acquisition strategy.

 

As with previous acquisitions, Florida Rock makes Vulcan’s enduring 

strengths even stronger. This latest acquisition gives us a greater 

presence within our footprint, enhanced ability to serve our growth 

markets, operational synergies and, most importantly, greater oppor-

tunity for long-term growth.

 

EXPANDING OUR FOOTPRINT
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VALUE IN THE GROUND

With the addition of Florida Rock’s assets, we now have 12.9 billion 

tons of reserves to support our aggregates, cement, concrete and 

asphalt businesses. We have an average reserve life of 43 years and 

serve nine of the ten fastest-growing markets in the country.

HOLDING THE LONG VIEW 

Our strategy is to mine the strengths of our coast-to-coast footprint, 

drawing on significant quantities of reserves strategically located in 

large, high-growth U.S. markets, thus driving long-term profi table 

growth. We excel at managing our day-to-day operations, and are 

quick to act when the right opportunities open up, but we also think in 

terms of decades and future generations, and always have.

U.S. POPULATION GROWTH 2005–2025HIGH GROWTH MARKETS

MINERAL RESERVES 1997–2007

1997 Reserves

Source: Reports on Form 10-K for Vulcan Materials Company

Source: National Planning Association, 2007

VULCAN’S

OTHER

STATES

NON-

VULCAN

STATES

VULCAN’S

TOP 10

STATES

(aggregates)

Shipments Legacy Vulcan Additions

Population Employment Households Aggregates
Demand

Florida Rock Addition 2007 Reserves

76% of projected 

U.S. population 

growth will 

occur in Vulcan-

served states.

Vulcan states 

are growing 

faster than the 

U.S. average, 

resulting 

in greater 

aggregates 

demand.

AVERAGE ANNUAL GROWTH RATES 1997–2007:

0%

1.5%

1.0%

0.5%

2.0%

60%

24%

16%

8.2
BILLION TONS

12.9
BILLION TONS

-2.3 5.3 1.7

OTHER STATES VULCAN-SERVED STATES
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FROM THE CHAIRMAN Dear shareholders, neighbors and friends,

The Vulcan story is one of fundamental, lasting value. As a business, 

we offer notable strengths — strategic focus, substantial reserves, 

operational excellence, a nationwide footprint concentrated in 

America’s primary growth markets, and consistently strong results. 

As an investment, our many long-term shareholders know that we 

have grown signifi cantly through major acquisitions over the years 

and have consistently outperformed the market over time. As a 

neighbor, within the many communities we call home, we manage our 

lands for the long-term benefi t of all concerned. 

In 2007, we posted another record year. Vulcan reached record 

levels of full year sales, net cash provided by operating activities, 

operating earnings and EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortization). Consolidated net sales were 

$3.1 billion in 2007, an increase of 2 percent from the prior year’s 

record level. Net cash provided by operating activities of $708 million 

increased 22 percent from the 2006 level of $579 million. Operating 

earnings for 2007 were $714 million, up 3 percent from the 2006 level 

of $695 million. EBITDA in 2007 was $981 million, up 3 percent from 

the $950 million reported in 2006.* 
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We generated these improved results despite weaker demand for 

our products. While Vulcan is not as exposed as some others in our 

industry to the cycles of the homebuilding marketplace, the sharp 

downturn in residential construction activity was only partially 

offset by increased levels of highway construction and non resi-

dential construction.

A market environment that recognizes the high cost of replacing 

reserves has been instrumental for price improvement despite lower 

volumes. The average selling price for aggregates increased 13 percent 

in 2007, even with an approximate 9 percent decline in aggregates 

shipments. We expect the pricing momentum we achieved in 2005 

and 2006, which continued in 2007, to also continue through 2008.

While market conditions remain uncertain, we expect another year of 

record sales and net cash provided by operating activities. The broad 

use of aggregates in construction and the multi-year nature of 

highway and infrastructure projects should help offset continued 

weakness in residential construction and some softening in certain 

categories of private nonresidential construction. Leading indicators 

such as contract awards for highways and nonresidential construction 

in Vulcan-served markets continue to grow and lead other U.S. 

markets. We expect the demand for aggregates in our markets for 

public infrastructure projects and for nonresidential construction to 

increase in 2008.

 

The Florida Rock acquisition signifi cantly bolstered our aggregates 

reserves in attractive markets, consistent with our long-term strategy. 

When the window of opportunity opened, we acted, because the 

addition of Florida Rock’s operations and reserves makes us better 

over the long term, just as our acquisitions of CalMat, Tarmac, White’s 

Mines and so many others have done before. It is worth pointing out 

that each of these moves initially presented challenges, yet now those 

assets are an integral and strong part of our core business. The long-

term view of value creation that has always guided our business, and 

that always will, has served Vulcan’s shareholders very well. 

As with every major acquisition in our history, this one will change 

and improve Vulcan’s capacity to serve our chosen growth markets.  

At Vulcan, we will keep doing what we do best: 

• Focusing on aggregates 

• Serving growth markets 

• Delivering results 

• Growing 

• Managing for the long term

DONALD M. JAMES
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER



Vulcan is the leader in an essential industry and we take a long-term 

view. We remain steadfastly community-oriented and grounded in 

the common good. Managing for the long term includes responsible 

and effective land management. We know the value of being a good 

neighbor, and act accordingly. Vulcan strives to be the industry 

leader in safety, health and environmental stewardship as well as in 

quarry beautifi cation.

We also know that responsible land management is an essential and 

productive business strategy. Mining is an interim use of land, albeit 

an immensely important one. Our land management plans benefi t 

from the input of citizens and local governments with an eye on how 

sites will best serve the interests of the local economy and the 

community when mining ends. When the time is right and operations 

cease at a given location, we look for ways to reclaim the site for 

profi table development. It’s the kind of thing that a good neighbor, 

and a good business, does.

As we look to the future, we welcome the challenges ahead and are 

excited about what the addition of Florida Rock means to our business 

going forward, as it signifi cantly increases our capacity to serve the 

near and long-term needs of our country. Perhaps nowhere are these 

needs more apparent than in the declining state of public infrastructure 

in the United States.

Forecasts and recommendations from the recent National Surface 

Transportation Policy and Revenue Study Commission Report, 

commissioned by Congress, underline the pressing need for infra-

structure investments both public and private in the immediate future 

and beyond. That speaks directly to our strengths. Among other 

things, the Report calls for massive improvements in most if not all of 

Vulcan’s key cities and regions — the growth markets we call home. 

We are seeing increasing signs that elected offi cials at all levels of 

government as well as private citizens are ready to do something 

about infra structure needs in America.

The collapse of Minnesota’s Interstate 35W bridge on August 1, 2007, 

put the fragile nature of the nation’s infrastructure in stark relief. As the 

Report states, in no uncertain terms, “…the transportation challenges 

facing the Nation have reached crisis proportions — the deferred 

maintenance of its basic infrastructure; the burgeoning international 

trade and its impact on our road and rail networks; the traffic 

congestion that is crippling metropolitan America… The future of our 

Nation’s well-being, vitality, and global economic leadership is at 

stake. We need to invest at least $225 billion annually from all sources 

for the next 50 years to upgrade our existing system to a state of good 

repair and create a more advanced surface transportation system to 

sustain and ensure strong economic growth for our families. We are 

spending less than 40 percent of this amount today.”

NET SALES

(in millions)

’03 ’04 ’06’05 ’07
0 00

$1,600

$3,200

NET CASH PROVIDED  

BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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’03 ’04 ’06’05 ’07

$375

$750

DILUTED EARNINGS  

PER SHARE FROM 
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We agree with the Commission’s fi ndings and will work to help enact 

laws that further these efforts. We are ideally suited to play a part. 

Vulcan was founded over fi fty years ago as a public company intending 

to serve and grow with the Eisenhower National System of Interstate 

and Defense Highways. That program helped spur not only our growth, 

but more importantly, the growth and strength of our nation’s 

economy and the concurrent rise of the United States as a global 

superpower. We have seen fi rsthand how policy can create wealth 

for our nation. Investments in infrastructure — from the railroads 

150 years ago to the Eisenhower program to the Report’s recommended 

reinvestment in the transportation backbone of our economy — create 

national prosperity and a sustained environment of ceaseless, 

productive activity.

Vulcan today, with Florida Rock and the other acquisitions we’ve made 

over the years, is extremely well situated to fulfi ll America’s needs to 

rebuild and grow its infrastructure. Our coast-to-coast footprint aligns 

with and overlays the areas of greatest need and opportunity, and we 

intend to play an increasingly crucial role in infrastructure maintenance 

and development nationwide.

We look forward to the future, and to helping build it with you.

Thank you for your continued support.

DONALD M. JAMES

Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

March 28, 2008

*Non-GAAP Financial Measures

For additional information including a reconciliation from GAAP fi nancial 

measures to non-GAAP fi nancial measures for EBITDA, please review the 

current Form 8-K fi led with The Securities and Exchange Commission on 

March 28, 2008.

GROSS PROFIT 

AS A PERCENTAGE

OF NET SALES 

’03 ’04 ’06’05 ’07
0%

16%

32%



2424 Financial Highlights 

This graph compares the performance of our common stock to that of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index and the Dow Jones Wilshire Materials and Services Sector Index, from December 3 1, 

2002 to December 31, 2007. The Wilshire 5000 M&S is a market capitalization weighted sector containing the public equities of firms in the Materials and Services sector which includes Vulcan and 

approximately 1,100 other companies. The graph assumes that all dividends have been reinvested.

Financial Highlights
Vulcan Materials Company And Subsidiary Companies

Amounts in millions,

except per share data

For the years ended December 31  2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Net Sales $ 3,090.1 $ 3,041.1 $ 2,615.0 $ 2,213.2 $ 2,086.9 $ 1,980.6 $ 2,113.6 $ 1,885.9 $ 1,810.6 $ 1,158.6 

Operating Earnings $ 714.4 $ 695.1 $ 476.8 $ 403.7 $ 378.3 $ 375.6 $ 395.6 $ 352.2 $ 340.0 $ 285.7 

Cash Provided by

 Operating Activities $ 708.1 $ 579.3 $ 473.2  $ 580.6 $ 519.0 $ 458.0 $ 512.1 $ 434.6 $ 422.0 $ 361.7 

Diluted Earnings Per Share from 

 Continuing Operations Before 

 Cumulative Effect of 

 Accounting Changes  $4.66  $4.81  $3.31  $2.53  $2.31  $2.28  $2.26  $2.20  $2.13  $2.02 

Diluted Net Earnings Per Share  $4.54  $4.71  $3.74  $2.78  $1.90  $1.66  $2.17  $2.16  $2.35  $2.50 

Dividends Paid Per Share  $1.84  $1.48  $1.16  $1.04  $0.98  $0.94  $0.90  $0.84  $0.78  $0.69 

Total Debt as a Percentage

 of Total Capital 49.3% 20.6% 21.8% 23.1% 33.0% 35.6% 37.6% 39.5% 37.9% 6.8%

Market Price Per Share at Year End  $79.09  $89.87  $67.75  $54.61  $47.57  $37.50  $47.94  $47.88  $39.94  $43.85 

Market Value of Equity  $8,557  $8,498  $6,794  $5,604  $4,841  $3,807  $4,856  $4,837  $4,023  $4,411
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Introduction

Vulcan provides essential infrastructure materials required by the U.S. 

economy. We are the nation’s largest producer of construction aggre-

gates – primarily crushed stone, sand and gravel – a major producer of 

asphalt mix and concrete and a leading producer of cement in Florida.

Florida Rock Acquisition

On November 16, 2007, we acquired 100% of the outstanding common 

stock of Florida Rock Industries, Inc. (Florida Rock), a leading producer of 

construction aggregates, cement, concrete and concrete products in the 

southeastern and mid-Atlantic states, in exchange for cash and stock of 

approximately $4.2 billion based on the closing price of Vulcan common 

stock on November 15, 2007. Management believes that Vulcan’s closing 

stock price on November 15, 2007 is relevant because it represents the 

actual stock portion of the consideration received by the Florida Rock 

shareholders. The acquisition further diversifies the geographic scope of 

Vulcan’s operations, expanding our presence in attractive Florida mar-

kets and in other high-growth southeastern and mid-Atlantic states, and 

adding approximately 1.6 billion tons of proven and probable aggregates 

reserves and 0.1 billion tons of proven and probable calcium products 

and cement reserves in markets where reserves are increasingly scarce.

Under the terms of the merger agreement, Florida Rock shareholders 

had the right to elect to receive either 0.63 of a share of Vulcan common 

stock or $67.00 in cash, without interest, for each share of Florida Rock 

common stock. The elections were subject to proration so that, in the 

aggregate, 70% of all outstanding shares of Florida Rock common stock 

were exchanged for cash and 30% of all outstanding shares of Florida 

Rock common stock were exchanged for shares of Vulcan common stock. 

Additionally, under the terms of the merger agreement, each outstanding 

Florida Rock stock option, which fully vested prior to the effective time of 

the mergers, ceased to represent an option to acquire shares of Florida 

Rock common stock and instead represented the right to receive a cash 

amount equal to the excess, if any, of $67.00 per option to acquire one 

share of Florida Rock common stock over the exercise price payable in 

respect of such stock option (the option consideration).

Pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 

No. 141, “Business Combinations” (FAS 141), the value assigned to 

the stock consideration paid was based on the $113.97 average clos-

ing share price, adjusted for dividends, of Vulcan’s common stock dur-

ing the four trading days from February 15, 2007 through February 21, 

2007, centered on the day the transaction was announced. Approximately 

12.6 million shares of Vulcan common stock valued at $1,436.5 million 

based on the accounting measurement date were issued in exchange for 

approximately 30% of the outstanding common stock of Florida Rock. 

Cash totaling $3,212.6 million was paid in exchange for approximately 

70% of the outstanding common stock of Florida Rock and to fund 

the option consideration. Including Vulcan’s direct transaction costs of 

approximately $29.3 million, total cash and stock consideration paid was 

$4,678.4 million.

Segments

Prior to the November 2007 acquisition of Florida Rock, our Construction 

Materials business was organized in seven regional divisions that 

produced and sold aggregates and related products and services. For 

financial reporting purposes, they were aggregated into one reporting 

segment. Subsequent to our acquisition of Florida Rock, we redefined our 

operating segments, and as a result, we now have three reporting seg-

ments organized around our principal product lines: aggregates, asphalt 

mix, concrete and cement. For reporting purposes, we have combined 

our Asphalt mix and Concrete segments into one reporting segment as 

the products are similar in nature and the businesses exhibit similar eco-

nomic characteristics, product processes, types and classes of customer, 

methods of distribution and regulatory environments. We have recast our 

2006 and 2005 data to conform to the current year’s segment presenta-

tion. Management reviews earnings for the product line reporting units 

principally at the gross profit level.

Our Aggregates segment mines, processes, distributes and sells 

sand, gravel and crushed stone. Our Asphalt mix and Concrete segment 

produces and sells asphalt mix, ready-mixed concrete, concrete block, 

prestressed concrete beams and precast concrete, and sells other build-

ing materials. Our Cement segment mines, produces and sells Portland 

cement and masonry cement, imports, grinds, blends and sells cement 

and slag, and produces and sells calcium products.

Products

We operate primarily in the United States and our principal product – 

aggregates – is consumed in virtually all types of publicly and privately 

funded construction. In 2007, aggregates accounted for 75% of net sales. 

We shipped 231.0 million tons in 22 states, the District of Columbia, the 

Bahamas and Mexico from 334 aggregates production facilities and 

sales yards. Our ten largest states, measured by aggregates shipments, 

accounted for 85% of total aggregates shipments. Reserves largely 

determine the ongoing viability of an aggregates business. Our current 

estimate of 12.7 billion tons of zoned and permitted aggregates reserves 

represents a net increase of 4.5 billion tons since the end of 1997. We 

believe that these reserves are sufficient to last, on average, 43.0 years 

at current annual production rates. While aggregates are our primary 

business, we believe vertical integration between aggregates and down-

stream products, such as asphalt mix and concrete, can be managed 

effectively in certain markets to generate acceptable financial returns. 

As such, we evaluate the structural characteristics of individual markets 

to determine the appropriateness of an aggregates only or vertical inte-

gration strategy.

End Markets

Demand for our products is dependent on construction activity. The pri-

mary end uses include public construction, such as highways, bridges, 

airports, schools and prisons, as well as private nonresidential (i.e., manu-

facturing, retail, offices, industrial and institutional) and private residential 

construction (i.e., single-family and multifamily).

Public – This construction end market is generally the most aggregates 

intensive. Historically, public sector construction spending has been more 

stable than in the private end markets, in part because public sector spend-

ing is less sensitive to interest rates. In 2007, publicly funded construction 

accounted for 47% of our total aggregates shipments. Public construc-

tion projects are typically funded through a combination of federal, state and 
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local sources. The federal highway bill is the principal source of federal 

funding for public infrastructure and transportation projects. Federal high-

way spending is determined by a six-year authorization bill, now covering 

fiscal years 2004–2009, and annual budget appropriations using funds 

largely taken from the Federal Highway Trust Fund, which receives taxes 

on gasoline and other levies. Specific highway and bridge projects are 

typically managed by state transportation departments, which obligate 

their portion of federal revenues and supplement this federal funding with 

state fuel taxes, vehicle registration fees and general fund appropriations. 

States also transfer funds to counties and municipalities to fund local 

street construction and maintenance. The level of state spending on infra-

structure varies across the United States and depends on individual state 

needs and economies. Other public infrastructure construction includes 

airports, sewer and waste disposal systems, water supply systems, dams, 

reservoirs and government buildings. Construction for power plants and 

other utilities is funded from both public and private sources.

Private Nonresidential – This construction end market includes a wide 

array of project types and generally is more aggregates intensive than 

residential construction. Economic factors such as job growth, vacancy 

rates, private infrastructure needs and demographic trends help drive 

overall demand for private nonresidential construction. In 2007, private 

nonresidential construction accounted for 31% of our total aggregates 

shipments. Strong corporate profits and growth of the private workforce 

generates demand for offices, hotels and restaurants. Likewise, popula-

tion growth generates demand for stores, shopping centers, warehouses 

and parking decks as well as schools, hospitals, churches and entertain-

ment facilities. A new manufacturing facility in an area generally generates 

demand for other manufacturing plants to supply its parts and assem-

blies. Additionally, construction activity in this end market is influenced by 

a firm’s ability to finance and the cost of financing.

Private Residential – Approximately 80%–85% of all residential construc-

tion activity is for single-family houses with the remainder  consisting of 

multifamily (i.e., two-family houses, apartment buildings and condomini-

ums). Public housing comprises a small portion of the housing supply. 

Household formation is a primary driver of housing demand along with 

mortgage rates. In the last 10 years, the number of new households have 

increased 12% from 102 million to 114 million in the United States and 

15%, on average, in the markets we serve. Construction activity in this 

end market is influenced by the cost and availability of mortgage financ-

ing. Demand for our products generally occurs early in the infrastructure 

phase of residential construction and later as part of the foundation, drive-

way or parking lot. In 2007, private residential construction accounted for 

19% of our total aggregates shipments.

Other End Uses – Ballast is sold to railroads for construction and mainte-

nance of track. Riprap and jetty stone are sold for erosion control along 

waterways. Stone also can be used as a feedstock for cement and lime 

plants and for making a variety of adhesives, fillers and extenders. Coal-

burning power plants use limestone in scrubbers to reduce harmful emis-

sions. Limestone that is crushed to a fine powder also can be sold as 

agricultural lime. In 2007, these other end uses accounted for 3% of our 

total aggregates shipments.

Customers and Competition

Customers for our products include heavy construction and paving 

contractors; commercial building contractors; concrete products manu-

facturers; residential building contractors; state, county and municipal 

governments; railroads; and electric utilities. Customers are served by 

truck, rail and water distribution networks from our production facilities 

and sales yards. Due to the high weight-to-value ratio of aggregates, 

 markets generally are local in nature. They often consist of a single metro-

politan area or one or more counties or portions thereof when transporta-

tion is by truck only. Truck delivery accounts for approximately 85% of our 

total aggregates shipments. Additionally, sales yards and other distribu-

tion facilities located on waterways and rail lines substantially increase 

our geographic market reach through the availability of rail and water 

transportation.

Zoning and permitting regulations have made it increasingly difficult 

to expand existing quarries or to develop new quarries in some markets. 

Although we cannot predict what governmental policies will be adopted in 

the future that might affect our industry, we believe that future zoning and 

permitting costs will not have a materially adverse effect on our business. 

However, land use restrictions in some markets could make zoning and 

permitting more difficult. Any such restrictions, while potentially curtailing 

expansion in certain areas, could also enhance the value of our reserves 

at existing locations. 

We estimate that the 10 largest aggregates producers in the nation 

supply approximately 35% to 40% of the total national market. There are 

many small, independent producers of aggregates, resulting in highly frag-

mented markets in some areas. Therefore, depending on the market, we 

may compete with a number of large regional and small local producers.

Seasonality of Our Business

Virtually all our products are produced and consumed outdoors. Our 

financial results for any individual quarter are not necessarily indicative 

of results to be expected for the year, due primarily to the effect that sea-

sonal changes and other weather-related conditions can have on the pro-

duction and sales volume of our products. Normally, the highest sales and 

earnings are attained in the third quarter and the lowest are realized in the 

first quarter. Our sales and earnings are sensitive to national, regional and 

local economic conditions and particularly to cyclical swings in construc-

tion spending. These cyclical swings are further affected by fluctuations in 

interest rates, and demographic and population fluctuations.

Other 

In June 2005, we sold our Chemicals business as presented in Note 2 

to the consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, its results are 

reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated 

Statements of Earnings.

In the discussion that follows, continuing operations consist of our 

Construction Materials business, which is organized into three report-

able segments: Aggregates; Asphalt mix and Concrete; and Cement. The 

results of operations discussed below include Florida Rock for the period 

from November 16, 2007 through December 31, 2007. Discontinued oper-

ations, which consist of our former Chemicals business, are discussed 

separately. The comparative analysis is based on net sales and cost of 

goods sold, which exclude delivery revenues and costs, and is consistent 

with the basis on which management reviews results of operations.
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Results of Operations

2007 versus 2006

Consolidated net sales increased 2% from the prior year to a record 

$3.1 billion. Continued strong growth in aggregates pricing during 2007 

contributed to an increase in operating earnings year over year despite 

lower sales volumes across all principal product lines. The pricing momen-

tum achieved in 2005 and 2006 continued in 2007, reflecting an environ-

ment that recognizes the high cost of replacing aggregates reserves in 

high growth metropolitan markets.

Net sales for the aggregates segment were $2,316.7 million in 2007, 

an increase of 2% from 2006 net sales of $2,280.2 million. Excluding 

the effects of the Florida Rock acquisition, net sales for Vulcan’s legacy 

aggregates segment declined slightly as lower shipments were sub-

stantially offset by a 13% increase in average selling prices. Aggregates 

shipments during 2007 decreased approximately 9% from 2006 levels, 

primarily as a result of lower demand in the residential construction mar-

ket. The impact of residential construction activity on shipments was 

partially offset by increased levels of highway construction and non-

residential building construction. Gross profit for the aggregates segment 

increased $9.7 million, or 1%, over 2006. Aggregates segment gross 

profit as a percentage of net sales was 36% in 2007, flat with 2006. Unit 

costs for aggregates produced at legacy Vulcan operations increased in 

2007 due principally to the effects of higher depreciation expense refer-

able to recently completed capital projects coupled with a 10% reduction 

in production volumes. Additionally, unit costs for energy, such as diesel 

fuel and electric power, increased by approximately 7%. Higher costs for 

diesel fuel lowered gross profit from legacy Vulcan aggregates operations 

approximately $12 million.

 Net sales for the Asphalt mix and Concrete segment increased slightly 

to $765.7 million in 2007 as compared to $760.9 million in 2006. Excluding 

the effects of the Florida Rock acquisition, net sales for Vulcan’s legacy 

Asphalt mix and Concrete segment decreased by $60.5 million, or 8%. 

Net sales for asphalt mix improved due to higher pricing, which more than 

offset a 9% decline in volumes. Concrete pricing improved 7%, but was 

more than offset by a 30% decline in volumes. Gross profit for the asphalt 

mix and Concrete segment was mixed, with asphalt mix improving and 

concrete declining. Higher pricing for asphalt mix more than offset the 

lower volumes and higher prices for aggregates supplied internally. Unit 

costs for liquid asphalt remained at high levels in 2007 with little change 

when compared with the prior year. Higher pricing for concrete was more 

than offset by lower volumes and higher raw material costs, including 

aggregates supplied internally.

Net sales and gross profit for the Cement segment, all of which was 

acquired in the Florida Rock transaction, were immaterial to 2007 results 

of operations.

Operating earnings improved to $714.4 million, a 2.8% increase over 

2006. The increase in operating earnings was due to the aforementioned 

higher pricing for each of our principal products and a $43.8 million gain 

on sale of real estate in California during the first quarter of 2007. Prior 

year results include a $24.8 million gain referable to the sale of contractual 

rights to mine a quarry in Atlanta, Georgia. These favorable contributions 

to operating earnings more than offset the effects of lower production 

levels, an increase in energy costs and Florida Rock transaction and inte-

gration related costs.

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes were 

$667.5 million, a decrease of $36.0 million from the prior year. The 2006 

earnings include a pretax gain of $28.7 million related to the increase in 

the carrying value of the contingent ECU (electrochemical unit) earn-out 

received in connection with the sale of our Chemicals business. The 2007 

corresponding pretax gain from the ECU earn-out was $1.9 million. An 

increase of $21.9 million in interest expense also contributed to the decline 

in earnings from continuing operations before income taxes.

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes for 2007 

versus 2006 are summarized below (in millions of dollars): 

2006    $703 

Legacy Vulcan operations 

 Higher aggregates earnings   7

 Higher asphalt mix and concrete earnings  7

  Higher selling, administrative and general expenses  (13) 

  Gain on sale of California real estate   44

  Gain on 2006 sale of contractual rights to mine  (25)

  Lower gain on contingent ECU earn-out  (27)

  All other Legacy   4

Florida Rock acquisition   (32)

2007     $668

Earnings from continuing operations decreased to $4.66 per diluted 

share from $4.81 per diluted share in 2006. Earnings per share in 2007 

include the effects of the Florida Rock acquisition, including operating 

results, interest expense associated with the financing of the transaction, 

additional shares issued as part of the transaction, one-time expenses 

associated with executing the transaction and integrating the businesses, 

and depreciation associated with the write-up of assets to fair value in 

accordance with purchase accounting. Specifically, 2007 diluted earnings 

per share include approximately $0.13 per share due to one-time trans-

action related items, $0.12 per share related to higher interest expense 

attributable to the additional debt incurred to fund the transaction, and 

$0.07 per share due to the effect of additional shares issued as purchase 

consideration in the transaction.

2006 versus 2005

Net sales and earnings for 2006 surpassed 2005’s record levels. 

Improved pricing for all key products more than offset lower shipments 

and resulted in a 16% increase in net sales, which exceeded $3.0 billion 

for the first time in our history. Aggregates pricing improved approximately 

15%. The increasing demand for aggregates in a broad range of public 

infrastructure and nonresidential construction helped offset the correction 

that occurred in residential construction. Our consistent earnings growth 

was a reflection of both our broad geographic and end-use markets and 

a pricing environment for aggregates that recognized the high cost of 

reserves replacement and product distribution in high growth metropoli-

tan markets.

Gross profit for our Aggregates segment increased 26%, as improved 

pricing more than offset the effects of the slight decline in aggregates ship-

ments and higher production costs related to diesel fuel, parts, supplies 

and electricity. Gross profit for our Asphalt mix and Concrete segment 
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also increased significantly as pricing improvements exceeded the effects 

of lower volumes and increases in raw material costs. Compared with 

2005, the cost of diesel fuel and liquid asphalt were $13.7 million and 

$58.8 million higher, respectively. Gross profit as a percentage of net 

sales was 31% for 2006, up 4 percentage points from 2005. 

Operating earnings were a record $695.1 million, an increase of 46% 

from the 2005 amount. Selling, administrative and general expenses 

increased $31.9 million from the prior year. Approximately one-half of 

the increase resulted from higher provisions for incentive compensa-

tion, including the effect of expensing stock options, and increased pro-

fessional fees. During 2006, we sold the contractual rights to mine the 

Bellwood quarry in Atlanta, Georgia for a pretax gain of $24.8 million, 

which is included in other operating (income) expense, net in the accom-

panying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes were 

$703.5 million, an increase of $222.8 million, or 46%, from 2005. The 

2006 earnings included a gain of $28.7 million related to the increase in 

the carrying value of the contingent ECU (electrochemical unit) earn-out 

received in connection with the sale of our Chemicals business compared 

with a $20.4 million gain in 2005.

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes for 2006 

versus 2005 are summarized below (in millions of dollars): 

2005    $481 

Higher aggregates earnings   169

Higher asphalt mix and concrete earnings  54

Higher selling, administrative and general expenses  (32)

Gain on sale of contractual rights to mine  25

Higher gain on contingent ECU earn-out  8

All other   (2)

2006    $703 

Earnings from continuing operations increased to $4.81 per diluted 

share from $3.31 per diluted share in 2005.

Selling, Administrative and General

Selling, administrative and general expenses were $289.6 million in 2007 

compared with $264.3 million in the prior year. This increase was partially 

attributable to selling, administrative and general expenses associated 

with the newly acquired Florida Rock operations as well as transaction 

and integration related costs. Excluding the effects of Florida Rock, selling, 

administrative and general expenses increased approximately 5% over the 

prior year. In 2006, selling, administrative and general expenses increased 

14% from the 2005 level. Approximately one-half of this increase resulted 

from higher provisions for incentive compensation, including the effect 

of expensing stock options, and increased professional fees. Effective 

January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” 

[FAS 123(R)], which required the expensing of stock options. Adoption 

of this standard resulted in a pretax charge of approximately $9.3 mil-

lion related to stock options awarded in 2002 through 2006, resulting in 

a decrease to earnings from continuing operations and net earnings of 

approximately $5.7 million, or $0.06 per diluted share in 2006. Selling, 

administrative and general expenses as a percentage of net sales were 

8.7% in 2006, down from the prior year’s 8.9%.

Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

During 2007, we recorded gains on the sale of property, plant and equip-

ment of $58.7 million, an increase of $53.1 million from the prior year. 

Included in the 2007 gains was a $43.8 million pretax gain, net of trans-

action costs, on the sale of real estate in California. During 2006, we 

recorded gains on the sale of property, plant and equipment of $5.6 mil-

lion, a decrease of $2.7 million from the 2005 level. As none of these asset 

sales met the definition of a “component of an entity” as defined in SFAS 

No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets” 

(FAS 144), the gains were reported in continuing operations.

Other Operating (Income) Expense, Net

Other operating income, net of other operating expense, decreased 

$27.3 million from the 2006 level to a net expense of $5.4 million in 2007. 

In 2006, other operating income, net increased $29.8 million from the 

2005 level to $21.9 million. Both of the variances from 2006 resulted pri-

marily from a $24.8 million pretax gain in 2006 from the sale of contractual 

rights to mine the Bellwood quarry in Atlanta, Georgia with no similar gain 

in either 2007 or 2005.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

In 2007, other expense was $5.3 million compared to other income of 

$28.5 million in 2006. Gains attributable to increases in the carrying value 

of the ECU earn-out amounted to $1.9 million during 2007 compared with 

$28.7 million in 2006. In 2006, other income, net of other charges, was 

$28.5 million, $4.1 million higher than the prior year due primarily to the 

ECU earn-out. The aforementioned $28.7 million ECU earn-out gain in 

2006 compared with a $20.4 million gain in 2005.

Interest Income

Interest income was $6.6 million in 2007, an increase of $0.4 million from 

2006. Interest income was $6.2 million in 2006 compared with $16.6 mil-

lion in 2005. The decrease in interest income resulted from lower aver-

age cash and cash equivalents and medium-term investment balances in 

2006 compared with 2005.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $48.2 million in 2007 compared with the 2006 

amount of $26.3 million. The $21.9 million increase was due primarily to 

approximately $3.2 billion in borrowings to fund the cash portion of the 

consideration paid to acquire Florida Rock. Excluding capitalized inter-

est credits, gross interest expense for 2007 was $53.3 million compared 

with $31.3 million in the prior year. In 2006, interest expense decreased 

$10.8 million from the $37.1 million reported in 2005 due primarily to 

the February 2006 retirement of $240.0 million of 6.40% five-year notes 

issued in 2001, partially offset by increased commercial paper borrow-

ing. Excluding capitalized interest credits, gross interest expense for 2006 

was $31.3 million compared with $39.1 million in 2005.



30 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Income Taxes

Our 2007 effective tax rate for continuing operations was 30.6%, down 

from 31.7% in 2006. This decrease principally reflected a reduction in 

state income taxes and an increase in the tax benefit from contributions. 

The 2006 rate for continuing operations was up 3.3 percentage points 

from the 2005 rate of 28.4%. This increase principally reflected a smaller 

reduction during 2006 in estimated income tax liabilities for prior years 

and a nonrecurring favorable settlement of federal refund claims in 2005.

Discontinued Operations

In 2005, we sold substantially all the assets of our Chemicals busi-

ness, known as Vulcan Chemicals, to Basic Chemicals, a subsidiary 

of Occidental Chemical Corporation. These assets consisted primarily 

of chloralkali facilities in Wichita, Kansas; Geismar, Louisiana and Port 

Edwards, Wisconsin; and the facilities of our Chloralkali joint venture 

located in Geismar. The purchaser also assumed certain liabilities related 

to the Chemicals business, including the obligation to monitor and reme-

diate all releases of hazardous materials at or from the Wichita, Geismar 

and Port Edwards plant facilities. The decision to sell the Chemicals busi-

ness was based on our desire to focus our resources on the Construction 

Materials business. Financial results referable to our Chemicals business 

are reported in discontinued operations for all periods presented.

The transaction, which was structured as a sale of assets, involved 

initial cash proceeds, contingent future proceeds under two earn-out 

provisions and the transfer of certain liabilities. At the closing date, the 

fair value of the consideration received in connection with the sale of 

the Chemicals business, including anticipated cash flows from the 

two earn-out agreements, was expected to exceed the net carrying 

value of the assets and liabilities sold. However, pursuant to SFAS No. 5, 

“Accounting for Contingencies,” since the proceeds under the earn-out 

agreements were contingent in nature, no gain was recognized on the 

Chemicals sale and the value recorded at the June 7, 2005 closing date 

referable to these two earn-outs was limited to $128.2 million. Furthermore, 

under SAB Topic 5:Z:5, upward adjustments to the fair value of the ECU 

earn-out subsequent to closing, which totaled $51.3 million were recorded 

in continuing operations, and therefore did not contribute to the gain or 

loss on the sale of the Chemicals business. Ultimately, gain or loss on dis-

posal will be recognized to the extent future cash receipts under the 5CP 

(hydrochlorocarbon product HCC-240fa) earn-out related to the remain-

ing six-year performance period from January 1, 2007 to December 31, 

2012 exceed or fall short of its $20.8 million carrying amount.

Pretax operating results from discontinued operations were a loss of 

$19.3 million in 2007 compared with a loss of $16.6 million in 2006. The 

2007 and 2006 operating losses reflect charges related to general and 

product liability costs, including legal defense costs, and environmental 

remediation costs associated with our former Chemicals businesses. The 

2005 operating earnings results of $83.7 million reflected approximately 

five months of operations prior to closing the sale and included approxi-

mately $18.1 million of pretax exit and disposal costs. For additional infor-

mation regarding discontinued operations, see Note 2 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Accounting Changes

FIN 48 – On January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of Financial 

Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting 

for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement 

No. 109” (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income 

taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance 

with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” by pre-

scribing a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the finan-

cial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or 

expected to be taken in a tax return. Under FIN 48, the financial statement 

effects of a tax position should initially be recognized when it is more likely 

than not, based on the technical merits, that the position will be sustained 

upon examination. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not rec-

ognition threshold should initially and subsequently be measured as the 

largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of 

being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority.

As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, as of January 1, 2007, 

we increased the liability for unrecognized tax benefits by $2.4 million, 

increased deferred tax assets by $1.5 million and reduced retained earn-

ings by $0.9 million. The total liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of 

January 1, 2007, amounted to $11.8 million.

See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for the FIN 48 

required tabular reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits.

FSP AUG AIR-1 – On January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Staff Position 

(FSP) No. AUG AIR-1, “Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance 

Activities” (FSP AUG AIR-1). This FSP amended certain provisions in the 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Industry Audit Guide, 

“Audits of Airlines” (Airline Guide). The Airline Guide is the principal source 

of guidance on the accounting for planned major maintenance activities 

and permits four alternative methods of accounting for such activ-

ities. This guidance principally affects our accounting for periodic over-

hauls on our oceangoing vessels. Prior to January 1, 2007, we applied 

the accrue-in-advance method as permitted by the Airline Guide, which 

allowed for the accrual of estimated costs for the next scheduled over-

haul over the period leading up to the overhaul. At the time of the 

overhaul, the actual cost of the overhaul was charged to the accrual, with 

any deficiency or excess charged or credited to expense. FSP AUG AIR-1 

prohibits the use of the accrue-in-advance method, and was effective for 

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Accordingly, we adopted 

this FSP effective January 1, 2007, and have elected to use the deferral 

method of accounting for planned major maintenance as permitted by the 

Airline Guide and allowed by FSP AUG AIR-1. Under the deferral method, 

the actual cost of each overhaul is capitalized when incurred and amor-

tized over the period until the next overhaul. Additionally, the FSP must be 

applied retrospectively to the beginning of the earliest period presented 

in the financial statements. As a result of the retrospective application of 

this change in accounting principle, we have adjusted our financial state-

ments for all prior periods presented to reflect using the deferral method 

of accounting for planned major maintenance.



Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe we have sufficient financial resources, including cash provided 

by operating activities, unused bank lines of credit and ready access to the 

capital markets, to fund business requirements in the future, including debt 

service obligations, cash contractual obligations, capital expenditures, 

dividend payments, share purchases and potential future acquisitions.

Cash Flows 

Net cash provided by operating activities (including discontinued oper-

ations) increased $128.8 million to $708.1 million during 2007 as com-

pared with $579.3 million during 2006. Net earnings adjusted for noncash 

expenses related to depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization 

increased $25.8 million when compared with the prior year. Comparative 

changes in working capital and other assets and liabilities contributed 

approximately $129.0 million to the increase in net cash provided by oper-

ating activities, primarily resulting from decreases in accounts receivable 

and income tax liabilities. Partially offsetting these favorable changes to 

operating cash flows was a $28.3 million increase in net gains on sales 

of property, plant and equipment and contractual rights. While these 

gains increase net earnings, the associated cash received is appropri-

ately adjusted out of operating activities and presented as a component 

of investing activities.

Net cash provided by operating activities (including discontinued 

operations) totaled $579.3 million in 2006, an increase of $106.2 million or 

22% as compared with 2005. The increase primarily resulted from higher 

net earnings of $81.2 million and a decrease in contributions to pension 

plans of $27.7 million.
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2008 Outlook

While market conditions remain uncertain, we expect another year of 

record net sales for Vulcan. The broad use of aggregates in construction 

and the multi-year nature of highway and infrastructure projects should 

help offset continued weakness in residential construction and some soft-

ening in certain categories of private nonresidential construction.

Leading indicators such as contract awards for highways and non-

residential construction in Vulcan-served markets continue to grow and 

lead other U.S. markets. Some of this increased spending is being off-

set by higher costs for construction inputs including steel and energy-

related costs such as liquid asphalt and diesel fuel. However, we expect 

aggregates demand in our markets for public infrastructure projects 

and for nonresidential construction to increase in 2008. Additionally, con-

tract awards for highways were strong in Vulcan-served states in 2007, 

which should serve as a foundation for another solid year of highway con -

struction in 2008. The greatest uncertainty remains in the residential 

construction sector, where 2008 likely will be another year of double-digit 

declines in activity. Collectively, we expect 2008 aggregates shipments 

for legacy Vulcan operations to be flat to down 2% versus the prior year. 

Including the Florida Rock operations for a full year should result in an 

increase in aggregates shipments of 9 to 12%.

A market environment that recognizes the high cost of replacing 

reserves has been instrumental for price improvement despite lower vol-

umes. The pricing momentum we achieved in 2005 and 2006 continued 

in 2007. In 2008, we believe this momentum will continue resulting in price 

improvement of 8 to 10%.

Earnings for the Asphalt mix and Concrete segment should be higher 

in 2008 due to the Florida Rock acquisition. In legacy operations, the 

average unit price for asphalt and concrete should increase and partially 

offset cost increases due to lower sales volumes and higher prices for 

key raw materials, including liquid asphalt, cement and internally-supplied 

aggregates. Asphalt margins should approximate the prior year while leg-

acy concrete margins should be slightly lower. Total concrete volumes for 

the combined company in 2008 should be in the range of 7.0 to 7.3 million 

cubic yards.

Overall, we expect consolidated earnings from continuing operations 

to be in the range of $4.75 to $5.15 per diluted share.

During the first quarter of 2008, we expect to complete the divestiture 

of nine sites as required by the Department of Justice. We currently expect 

these divestitures to be a combination of cash sales and asset swaps. 

Our 2008 earnings outlook includes earnings of $0.47 to $.50 per diluted 

share referable to these transactions. The expected per share earnings 

incorporate gains related to the two legacy divestiture properties owned 

by Vulcan, earnings from the divestiture properties prior to their sale, post 

divestiture earnings from swap properties received in exchange for some 

of the divested properties and lower interest expense arising from the use 

of cash proceeds to reduce debt.
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Net cash used for investing activities totaled $3,654.3 million in 2007 

compared with $105.0 million in 2006. The increase is largely attribut-

able to the acquisition of Florida Rock, which required cash payments, 

net of cash acquired and including Vulcan’s direct transaction costs, of 

$3,239.0 million. Excluding Florida Rock, cash used to acquire other busi-

nesses increased $38.4 million. Cash used to purchase property, plant 

and equipment increased $48.1 million and proceeds received under the 

ECU and 5CP earn-out agreements from the sale of our Chemicals busi-

ness decreased $111.4 million. During 2007, we received the final pay-

ment under the ECU earn-out of $22.1 million. During 2006, we received 

a payment of $127.9 million under the ECU earn-out. These increases to 

net cash used for investing activities were partially offset by a $56.2 mil-

lion increase in the combined proceeds from sales of property, plant and 

equipment and contractual rights, primarily attributable to the sale of real 

estate in California during 2007.

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $2,925.8 million in 

2007, as compared with net cash used during 2006 of $694.3 million. Net 

short-term borrowings increased $1,693.7 million and net proceeds from 

the issuance of long-term debt totaled $1,223.6 million. These borrowings 

were primarily used to fund the cash portion of the consideration paid to 

acquire Florida Rock. Also contributing to the change in cash provided by 

financing activities was a decrease in payments against short-term debt 

and current maturities of $270.5 million and a decrease in purchases of 

common stock of $518.0 million. Partially offsetting these changes were 

cash payments of $57.3 million to settle forward starting interest rate 

swaps and $9.2 million for debt issuance costs.

Our policy is to pay out a reasonable share of net cash provided by 

operating activities as dividends, consistent on average with the payout 

record of past years, while maintaining debt ratios within what we believe 

to be prudent and generally acceptable limits.

Working Capital

Working capital, the excess of current assets over current liabili-

ties, totaled $(1,371.0) million at December 31, 2007, a decrease of 

$1,614.7 million from the $243.7 million level at December 31, 2006. 

Short-term borrowings increased $1,892.6 million as a result of cash 

requirements to fund the acquisition of Florida Rock. These bor-

rowing arrangements are described more fully below. Excluding 

the effects of the change in short-term borrowings, working 

capital increased $278.0 million, primarily due to inventory and 

accounts receivable, offset in part by current trade payables and 

accrued liabilities, acquired in the Florida Rock transaction. As of 

December 31, 2007, we have $2,805.0 million in bank lines of credit, 

of which $1,260.5 million was drawn. Bank lines of credit serve as liquid-

ity support when we issue commercial paper.

Working capital totaled $243.7 million at December 31, 2006, down 

$350.1 million from the 2005 level. The 2006 decrease resulted primarily 

from the use of cash to purchase our common stock and property, plant 

and equipment. During 2006, combined cash and medium-term invest-

ment balances decreased $395.0 million, while cash of $522.8 million 

was used to purchase our common stock and $435.2 million was used to 

purchase property, plant and equipment.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures, which exclude business acquisitions, totaled 

$480.5 million in 2007, up $21.6 million from the 2006 level of $458.9 mil-

lion. In 2007, we completed an expansion of the production and shipping 

capacity at our Calica quarry on the Yucatan peninsula of Mexico; rebuilt 

our Kennesaw plant in Atlanta; installed a multi-million ton production 

plant in Corona, California; completed an underground mine in the west-

ern suburbs of Chicago; as well as other important aggregates-related 

projects that will improve our abilities to serve our markets. As explained 

on page 79, we classify our capital expenditures into three categories 

based on the predominant purpose of the project. In 2007, profit-adding 

projects accounted for $252.8 million or 53% of the 2007 spending.

Commitments for capital expenditures were $81.2 million at 

December 31, 2007. We expect to fund these commitments using avail-

able cash, internally generated cash flow or additional borrowings.

Acquisitions

In 2007, the total purchase price of acquisitions amounted to $4,737.3 mil-

lion, up $4,716.8 million from the prior year. In addition to the $4,678.4 million 

Florida Rock acquisition (the largest in our history), acquisitions completed 

during 2007 included an aggregates production facility in Illinois and an 

aggregates production facility in North Carolina. In addition to these cash 

acquisitions, during 2007, we acquired an aggregates production facility 

in Alabama in exchange for two aggregates production facilities in Illinois. 

The Florida Rock acquisition (exclusive of divestitures required pursuant 

to an agreement with the Department of Justice) consisted of 29 aggre-

gates production facilities, 15 aggregates sales yards, 108 concrete 

plants, 1 cement plant, 1 calcium products plant and 3 cement grinding 

facilities located in the southeastern and mid-Atlantic states. Proven and 

probable reserves (aggregates, calcium products and cement) acquired 

in the Florida Rock transaction amounted to approximately 1.7 billion tons. 

The 2006 acquisitions included an aggregates production facility 

and asphalt mix plant in Indiana, an aggregates production facility in 

North Carolina and an aggregates production facility in Virginia.
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Short-term Borrowings and Investments

Net short-term borrowings and investments at December 31 consisted of 

the following (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Short-term investments

 Cash equivalents $   32,981 $  50,374 $273,315

 Medium-term investments – – 175,140

  Total short-term 

   investments $   32,981 $  50,374 $448,455

Short-term borrowings

 Bank borrowings $ 1,260,500 $   2,500 $      –

 Commercial paper 831,000 196,400 –

  Total short-term 

   borrowings $ 2,091,500 $ 198,900 $      –

Net short-term 

 (borrowings) 

 investments $(2,058,519) $(148,526) $448,455 

We were a net short-term borrower throughout 2007 and ended the 

year in a net short-term borrowed position of $2,058.5 million. In 2007, 

total short-term borrowings reached a peak of $3,314.9 million and 

amounted to $2,091.5 million at year end. During most of 2006, we were a 

net short-term borrower and ended the year in a net short-term borrowed 

position of $148.5 million. In 2006, total short-term borrowings reached 

a peak of $236.8 million and amounted to $198.9 million at year end. 

Throughout 2005, we were a net short-term investor and ended the year 

in a short-term invested position of $448.5 million. After reaching a high of 

$65.0 million, there were no short-term borrowings at year-end 2005.

Short-term borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2007 of 

$2,091.5 million consisted of $1,260.5 million of bank borrowings having matur-

ities ranging from 2 to 22 days, interest rates ranging from 4.80% to 5.25% and 

a weighted-average interest rate of 4.88% and $831.0 million of commercial 

paper having maturities ranging from 2 to 28 days, interest rates ranging from 

4.85% to 5.50% and a weighted-average interest rate of 4.92%. We plan to 

issue $600 million to $800 million of long-term debt in 2008. Until that time, we 

plan to continue to utilize our bank lines of credit as liquidity back-up for out-

standing commercial paper or draw on the bank lines to access LIBOR-based 

short-term loans to fund our borrowing requirements. Short-term borrowings 

outstanding as of December 31, 2006 of $198.9 million consisted of $2.5 million 

of bank borrowings at 5.575%, which matured January 2007 and $196.4 mil-

lion of commercial paper having maturities ranging from 2 to 36 days and inter-

est rates ranging from 5.28% to 5.36%. There were no short-term borrowings 

outstanding as of December 31, 2005. Periodically, we issue commercial paper 

for general corporate purposes, including working capital requirements. We 

plan to continue this practice from time to time as circumstances warrant.

Our policy is to maintain committed credit facilities at least equal to our 

outstanding commercial paper. Unsecured bank lines of credit totaling 

$2,805.0 million were maintained at the end of 2007, of which $1,285.0 mil-

lion expires November 14, 2008, $20.0 million expires January 30, 2008 

(subsequently refinanced) and $1,500.0 million expires November 16, 

2012. As of December 31, 2007, $1,260.5 million of the lines of credit 

was drawn. Interest rates are determined at the time of borrowing based 

on current market conditions. As of December 31, 2007, our commer-

cial paper was rated A-2 and P-2 by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s 

Investors Service, Inc. (Moody’s), respectively. Standard & Poor’s has 

assigned a stable outlook to our commercial paper rating while Moody’s 

has assigned a negative outlook.

Current Maturities

Current maturities of long-term debt as of December 31 are summarized 

below (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

6.40% 5-year notes 

 issued 2001* $      –  $  –  $239,535

Private placement notes 33,000 – 32,000

Other notes 2,181 630 532

Total    $35,181 $630 $272,067

*  As of December 31, 2005, includes a $465 thousand decrease in valuation for the fair value of 

short-term interest rate swaps.

Scheduled debt payments during 2007 were composed of small mis-

cellaneous notes that matured at various dates. Scheduled debt pay-

ments during 2006 included $240.0 million (listed in the table above net 

of the $0.5 million decrease for the interest rate swap) in February to retire 

the 6.40% 5-year notes issued in 2001 and $32.0 million in December to 

retire 10-year private placement notes issued in 1996.

Maturity dates for our $35.2 million of current maturities as of 

December 31, 2007 are as follows: December 2008 – $33.0 million; 

April 2008 – $1.3 million and various dates for the remaining $0.9 mil-

lion. We expect to retire this debt using available cash or by issuing 

commercial paper.

Debt and Capital

During 2007, long-term debt increased by $1,207.8 million to $1,529.8 mil-

lion, compared with a net reduction of $1.3 million in 2006. The 2007 

increase reflected the issuance of long-term debt in the amount of 

$1,223.6 million (net of discounts) and the assumption of $18.4 million (net 

of current maturities) of long-term debt, both resulting from the acquisi-

tion of Florida Rock. During the three-year period ended December 31, 

2007, long-term debt increased cumulatively by $925.3 million from 

the $604.5 million outstanding at December 31, 2004. At year end, the 

weighted-average stated interest rates on our long-term debt were 6.67% 

in 2007; 6.42% in 2006 and 6.43% in 2005.

During the same three-year period, shareholders’ equity, net of divi-

dends of $444.5 million, increased by $1,738.8 million to $3,759.6 million.
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Contractual Obligations and Credit Facilities

Our obligations to make future payments under contracts as of December 31, 2007 are summarized in the table below (in millions of dollars):

     Payments Due by Year

     Note Reference Total 2008 2009–2010 2011–2012 Thereafter

Cash Contractual Obligations

Short-term borrowings

 Principal payments Note 6 $2,091.5 $2,091.5 $    – $    – $      –

 Interest payments  7.3 7.3 – – –

Long-term debt

 Principal payments Note 6 1,565.6 35.2 575.8 322.7 631.9

 Interest payments Note 6 938.1 93.6 161.9 118.7 563.9

Operating leases Note 7 120.7 21.7 39.7 26.2 33.1

Mineral royalties Note 12 138.9 13.0 21.0 13.3 91.6

Unconditional purchase obligations

 Capital Note 12 81.2 81.2 – – –

 Noncapital1 Note 12 87.4 24.2 21.6 18.2 23.4

Benefit plans2  Note 10 502.1 36.6 82.0 93.7 289.8

Total cash contractual obligations3,4  $5,532.8 $2,404.3 $902.0 $592.8 $1,633.7

1  Noncapital unconditional purchase obligations relate primarily to transportation and electrical contracts.

2  Payments in “Thereafter” column for benefit plans are for the years 2013–2017.

3  The above table excludes discounted asset retirement obligations in the amount of $131.4 million at December 31, 2007, the majority of which have an estimated settlement date beyond 2012 

(see Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements).

4  The above table excludes unrecognized tax benefits in the amount of $11.5 million at December 31, 2007, as we cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of related 

future payment of these FIN 48 liabilities (for more details, see the caption Accounting Changes on page 30 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements). 

We estimate cash requirements for income taxes in 2008 to be $214 million.

We have a number of contracts containing commitments or contingent obligations that are not material to our earnings. These contracts are discrete 

in nature, and it is unlikely that the various contingencies contained within the contracts would be triggered by a common event. The future payments 

under these contracts are not included in the table set forth above.

Our debt agreements do not subject us to contractual restrictions 

with regard to working capital or the amount we may expend for cash 

dividends and purchases of our stock. The percentage of consolidated 

debt to total capitalization (total debt as a percentage of total capital), as 

defined in our bank credit facility agreements, must be less than 65%. In 

the future, our total debt as a percentage of total capital will depend on 

specific investment and financing decisions. As a result of our financ-

ing to fund the November 2007 Florida Rock acquisition, our total debt 

as a percentage of total capital increased to 49.3% as of December 31, 

2007. We intend to maintain an investment grade rating and expect our 

operating cash flows will enable us to reduce our total debt as a percent-

age of total capital to a target range of 35% to 40% within three years of 

the acquisition, in line with our historic capital structure targets. We have 

made acquisitions from time to time and will continue to pursue attractive 

investment opportunities. Such acquisitions could be funded by using 

internally generated cash or issuing debt or equity securities.

As of December 31, 2007, Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s rated our 

public long-term debt at the A– and A3 level, respectively. Standard & 

Poor’s has assigned a stable outlook to our long-term debt rating while 

Moody’s has assigned a negative outlook.

The calculations of our total debt as a percentage of total capital are 

summarized below (amounts in thousands, except percentages):

     2007 2006 2005

Debt

 Current maturities of 

  long-term debt $   35,181 $      630 $  272,067

 Short-term borrowings 2,091,500 198,900 –

 Long-term debt 1,529,828 322,064 323,392

  Total debt $3,656,509 $  521,594 $  595,459

Capital

 Total debt $3,656,509 $  521,594 $  595,459

 Shareholders’ equity 3,759,600 2,010,899 2,133,649

  Total capital $7,416,109  $2,532,493  $2,729,108 

Total debt as a 

 percentage of 

 total capital 49.3% 20.6% 21.8%
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Unsecured bank lines of credit totaling $2,805.0 million were main-

tained at the end of 2007, of which $1,285.0 million expires November 14, 

2008, $20.0 million expires January 30, 2008 (subsequently refinanced) 

and $1,500.0 million expires November 16, 2012. As of December 31, 

2007, $1,260.5 million of the lines of credit was drawn.

We provide certain third parties with irrevocable standby letters of 

credit in the normal course of business. We use our commercial banks to 

issue standby letters of credit to back our obligations to pay or perform 

when required to do so pursuant to the requirements of an underlying 

agreement or the provision of goods and services. The standby letters of 

credit listed below are cancelable only at the option of the beneficiary who 

is authorized to draw drafts on the issuing bank up to the face amount of 

the standby letter of credit in accordance with its terms. Since banks con-

sider letters of credit as contingent extensions of credit, we are required 

to pay a fee until they expire or are canceled. Substantially all our standby 

letters of credit are renewable annually.

Our standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2007 are summarized 

in the table below (in millions of dollars):

       Amount

Standby Letters of Credit1

Risk management requirement for insurance claims  $ 39.0

Payment surety required by utilities   0.4

Contractual reclamation/ restoration requirements  51.6

Financing requirement for industrial revenue bond  14.2

Total standby letters of credit   $105.2

1 Substantially all of the standby letters of credit have a one-year term and are renew-

able annually.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, such as financing or uncon-

solidated variable interest entities, that either have or are reasonably likely 

to have a current or future material effect on our financial position, results 

of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Common Stock

Our decisions to purchase shares of our common stock are based on 

valuation and price, our liquidity and debt level, and our actual and pro-

jected cash requirements for investment projects and regular dividends. 

The amount, if any, of future share purchases will be determined by man-

agement from time to time based on various factors, including those listed 

above. Shares purchased have historically been used for general corpo-

rate purposes, including distributions under long-term incentive plans.

The number and cost of shares purchased during each of the last 

three years and shares held in treasury at year end are shown below:

     2007 2006 2005

Shares purchased

 Number 44,123 6,757,361 3,588,738

 Total cost (millions) $4.8 $522.8 $228.5

 Average cost $108.78 $77.37 $63.67

Shares in treasury 

 at year end

 Number – 45,098,644 39,378,985

 Average cost $  – $28.78 $19.94

On November 16, 2007, pursuant to the terms of the agreement to 

acquire Florida Rock, all treasury stock held immediately prior to the close 

of the transaction was canceled. Our Board of Directors resolved to carry 

forward the existing authorization to purchase common stock.

The number of shares remaining under the current purchase authori-

zation of the Board of Directors was 3,411,416 as of December 31, 2007.

Our credit facilities as of December 31, 2007 are summarized in the table below (in millions of dollars):

     Amount and Year of Expiration

      Total Facilities 2008 2009–2010 2011–2012 Thereafter

Credit Facilities

Lines of credit   $2,805.0 $1,305.0 $ – $1,500.0 $ –

Standby letters of credit   105.2 105.1 – 0.1 –

Total credit facilities   $2,910.2 $1,410.1 $ – $1,500.1 $ –
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Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks arising from transactions that are 

entered into in the normal course of business. In order to manage or reduce 

these market risks, we may utilize derivative financial instruments.

We are exposed to interest rate risk due to our various long-term debt 

instruments. At times, we use interest rate swap agreements to manage 

this risk. In December 2007, we issued $325 million of 3-year floating (vari-

able) rate notes that bear interest at 3-month London Interbank Offered 

Rate (LIBOR) plus 1.25% per annum. Concurrently, we entered into an 

interest rate swap agreement with a counterparty in the stated (notional) 

amount of $325 million. Under this agreement, we pay a fixed interest 

rate of 5.25% and receive 3-month LIBOR plus 1.25% per annum from 

the counterparty. We have designated this interest rate swap agreement 

as a cash flow hedge of the interest payments on the $325 million of 

3-year floating rate notes. The interest rate swap agreement is sched-

uled to terminate December 15, 2010, coinciding with the maturity of the 

$325 million of 3-year floating rate notes. The realized gains and losses 

upon settlement related to this swap agreement are reflected in interest 

expense concurrent with the hedged interest payments on the debt. The 

estimated fair value of this agreement was $1.1 million unfavorable as of 

December 31, 2007. 

Additionally, during 2007, we entered into fifteen forward starting inter-

est rate swap agreements for a total notional amount of $1,500 million. The 

objective of these swap agreements was to hedge against the variability 

of future interest payments attributable to changes in interest rates on a 

portion of the then anticipated fixed-rate debt issuance in 2007 to fund the 

cash portion of the Florida Rock acquisition. We entered into five 5-year 

swap agreements with a blended swap rate of 5.29% on an aggregate 

notional amount of $500 million, seven 10-year swap agreements with a 

blended swap rate of 5.51% on an aggregate notional amount of $750 mil-

lion and three 30-year swap agreements with a blended swap rate of 

5.58% on an aggregate notional amount of $250 million. On December 11, 

2007, upon the issuance of the related fixed-rate debt, we terminated and 

settled for a cash payment of $57.3 million a portion of these forward start-

ing swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $900 million ($300 mil-

lion 5-year, $350 million 10-year and $250 million 30-year). Pursuant 

to SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 

Activities” (FAS 133), amounts accumulated in other comprehensive loss 

totaling $54.5 million related to the effective portion of these cash flow 

hedges will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the related 

debt. The remaining forward starting swaps were extended to August 29, 

2008, and are composed of two 5-year swap agreements with a blended 

swap rate of 5.71% on an aggregate notional amount of $200 million and 

four 10-year swap agreements with a blended swap rate of 5.65% on 

an aggregate notional amount of $400 million. These remaining forward 

starting swap agreements have been designated as cash flow hedges 

against the variability of future interest payments attributable to changes 

in interest rates on anticipated fixed-rate long-term debt to be issued dur-

ing 2008. At December 31, 2007, we recognized a liability of $41.3 million 

equal to the fair value of these swaps (included in other noncurrent liabili-

ties), and an accumulated other comprehensive loss of $22.7 million, net 

of tax of $14.9 million, equal to the effective portion of these swaps. 

We are exposed to market risk for changes in LIBOR as a result of the 

interest rate swap agreements. A decline in interest rates of 0.75% would 

result in a charge to other comprehensive loss, net of tax, of approxi-

mately $23.8 million. An increase in interest rates of 0.75% would result 

in a credit to other comprehensive income, net of tax, of approximately 

$22.3 million.

We had interest rate swap agreements outstanding as of December 31, 

2005. In November 2003, we entered into an interest rate swap agree-

ment with a counterparty in the stated (notional) amount of $50.0 mil-

lion. Under this agreement, we paid a variable rate (6-month LIBOR) plus 

a fixed spread and received a fixed rate of interest of 6.40% from the 

counterparty. The 6-month LIBOR approximated 4.70% at December 31, 

2005. The interest rate swap agreement terminated February 1, 2006, 

coinciding with the maturity of our 6.40% five-year notes issued in 

2001 in the amount of $240.0 million. The realized gains and losses 

upon settlement related to the swap agreement are reflected in interest 

expense concurrent with the hedged interest payments on the debt. The 

estimated fair value of this agreement was $0.5 million unfavorable as of 

December 31, 2005. 

We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative or 

trading purposes.

At December 31, 2007, the estimated fair market value of our long-

term debt instruments including current maturities was $1,583.3 million as 

compared with a book value of $1,565.0 million. The effect of a decline in 

interest rates of 1% would increase the fair market value of our liability by 

approximately $81.9 million.

We are exposed to certain economic risks related to the costs of our 

pension and other postretirement benefit plans. These economic risks 

include changes in the discount rate for high-quality bonds, the expected 

return on plan assets, the rate of compensation increase for salaried 

employees and the rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered 

healthcare benefits. The impact of a change in these assumptions on our 

annual pension and other postretirement benefit costs is discussed in 

greater detail within the Critical Accounting Policies section of this annual 

report on page 40.

New Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value 

Measurements” (FAS 157), which defines fair value, establishes a frame-

work for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value 

measurements. FAS 157 applies whenever other accounting standards 

require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value; accord-

ingly, it does not expand the use of fair value in any new circumstances. 

Fair value under FAS 157 is defined as the price that would be received to 

sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The standard clarifies the 

principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market par-

ticipants would use when pricing an asset or liability. In support of this 

principle, the standard establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes 

the information used to develop those assumptions. The fair value hier-

archy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the 



37

lowest priority to unobservable data; for example, a reporting entity’s own 

data. Under the standard, fair value measurements would be separately 

disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. With respect to financial 

assets and liabilities, FAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 

November 15, 2007. For nonfinancial assets and liabilities, except those 

items recognized or disclosed at fair value on an annual or more frequent 

basis, FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 (FSP FAS 157-2) requires com-

panies to adopt the provisions of FAS 157 for fiscal years beginning after 

November 15, 2008. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted FAS 157 as 

of January 1, 2008 for financial assets and liabilities, and elected to defer 

our adoption of FAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities as permitted 

by FSP FAS 157-2. There were no material changes in our valuation meth-

odologies, techniques or assumptions for financial assets and liabilities as 

a result of our adoption of FAS 157 for such items. We do not expect our 

January 1, 2009 adoption of FAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities 

to have a material effect on our results of operations, financial position 

or liquidity.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employer’s 

Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, 

an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (FAS 158). 

We adopted the recognition provisions of FAS 158 as of December 31, 

2006, and as a result, recognized an increase to our noncurrent prepaid 

pension asset of $8.9 million, an increase to our noncurrent pension 

and postretirement liabilities of $11.8 million, an increase to deferred tax 

assets of $1.1 million and a charge to the ending balance of accumulated 

other comprehensive income of $1.8 million, net of tax. In addition to the 

recognition provisions, FAS 158 requires an employer to measure the plan 

assets and benefit obligations as of the date of its year-end balance sheet. 

This requirement is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. 

We adopted the measurement date provision effective January 1, 2008, and 

will remeasure plan assets and benefit obligations as of that date, pursu-

ant to the transition requirements of FAS 158. We estimate the transition 

adjustments will result in a decrease to noncurrent assets of $0.4 million, 

an increase to noncurrent liabilities of $7.1 million, a decrease to deferred 

tax liabilities of $2.2 million, a decrease to retained earnings of $2.0 million 

and a charge to accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, of 

$3.3 million.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), “Business 

Combinations” [FAS 141(R)], which requires the acquirer in a busi-

ness combination to measure all assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

at their acquisition date fair value. FAS 141(R) applies whenever an acquirer 

obtains control of one or more businesses. Additionally, the new standard 

requires that in a business combination:

•  Acquisition related costs, such as legal and due diligence costs, be 

expensed as incurred.

•  Acquirer shares issued as consideration be recorded at fair value as of 

the acquisition date.

•  Contingent consideration arrangements be included in the purchase 

price allocation at their acquisition date fair value.

•  With certain exceptions, pre-acquisition contingencies be recorded at 

fair value.

•  Negative goodwill be recognized as income rather than as a pro rata 

reduction of the value allocated to particular assets.

•  Restructuring plans be recorded in purchase accounting only if the 

requirements in FASB Statement No. 146, “Accounting for Costs 

Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” are met as of the acquisi-

tion date.

FAS 141(R) requires prospective application for business combinations 

consummated in fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008; 

we expect to adopt FAS 141(R) as of January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling 

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB 

No. 51” (FAS 160). The standard requires all entities to report noncontrol-

ling interests, sometimes referred to as minority interests, in subsidiaries 

as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Noncontrolling interest 

under FAS 160 is defined as the portion of equity in a subsidiary not attrib-

utable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. The standard requires that own-

ership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent be 

clearly identified and presented in the consolidated balance sheet within 

equity, but separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of consolidated 

net earnings attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest 

should be presented separately on the face of the consolidated statement 

of earnings. When a subsidiary is deconsolidated, any retained noncon-

trolling equity investment in the former subsidiary should be measured at 

fair value, and a gain or loss recognized accordingly. FAS 160 is effective 

for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008; we expect to 

adopt FAS 160 as of January 1, 2009.

Critical Accounting Policies

We follow certain significant accounting policies when preparing our con-

solidated financial statements. A summary of these policies is included in 

Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 50 through 56. 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 

us to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosures 

of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial 

statements. We evaluate these estimates and judgments on an ongoing 

basis and base our estimates on historical experience, current conditions 

and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances. The results of these estimates form the basis for mak-

ing judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities as well 

as identifying and assessing the accounting treatment with respect to 

commitments and contingencies. Our actual results may materially differ 

from these estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies require the most 

significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our con-

solidated financial statements.

ECU Earn-out

In connection with the June 2005 sale of our Chemicals business, as 

described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, we entered 

into two separate earn-out agreements that required the purchaser, 

Basic Chemicals Company, LLC (Basic Chemicals), to make payments 
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subject to certain conditions. Basic Chemicals has completed payments 

under one earn-out agreement and is required to make additional pay-

ments under a separate earn-out agreement subject to certain condi-

tions. The first earn-out agreement (the ECU earn-out) was based on ECU 

(electrochemical unit) and natural gas prices during the five-year period 

beginning July 1, 2005, and qualified as a derivative financial instrument 

under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 

Activities” (FAS 133). The ECU earn-out was payable annually and was 

capped at $150 million. During 2007, we received the final payment under 

the ECU earn-out of $22.1 million, bringing cumulative cash receipts to 

the $150 million cap.

FAS 133 requires all derivatives to be recognized on the balance sheet 

and measured at fair value. The fair value of the ECU earn-out was adjusted 

quarterly based on the expected future cash flows. We did not designate 

the ECU earn-out as a hedging instrument and, accordingly, gains and 

losses resulting from changes in the fair value were recognized in current 

earnings. Further, pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission 

Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5:Z:5, “Classification and Disclosure of 

Contingencies Relating to Discontinued Operations” (SAB Topic 5:Z:5), 

changes in fair value were recognized in continuing operations. The 

carrying amount (fair value) of the ECU earn-out was classified in the 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as current (accounts and 

notes receivable – other) or long-term (other noncurrent assets) based on 

our expectation of the timing of cash flows. The carrying amount of the 

ECU earn-out was as follows: December 31, 2007 – $0; December 31, 

2006 – $20.2 million (classified entirely as current) and December 31, 2005 – 

$119.4 million (of which $102.6 million was current).

The discounted cash flow model utilized to determine the fair value of 

the ECU earn-out required significant estimates and judgments described 

hereafter. An ECU is defined as the price of one short ton of chlorine plus 

the price of 1.1 short tons of caustic soda. The expected future prices 

for an ECU and natural gas were critical variables in the discounted cash 

flow model. Our estimates of these variables were derived from industry 

ECU pricing and current natural gas futures contracts. In addition, signifi-

cant judgment was required in assessing the likelihood of the amounts 

and timing of each possible outcome. Additional disclosures regarding 

the ECU earn-out are presented in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Goodwill and Goodwill Impairment

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of net assets acquired in busi-

ness combinations over their fair value. In accordance with the provisions 

of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (FAS 142), good-

will is reviewed for impairment annually, as of January 1, or more frequently 

if certain indicators arise. There were no charges for goodwill impairment 

in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Goodwill is 

tested for impairment at the reporting unit level using a two-step process. 

The first step of the impairment test identifies potential impairment by 

comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value, including 

goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, 

goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired and the second 

step of the impairment test is not required. If the carrying value of a report-

ing unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of the impairment test is 

performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The second 

step of the impairment test compares the implied fair value of the report-

ing unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carry-

ing value of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of 

that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that 

excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same man-

ner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination.

Prior to the November 16, 2007 acquisition of Florida Rock, we had 

seven reporting units composed of seven regional divisions. Subsequent 

to our acquisition of Florida Rock, we redefined our reporting units to be 

organized into product lines within each of our regional divisions. The car-

rying value of each reporting unit is determined by assigning assets and 

liabilities, including goodwill, to those reporting units as of the January 1 

measurement date. We determine the fair values of the reporting units 

using a discounted cash flow methodology that requires considerable 

management judgment and long-term assumptions. Any changes in 

key assumptions with respect to a reporting unit or its prospects, or any 

change in market conditions, interest rates or other factors outside of 

our control, could result in an impairment charge. As a result of the 2007 

Florida Rock acquisition, and based on our preliminary purchase price 

allocation, goodwill represents 42% of total assets as of December 31, 

2007 compared with 18% and 17% as of December 31, 2006 and 

2005, respectively.

For additional information regarding goodwill, see Note 19 to the con-

solidated financial statements.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets Excluding Goodwill

We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets, including intangible 

assets subject to amortization, when events and circumstances war-

rant such a review. The carrying value of long-lived assets is considered 

impaired when the estimated undiscounted cash flows from such assets 

are less than their carrying value. In that event, a loss is recognized equal 

to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the 

long-lived assets. Our estimate of net future cash flows is based on his-

torical experience and assumptions of future trends, which may be differ-

ent from actual results. We periodically review the appropriateness of the 

estimated useful lives of our long-lived assets.

Reclamation Costs

Reclamation costs resulting from the normal use of long-lived assets are 

recognized over the period the asset is in use only if there is a legal obli-

gation to incur these costs upon retirement of the assets. Additionally, 

reclamation costs resulting from the normal use under a mineral lease are 

recognized over the lease term only if there is a legal obligation to incur 

these costs upon expiration of the lease. The obligation, which cannot be 
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reduced by estimated offsetting cash flows, is recorded at fair value as 

a liability at the obligating event date and is accreted through charges to 

operating expenses. This fair value is also capitalized as part of the car-

rying amount of the underlying asset and depreciated over the estimated 

useful life of the asset. If the obligation is settled for other than the carrying 

amount of the liability, a gain or loss is recognized on settlement.

In determining the fair value of the obligation, we estimate the cost for 

a third party to perform the legally required reclamation tasks including 

a reasonable profit margin. This cost is then increased for both future 

estimated inflation and an estimated market risk premium related to the 

 estimated years to settlement. Once calculated, this cost is then dis-

counted to fair value using present value techniques with a credit-adjusted, 

risk-free rate commensurate with the estimated years to settlement.

In estimating the settlement date, we evaluate the current facts and 

conditions to determine the most likely settlement date. If this evalua-

tion identifies alternative estimated settlement dates, we use a weighted-

 average settlement date considering the probabilities of each alternative.

Reclamation obligations are reviewed at least annually for a revision 

to the cost or a change in the estimated settlement date. Additionally, 

reclamation obligations are reviewed in the period that a triggering event 

occurs that would result in either a revision to the cost or a change in 

the estimated settlement date. Examples of events that would trigger a 

change in the cost include a new reclamation law or amendment of an 

existing mineral lease. Examples of events that would trigger a change 

in the estimated settlement date include the acquisition of additional 

reserves or the closure of a facility.

For additional information regarding reclamation obligations (com-

monly known as asset retirement obligations), see Note 17 to the consoli-

dated financial statements.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

We follow the guidance of SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting 

for Pensions” (FAS 87), SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for 

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions” (FAS 106), and SFAS 

No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other 

Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 

106, and 132(R)” (FAS 158) when accounting for pension and post-

retirement benefits. Under these accounting standards, assumptions are 

made regarding the valuation of benefit obligations and the performance 

of plan assets. The primary assumptions are as follows:

•  Discount Rate – The discount rate is used in calculating the present 

value of benefits, which is based on projections of benefit payments to 

be made in the future.

•  Expected Return on Plan Assets – We project the future return on 

plan assets based principally on prior performance and our expecta-

tions for future returns for the types of investments held by the plan 

as well as the expected long-term asset allocation of the plan. These 

projected returns reduce the recorded net benefit costs.

•  Rate of Compensation Increase – For salary-related plans only, we 

project employees’ annual pay increases, which are used to project 

employees’ pension benefits at retirement.

•  Rate of Increase in the Per Capita Cost of Covered Healthcare 

Benefits – We project the expected increases in the cost of covered 

healthcare benefits.

The provisions of FAS 87 and FAS 106 provide for the delayed recog-

nition of differences between actual results and expected or estimated 

results. This delayed recognition of actual results allows for a smoothed 

recognition in earnings of changes in benefit obligations and plan per-

formance over the working lives of the employees who benefit under the 

plans. FAS 158 (see page 37 for a detailed description) partially supersedes 

the delayed recognition principles of FAS 87 and FAS 106 by requiring that 

differences between actual results and expected or estimated results be 

recognized in full in other comprehensive income. Amounts recognized 

in other comprehensive income pursuant to FAS 158 are reclassified to 

earnings in accordance with the recognition principles of FAS 87 and 

FAS 106. 

Beginning in 2005, we accelerated the date for actuarial measure-

ment of our pension and other postretirement benefit obligations from 

December 31 to November 30. In 2008, we will transition to a December 31 

actuarial measurement date pursuant to FAS 158.

During 2007, we reviewed our assumptions related to the discount rate, 

the expected return on plan assets, the rate of compensation increase (for 

salary-related plans) and the rate of increase in the per capita cost of 

covered healthcare benefits.

In selecting the discount rate, we consider fixed-income security 

yields, specifically high-quality bonds. At November 30, 2007, the dis-

count rate for our plans increased to 6.45% from 5.70% at November 30, 

2006 for purposes of determining our liability under FAS 87 (pensions) 

and increased to 6.10% from 5.50% at November 30, 2006 for purposes 

of determining our liability under FAS 106 (other postretirement benefits). 

An analysis of the duration of plan liabilities and the yields for correspond-

ing high-quality bonds is used in the selection of the discount rate.

In estimating the expected return on plan assets, we consider past 

performance and future expectations for the types of investments held 

by the plan as well as the expected long-term allocation of plan assets to 

these investments. At November 30, 2007, the expected return on plan 

assets remained 8.25%.

In projecting the rate of compensation increase, we consider past 

experience in light of movements in inflation rates. At November 30, 2007 

the inflation component of the assumed rate of compensation remained 

2.25%. In addition, based on future expectations of merit and produc-

tivity increases, the weighted-average component of the salary increase 

assumption remained 2.50%.
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As of the November 30, 2007 measurement date, the pension plans’ 

fair value of assets increased from $611.2 million to $679.7 million due 

primarily to investment returns and the addition of $25.8 million in assets 

from a pension plan assumed in the Florida Rock acquisition. Earnings on 

assets above or below the expected return are reflected in the calculation 

of pension expense through the calculation of the “market-related value,” 

which recognizes changes in fair value averaged on a systematic basis 

over five years.

We recognized approximately $0.1 million in net periodic pension and 

postretirement benefit cost related to plans assumed in the Florida Rock 

acquisition and for employees who became eligible to participate in our 

postretirement benefit plans upon the acquisition date.

As a result of the June 2005 sale of our Chemicals business, as 

described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, during 

2006, we recognized a settlement charge of $0.8 million representing 

an acceleration of unrecognized losses due to lump-sum payments to 

certain retirees from our former Chemicals business. Additionally, during 

2005 we recognized an acceleration of a portion of the current unrecog-

nized prior service cost of $1.5 million (curtailment loss) for the pension 

plans and a benefit of $0.2 million (curtailment gain) for the post retirement 

medical and life insurance plans in accordance with SFAS No. 88, 

“Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined 

Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits” (FAS 88). In addi-

tion, we granted special termination benefits in relation to the divestiture, 

including immediate vesting of pension benefits and an extension of eligi-

bility for enhanced early retirement pension benefits and postretirement 

medical benefits. These benefits have been treated as special termination 

benefits under FAS 88 and resulted in one-time, noncash charges during 

2005 of $5.6 million for the pension plans and $0.8 million for the post-

retirement medical plans. For 2005, the divestiture reduced our pension 

and other postretirement benefits expense by approximately $2.1 million 

and $1.6 million, respectively. As a result of the divestiture, our future pen-

sion and postretirement obligations referable to the divested operations 

were reduced as of December 31, 2005 by approximately $18.2 million 

and $19.6 million, respectively.

During 2008, we expect to recognize net periodic pension expense 

of approximately $12.7 million and net periodic postretirement expense of 

approximately $11.4 million compared with $11.4 million and $10.0 million, 

respectively, in 2007. This expectation is based on changes to our actuar-

ial assumptions for discount rate, expected return on plan assets and rate 

of compensation increase, as well as other actuarial gains and losses. 

In addition, approximately $2.7 million of the expected net periodic pen-

sion expense for 2008 is a result of the Florida Rock acquisition. Normal 

cash payments made for pension benefits in 2008 under the unfunded 

plans are estimated at $3.0 million. We expect to make approximately 

$0.4 million in required contributions to the funded pension plans dur-

ing 2008, all of which relates to the pension plan assumed in the Florida 

Rock acquisition.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 (PPA), enacted on August 17, 

2006, significantly changes the funding requirements after 2007 for 

single-employer defined benefit pension plans, among other provisions. 

Funding requirements under the PPA will largely be based on a plan’s 

funded status, with faster amortization of any shortfalls or surpluses. 

We do not believe this new legislation will have a material impact on the 

funding requirements of our defined benefit pension plans during 2008. 

The potential impact on the funding requirements of the pension plan 

assumed in the Florida Rock acquisition is currently under review.

For additional information regarding pension and other postretirement 

benefits, see Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

In selecting the rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits, we consider past performance and forecasts of future health-

care cost trends. At November 30, 2007, our assumed rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits increased to 9.0% for 2008, 

decreasing each year until reaching 5.25% in 2012 and remaining level thereafter.

Changes to the assumptions listed above would have an impact on the projected benefit obligations, the accrued other postretirement benefit liabili-

ties, and the annual net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit cost. The following table reflects the sensitivities associated with a change 

in certain assumptions (in millions of dollars):

     (Favorable) Unfavorable

     0.5% Increase 0.5% Decrease

     Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)  Increase (Decrease)  Increase (Decrease) 

     in Benefit Obligation in Benefit Cost in Benefit Obligation in Benefit Cost

Actuarial Assumptions

Discount rate:

 Pension $(38.7) $(1.7) $43.0 $ 2.5

 Other postretirement benefits (4.0) (0.3) 4.3 0.3

Expected return on plan assets not applicable (2.8) not applicable 2.8

Rate of compensation increase 

 (for salary-related plans) 10.3 1.5 (9.7) (1.4)

Rate of increase in the per capita cost

 of covered healthcare benefits 4.7 0.8 (4.2) (0.7)
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Environmental Compliance

We incur environmental compliance costs, which include maintenance 

and operating costs for pollution control facilities, the cost of ongoing 

monitoring programs, the cost of remediation efforts and other similar 

costs. Environmental expenditures that pertain to current operations or 

that relate to future revenues are expensed or capitalized consistent with 

our capitalization policy. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition 

caused by past operations that do not contribute to future revenues are 

expensed. Costs associated with environmental assessments and reme-

diation efforts are accrued when management determines that a liability 

is probable and the cost can be reasonably estimated. When a range of 

probable loss can be estimated, we accrue the most likely amount. In the 

event that no amount in the range of probable loss is considered most 

likely, the minimum loss in the range is accrued. As of December 31, 2007 

the spread between the amount accrued and the maximum loss in the 

range was $2.8 million. Accrual amounts may be based on engineering 

cost estimations or costs associated with past compliance efforts that 

were similar in nature and scope. Our Safety, Health and Environmental 

Affairs Management Committee reviews cost estimates, including key 

assumptions, for accruing environmental compliance costs; however, 

a number of factors, including adverse agency rulings and encounter-

ing unanticipated conditions as remediation efforts progress, may cause 

actual results to differ materially from accrued costs.

Claims and Litigation Including Self-insurance

We are involved with claims and litigation, including items covered under 

our self-insurance program. We are self-insured for losses related to work-

ers’ compensation up to $2.0 million per occurrence, and auto motive and 

general/product liability up to $3.0 million per occurrence. We have excess 

coverage on a per occurrence basis beyond these deductible levels.

Under our self-insurance program, we aggregate certain claims and 

litigation costs that are reasonably predictable based on our historical 

loss experience and accrue losses, including future legal defense costs, 

based on actuarial studies. Certain claims and litigation costs, due to 

their unique nature, are not included in our actuarial studies. We use both 

internal and outside legal counsel to assess the probability of loss, and 

establish an accrual when the claims and litigation represent a probable 

loss and the cost can be reasonably estimated. For matters not included 

in our actuarial studies, legal defense costs are accrued when incurred. 

Accrued liabilities under our self-insurance program were $62.5 mil-

lion, $45.2 million and $42.5 million as of December 31, 2007, 2006 

and 2005, respectively. Approximately $19.0 million of the increase from 

2006 to 2007 relates to liabilities acquired in the Florida Rock acquisition. 

Accrued liabilities for self- insurance reserves as of December 31, 2007 

were discounted at 3.507%. As of December 31, 2007, the undiscounted 

amount was $68.8 million as compared with the discounted liability of 

$62.5 million. Expected payments (undiscounted) for the next five years 

are projected as follows: 2008, $22.5 million; 2009, $13.6 million; 2010, 

$9.4 million; 2011, $6.7 million; and 2012, $3.9 million.

Significant judgment is used in determining the timing and amount of 

the accruals for probable losses, and the actual liability could differ mate-

rially from the accrued amounts.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax 

planning opportunities available in the various jurisdictions in which we 

operate. For interim financial reporting, we estimate the annual tax rate 

based on projected taxable income for the full year and record a quarterly 

income tax provision in accordance with the anticipated annual rate. As 

the year progresses, we refine the estimates of the year’s taxable income 

as new information becomes available, including year-to-date financial 

results. This continual estimation process often results in a change to our 

expected effective tax rate for the year. When this occurs, we adjust the 

income tax provision during the quarter in which the change in estimate 

occurs so that the year-to-date provision reflects the expected annual tax 

rate. Significant judgment is required in determining our effective tax rate 

and in evaluating our tax positions.

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” 

we recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of 

assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets represent items to be used as 

a tax deduction or credit in future tax returns for which we have already 

properly recorded the tax benefit in the income statement. At least quar-

terly, we assess the likelihood that the deferred tax asset balance will be 

recovered from future taxable income. We take into account such factors 

as prior earnings history, expected future earnings, carryback and car-

ryforward periods, and tax strategies that could potentially enhance the 

likelihood of a realization of a deferred tax asset. To the extent recovery 

is unlikely, a valuation allowance is established against the deferred tax 

asset, increasing our income tax expense in the year such determination 

is made.

Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 23, “Accounting for 

Income Taxes, Special Areas,” does not require U.S. income taxes to be 

provided on foreign earnings when such earnings are indefinitely rein-

vested offshore. We periodically evaluate our investment strategies with 

respect to each foreign tax jurisdiction in which we operate to determine 

whether foreign earnings will be indefinitely reinvested offshore and, 

accordingly, whether U.S. income taxes should be provided when such 

earnings are recorded.

We adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty 

in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN 48) 

effective January 1, 2007 (see Note 18 to the consolidated financial state-

ments). In accordance with FIN 48, we recognize a tax benefit associated 

with an uncertain tax position when, in our judgment, it is more likely 

than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by a taxing 

authority. For a tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recogni-

tion threshold, we initially and subsequently measure the tax benefit as 

the largest amount that we judge to have a greater than 50% likelihood 

of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. Our 

liability associated with unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically 

due to changing circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case 

law developments and new or emerging legislation. Such adjustments are 

recognized entirely in the period in which they are identified. Our effective 
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tax rate includes the net impact of changes in the liability for unrecog-

nized tax benefits and subsequent adjustments as considered appropri-

ate by management.

A number of years may elapse before a particular matter for which we 

have recorded a liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit is audited 

and finally resolved. The number of years with open tax audits varies by 

jurisdiction. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the 

timing of resolution of any particular tax matter, we believe our liability for 

unrecognized tax benefits is adequate. Favorable resolution of an unrec-

ognized tax benefit could be recognized as a reduction in our tax provision 

and effective tax rate in the period of resolution. Unfavorable settlement of 

an unrecognized tax benefit could increase the tax provision and effec-

tive tax rate and may require the use of cash in the period of resolution. 

Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits is generally presented as non-

current. However, if we anticipate paying cash within one year to settle an 

uncertain tax position, the liability is presented as current.

We classify interest and penalties recognized on the liability for unrec-

ognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

Our largest permanent item in computing both our effective tax rate 

and taxable income is the deduction allowed for percentage depletion. 

The impact of percentage depletion on the effective tax rate is reflected 

in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. The deduction for 

percentage depletion does not necessarily change proportionately to 

changes in pretax earnings. Due to the magnitude of the impact of per-

centage depletion on our effective tax rate and taxable income, a signifi-

cant portion of the financial reporting risk is related to this estimate.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 created a new deduction for 

certain domestic production activities as described in Section 199 of the 

Internal Revenue Code. Generally, this deduction, subject to certain limi-

tations, was set at 3% for 2005 and 2006, 6% in 2007 and will remain at 

6% through 2009 and reaches 9% in 2010 and thereafter. The estimated 

impact of this deduction on the 2007, 2006 and 2005 effective tax rates is 

presented in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

For additional information regarding income taxes and our adoption of 

FIN 48, see Notes 9 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Information

Our disclosures and analyses in this report contain forward-looking 

statements. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations 

or forecasts of future events. Whenever possible, we have identified 

these forward-looking statements by words such as “anticipate,” “may,” 

“believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “intend” and words of similar 

import. Forward-looking statements involve certain assumptions, risks 

and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from 

those projected. These assumptions, risks and uncertainties include, but 

are not limited to, those associated with general economic and business 

conditions; changes in interest rates; the timing and amount of federal, 

state and local funding for infrastructure; changes in the level of spend-

ing for residential and private nonresidential construction; the highly com-

petitive nature of the construction materials industry; pricing; weather and 

other natural phenomena; energy costs; costs of hydrocarbon-based raw 

materials; increasing healthcare costs; the timing and amount of any future 

payments to be received under the 5CP earn-out contained in the agree-

ment for the divestiture of our Chemicals business; our ability to manage 

and successfully integrate acquisitions; risks and uncertainties related to 

our recent acquisition of Florida Rock, including our ability to successfully 

integrate the operations of Florida Rock and to achieve the anticipated 

cost savings and operational synergies; and other assumptions, risks and 

uncertainties set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. We under-

take no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, as 

a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, 

however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects 

in our future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission or in 

any of our press releases.
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The Shareholders of Vulcan Materials Company:

Vulcan Materials Company’s management is responsible for establish-

ing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial 

reporting as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and as defined 

in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). A control system can provide only reason-

able, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system 

are met.

Under management’s supervision, an evaluation of the design 

and effectiveness of Vulcan Materials Company’s internal control over 

financial reporting was conducted based on the framework in Internal 

Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evalua-

tion, management concluded that Vulcan Materials Company’s internal 

control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007. 

Management excluded from the scope of its assessment the operations 

and related assets of Florida Rock Industries, Inc. (Florida Rock), which 

was acquired on November 16, 2007, that were subject to Florida Rock’s 

internal control over financial reporting. At December 31, 2007 and for 

the period from November 16, 2007 through December 31, 2007, total 

assets and total revenues subject to Florida Rock Industries, Inc.’s internal 

control over financial reporting represented 18% and 2%, respectively, of 

Vulcan Materials Company’s consolidated total assets and total revenues 

as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public account-

ing firm, as auditors of Vulcan Materials Company’s consolidated finan-

cial statements, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of 

Vulcan Materials Company’s internal control over financial reporting as 

of December 31, 2007. Deloitte & Touche LLP’s report, which expresses 

an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Vulcan Materials Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting, is included herein.

Donald M. James Daniel F. Sansone

Chairman and  Senior Vice President,

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

February 29, 2008

Management’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting

Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Vulcan Materials Company:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Vulcan 

Materials Company and its subsidiary companies (the “Company”) as of 

December 31, 2007 based on criteria established in Internal Control – 

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-

tions of the Treadway Commission. As described in Manage ment’s Report 

on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management excluded from 

its assessment the internal control over financial reporting of Florida Rock 

Industries, Inc. (Florida Rock), which was acquired by the Company on 

November 16, 2007. Financial statement items subject to Florida Rock’s 

internal control over financial reporting constitute 18% of total assets, 

28% of net assets, 2% of total revenues and 0% of net earnings of the 

consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended 

December 31, 2007. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control 

over financial reporting for the Florida Rock financial statement items. The 

Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 

control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness 

of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control 

over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the 

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting 

was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 

understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating man-

agement’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating 

effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures 

as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our 

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process 

designed by, or under supervision of, the company’s principal execu-

tive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar func-

tions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, 

and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reli-

ability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes 

those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 

records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-

actions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reason-

able assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 

are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management 

and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 

or  disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 

on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial 

reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management 

override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may 

not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any 

evaluation of effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting 

to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become 

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of com-

pliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, 

effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 

2007 based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public 

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 

financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007 

of the Company and our report dated February 29, 2008 expressed an 

unqualified opinion on those financial statements and includes an empha-

sis of matter paragraph referring to the Company’s acquisition of 100% of 

the outstanding common stock of Florida Rock Industries, Inc.

Birmingham, Alabama

February 29, 2008

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Vulcan Materials Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 

Vulcan Materials Company and its subsidiary companies (the “Company”) 

as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated 

statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the 

years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of 

the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-

able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-

rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-

cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a rea-

sonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 

all material respects, the financial position of Vulcan Materials Company 

and its subsidiary companies as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 

and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then 

ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America.

As discussed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, on 

November 16, 2007, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding 

common stock of Florida Rock Industries, Inc.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public 

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 based on 

criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by 

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 

and our report dated February 29, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion 

on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Birmingham, Alabama

February 29, 2008

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – 
Consolidated Financial Statements

Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts and shares in thousands, except per share data

For the years ended December 31   2007 2006 2005

Net sales    $3,090,133  $3,041,093  $2,614,965

Delivery revenues    237,654  301,382  280,362

 Total revenues    3,327,787  3,342,475  2,895,327

Cost of goods sold    2,139,230  2,109,189  1,906,151

Delivery costs    237,654  301,382  280,362

 Cost of revenues    2,376,884  2,410,571  2,186,513

Gross profit    950,903  931,904  708,814

Selling, administrative and general expenses    289,604  264,276  232,411

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, net    58,659  5,557  8,295

Other operating expense (income), net    5,390  (21,904)  7,862

Minority interest in earnings of a consolidated subsidiary    151 – –

Operating earnings    714,417  695,089  476,836

Other (expense) income, net    (5,322)  28,541  24,378

Interest income    6,625  6,171  16,627

Interest expense    48,218  26,310  37,146

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes    667,502  703,491  480,695

Provision for income taxes      

 Current    199,931  221,094  132,250

 Deferred    4,485  2,219  4,317

  Total provision for income taxes    204,416  223,313  136,567

Earnings from continuing operations    463,086  480,178  344,128

Discontinued operations (Note 2)      

 Earnings (loss) from results of discontinued operations    (19,327)  (16,624)  83,683

 Minority interest in earnings of a consolidated subsidiary    –  –  (11,232)

 Income tax benefit (provision)    7,151  6,660  (27,529)

  Earnings (loss) on discontinued operations, net of income taxes   (12,176)  (9,964)  44,922

Net earnings    $  450,910  $  470,214  $  389,050

Basic earnings (loss) per share      

 Earnings from continuing operations    $ 4.77 $ 4.92  $3.37

 Discontinued operations    $(0.12) $(0.10)  $0.44

 Net earnings per share    $ 4.65 $ 4.82  $3.81

Diluted earnings (loss) per share      

 Earnings from continuing operations    $ 4.66 $ 4.81  $3.31

 Discontinued operations    $(0.12) $(0.10) $0.43

 Net earnings per share    $ 4.54 $ 4.71 $3.74

          

Dividends declared per share     $ 1.84 $ 1.48 $1.16

Weighted-average common shares outstanding     97,036 97,577 102,179

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution    99,403 99,777 104,085

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts and shares in thousands, except per share data

As of December 31   2007 2006 2005

Assets

Current assets

 Cash and cash equivalents     $   34,888  $   55,230   $  275,138 

 Medium-term investments    –  –   175,140 

 Accounts and notes receivable:      

  Customers, less allowance for doubtful accounts:

   2007 – $6,015; 2006 – $3,355; 2005 – $4,277    383,029  344,114   329,299 

  Other    38,832  47,346   147,071 

 Inventories    356,318  243,537   197,752 

 Deferred income taxes    44,210  25,579   23,046 

 Prepaid expenses    40,177  15,388   17,138 

 Assets held for sale    259,775  –  –

    Total current assets    1,157,229  731,194   1,164,584 

Investments and long-term receivables    25,445  6,664   6,942 

Property, plant and equipment, net    3,620,094  1,869,114   1,603,967 

Goodwill    3,789,091  620,189   617,083 

Other assets     344,511  200,673   197,847 

    Total assets    $8,936,370  $3,427,834   $3,590,423 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities

 Current maturities of long-term debt    $   35,181  $      630   $  272,067 

 Short-term borrowings    2,091,500  198,900  – 

 Trade payables and accruals    219,548  154,215   142,221 

 Accrued salaries, wages and management incentives    92,134  74,084   68,544 

 Accrued interest    16,057  4,671   10,691 

 Current portion of income taxes    1,397  11,980   37,870 

 Other accrued liabilities    66,061  43,028   39,356 

 Liabilities of assets held for sale    6,309 – –

    Total current liabilities    2,528,187  487,508   570,749 

Long-term debt    1,529,828  322,064   323,392 

Deferred income taxes    671,518  287,905   277,761 

Deferred management incentive and other compensation    90,531  69,966   61,779 

Other postretirement benefits    99,188  85,308   69,537 

Asset retirement obligations    131,383  114,829   105,774 

Noncurrent self-insurance reserve    41,461  33,519   31,616 

Other noncurrent liabilities    84,264  15,836   16,166

Minority interest    410 – –

    Total liabilities    5,176,770  1,416,935   1,456,774 

Other commitments and contingencies (Note 12)      

Shareholders’ equity      

 Common stock, $1 par value – 108,234 shares issued as of 

  2007 and 139,705 shares issued as of 2006 and 2005    108,234  139,705  139,705 

 Capital in excess of par value    1,607,865  191,695  136,675 

 Retained earnings    2,083,718  2,982,526  2,644,535 

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (40,217)  (4,953)  (2,213)

 Treasury stock at cost    –  (1,298,074)  (785,053)

    Total shareholders’ equity    3,759,600  2,010,899   2,133,649 

    Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity    $8,936,370  $3,427,834   $3,590,423 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts in thousands

For the years ended December 31   2007 2006 2005

Operating Activities

Net earnings    $   450,910  $ 470,214   $ 389,050 

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities    

 Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization    271,475  226,370  222,868 

 Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment    (58,659)  (5,557)  (9,414)

 Net gain on sale of contractual rights    –  (24,841) – 

 Contributions to pension plans    (1,808)  (1,433)  (29,100)

 Share-based compensation    16,942  14,352   17,170 

 (Increase) decrease in assets before initial effects of business acquisitions and dispositions

  Accounts and notes receivable    44,779  (56,599)  (64,782)

  Inventories    (29,508)  (28,552)  (6,210)

  Deferred income taxes    (18,631)  (2,534)  11,296 

  Prepaid expenses    27,191  1,801   (1,291)

  Customer long-term receivables    (134) – –

  Other assets    (20,862)  9,895   (55,055)

 Increase (decrease) in liabilities before initial effects  of business acquisitions and dispositions

  Accrued interest and income taxes    18,727  (35,806)  (3,008)

  Trade payables and other accruals    (22,541)  2,968   40,224 

  Deferred income taxes    10,142  11,848   (73,467)

  Other noncurrent liabilities    (1,307)  (1,602)  41,066 

 Other, net    21,428  (1,175)  (6,163)

   Net cash provided by operating activities    708,144  579,349   473,184 

Investing Activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment    (483,322)  (435,207)  (215,646)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    88,939  7,918   10,629 

Proceeds from sale of contractual rights, net of cash transaction fees   –  24,849 – 

Proceeds from sale of Chemicals business, net of cash transaction fees   30,560  141,916  209,254 

Payment for minority partner’s interest in consolidated Chemicals joint venture   – –  (65,172)

Payment for businesses acquired, net of acquired cash    (3,297,898)  (20,531)  (93,965)

Purchases of medium-term investments    –  –   (313,490)

Proceeds from sales and maturities of medium-term investments   –  175,140  317,560 

Decrease in investments and long-term receivables    5,026  304  596 

Other, net    2,396  604  1,062 

   Net cash used for investing activities    (3,654,299)  (105,007)  (149,172)

Financing Activities

Net short-term borrowings    1,892,600  198,900  – 

Payment of short-term debt and current maturities    (2,042)  (272,532)  (3,350)

Payment of long-term debt    (33)  –   (8,253)

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discounts    1,223,579 – –

Debt issuance costs    (9,173) – –

Settlements of forward starting interest rate swap agreements    (57,303) – –

Purchases of common stock    (4,800)  (522,801)  (228,479)

Dividends paid    (181,315)  (144,082)  (118,229)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options    35,074  28,889   37,940 

Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation    29,220 17,376 –

Other, net    6 –   47 

   Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities    2,925,813  (694,250)  (320,324)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents    (20,342)  (219,908)  3,688 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    55,230  275,138   271,450 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    $    34,888  $  55,230   $ 275,138 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies



49

        Accumulated

      Capital in  Other   

Amounts and shares in thousands,  Common Stock1 Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stock  

except per share data Shares Amount Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Shares Amount Total

Balances at December 31, 2004 139,705 $139,705 $  76,222 $ 2,373,730 $ (1,309) (37,046) $  (567,558) $2,020,790

Net earnings – – – 389,050 – – – 389,050

Minimum pension liability adjustment – – – – (966) – – (966)

Issuances of stock under share-based
 compensation plans – – 27,996 – – 1,256 10,984 38,980

Share-based compensation expense – – 17,170 – – – – 17,170

Excess tax benefits from 
 share-based compensation – – 15,287 – – – – 15,287

Purchases of common stock – – – – – (3,589) (228,479) (228,479)

Cash dividends on common stock – – – (118,229) – – – (118,229)

Fair value adjustment to 
 cash flow hedges, net of 
 reclassification adjustment – – – – 62 – – 62

Other  – – – (16) – – – (16)

Balances at December 31, 2005 139,705 $139,705 $  136,675 $ 2,644,535 $ (2,213) (39,379) $  (785,053) $2,133,649

Cumulative effect of accounting 
 change (Note 18) – – – 12,236 – – – 12,236

Balance at December 31, 2005 adjusted 
 for accounting change 139,705 $139,705 $  136,675 $ 2,656,771 $ (2,213) (39,379) $  (785,053) $2,145,885

Net earnings – – – 470,214 – – – 470,214

Minimum pension liability adjustment – – – – (1,027) – – (1,027)

Issuances of stock under share-based
 compensation plans – – 22,915 – – 1,037 9,780 32,695

Share-based compensation expense – – 14,352 – – – – 14,352

Excess tax benefits from 
 share-based compensation – – 17,376 – – – – 17,376

Accrued dividends on share-based 
 compensation awards – – 377 (377) – – – –

Purchases of common stock – – – – – (6,757) (522,801) (522,801)

Cash dividends on common stock – – – (144,082) – – – (144,082)

Fair value adjustment to cash flow hedges, 
 net of reclassification adjustment – – – – 75 – – 75

Balance as of December 31, 2006 before
 adjustment for initial effects of FAS 158 139,705 139,705 191,695 2,982,526 (3,165) (45,099) (1,298,074) 2,012,687

Adjustment for initial effects of 
 FAS 158 (Note 1) – – – – (1,788) – – (1,788)

Balances at December 31, 2006 139,705 $139,705 $  191,695 $ 2,982,526 $ (4,953) (45,099) $(1,298,074) $2,010,899

Net earnings – – – 450,910 – – – 450,910

Issuances of stock under share-based  
 compensation plans 26 26 26,566 – – 1,042 10,858 37,450

Share-based compensation expense – – 16,942 – – – – 16,942

Excess tax benefits from 
 share-based compensation – – 29,220 – – – – 29,220

Accrued dividends on share-based 
 compensation awards – – 497 (497) – – – –

Purchases of common stock – – – – – (44) (4,800) (4,800)

Cash dividends on common stock – – – (181,315)    (181,315)

Fair value adjustment to cash flow hedges, 
 net of reclassification adjustment – – – – (55,922) – – (55,922)

Adjustment for funded status of pension 
 and postretirement benefit plans, net of 
 reclassification adjustment – – – – 20,658 – – 20,658

Common stock issued for acquisition 12,604 12,604 1,423,883 – – – – 1,436,487

Cumulative effect of accounting 
 change (Note 18) – – – (940) – – – (940)

Other  – – – 11 – – – 11

Cancellation of treasury stock (44,101) (44,101) (80,938) (1,166,977) – 44,101 1,292,016 –

Balances at December 31, 2007 108,234 $108,234 $1,607,865 $ 2,083,718 $(40,217) – – $3,759,600

1 Common stock, $1 par value, 480 million shares authorized in 2007, 2006 and 2005

For the years ended December 31  2007   2006   2005

Comprehensive income:

 Net earnings  $450,910   $470,214   $389,050

 Other comprehensive income (loss)  (35,264)   (952)   (904)

Total comprehensive income  $415,646   $469,262   $388,146

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Vulcan Materials Company (the “Company,” “Vulcan,” “we,” “our”), a 

New Jersey corporation, is the nation’s largest producer of construction 

aggregates, primarily crushed stone, sand and gravel; a major producer 

of asphalt mix and concrete and a leading producer of cement in Florida.

On November 16, 2007, we acquired 100% of the outstanding com-

mon stock of Florida Rock Industries, Inc. (Florida Rock), a leading 

producer of construction aggregates, cement, concrete and concrete 

products in the southeastern and mid-Atlantic states, in exchange for 

cash and stock. The acquisition further diversifies the geographic scope 

of our operations.

Due to the 2005 sale of our Chemicals business as presented in 

Note 2, the operating results of the Chemicals business have been pre-

sented as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated 

Statements of Earnings.

See Note 15 for additional disclosure regarding nature of operations.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Vulcan 

Materials Company and all our majority or wholly owned subsidiary com-

panies. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been 

eliminated in consolidation.

Cash Equivalents

We classify as cash equivalents all highly liquid securities with a maturity of 

three months or less at the time of purchase. The carrying amount of these 

securities approximates fair value due to their short-term maturities.

Medium-term Investments

Our medium-term investments consisted of highly liquid securities with a 

contractual maturity in excess of three months at the time of purchase. 

We classify our medium-term investments as either available-for-sale or 

held-to-maturity. Investments classified as available-for-sale consisted 

of variable rate demand obligations and are reported at fair value, which 

is equal to cost. Investments classified as held-to-maturity consisted of 

fixed rate debt securities and are reported at cost. The reported values 

of these investments by major security type as of December 31 are sum-

marized below (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Bonds, notes and other securities

Variable rate demand obligations $ –   $ –   $165,140

Other debt securities – – 10,000

Total   $ – $ –  $175,140

While the contractual maturities for the variable rate demand obliga-

tions noted above are generally long term (longer than one year), these 

securities have certain economic characteristics of current (less than one 

year) investments because of their rate-setting mechanisms. Therefore, all 

our medium-term investments as of December 31, 2005, were classified 

as current assets based on our investing practices and intent.

Proceeds, gross realized gains and gross realized losses from sales and 

maturities of medium-term investments for the years ended December 31 

are summarized below (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Proceeds $ – $175,140 $317,560

Gross realized gains insignificant insignificant insignificant

Gross realized losses insignificant insignificant insignificant 

There were no transfers from either the available-for-sale or held-to-

maturity categories to the trading category during the three years ended 

December 31, 2007. There were no gross unrealized holding gains or 

losses related to medium-term investments classified as available-for-sale 

or held-to-maturity as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts and notes receivable from customers result from our extending 

credit to trade customers for the purchase of our products. The terms gen-

erally provide for payment within 30 days of being invoiced. On occasion, 

when necessary to conform to regional industry practices, we sell prod-

uct under extended payment terms, which may result in either secured 

or unsecured short-term notes; or, on occasion, notes with durations of 

less than one year are taken in settlement of existing accounts receivable. 

Other accounts and notes receivable result from short-term transactions 

(less than one year) other than the sale of our products, such as interest 

receivable; insurance claims; freight claims; tax refund claims; bid depos-

its or rents receivable. Additionally, as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, other accounts and notes receivable include the current portion of 

the contingent earn-out agreements referable to the Chemicals business 

sale as described in Note 2. Receivables are aged and appropriate allow-

ances for doubtful accounts and bad debt expense are recorded.

Inventories

Inventories and supplies are stated at the lower of cost or market. We use 

the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method of valuation for most of our inventories 

because it results in a better matching of costs with revenues. Such costs 

include fuel, parts and supplies, raw materials, direct labor and produc-

tion overhead. An actual valuation of inventory under the LIFO method 

can be made only at the end of each year based on the inventory levels 

and costs at that time. Accordingly, interim LIFO calculations are based 

on our estimates of expected year-end inventory levels and costs and 

are subject to the final year-end LIFO inventory valuation. Substantially all 

operating supplies inventory is carried at average cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation, depletion and amortization. The cost of properties held 

under capital leases is equal to the lower of the net present value of 

the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the leased property at 

the inception of the lease.

Repair and Maintenance

Repair and maintenance costs generally are charged to operating 

expense as incurred. Renewals and betterments that add materially to the 

utility or useful lives of property, plant and equipment are capitalized and 

subsequently depreciated. Actual costs for planned major maintenance 
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activities, primarily related to periodic overhauls on our oceangoing ves-

sels, are capitalized and amortized to the next overhaul.

Depreciation, Depletion, Accretion and Amortization

Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method at rates based on 

the estimated service lives of the various classes of assets, which include 

machinery and equipment (3 to 30 years), buildings (10 to 20 years) and 

land improvements (7 to 20 years).

Cost depletion on depletable quarry land is computed by the unit-of-

production method based on estimated recoverable units.

Accretion reflects the period-to-period increase in the carrying amount 

of the liability for asset retirement obligations. It is computed using the same 

credit-adjusted, risk-free rate used to initially measure the liability at fair value.

Leaseholds are amortized over varying periods not in excess of appli-

cable lease terms or estimated useful life.

Amortization of intangible assets subject to amortization is computed 

based on the estimated life of the intangible assets.

As described in Note 20, we suspended depreciation and amortization 

expense upon our November 16, 2007 Florida Rock acquisition for sites that 

are required to be divested and are classified as held for sale in the accom-

panying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007. For assets 

held for sale related to our Chemicals business depreciation, depletion and 

amortization expense ceased October 2004, coinciding with our classification 

of the Chemicals business as discontinued operations. Depreciation, deple-

tion, accretion and amortization expense for the years ended December 31 

is outlined below (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Depreciation

Continuing operations $253,764 $209,195 $207,107

Discontinued operations  – 19 21

Total   $253,764 $209,214 $207,128

Depletion

Continuing operations $  6,042 $  6,768 $  6,823

Discontinued operations – – –

Total   $  6,042 $  6,768 $  6,823

Accretion

Continuing operations $  5,866 $  5,499 $  4,826

Discontinued operations  – – 447

Total   $  5,866 $  5,499 $  5,273

Amortization of 

 Leaseholds and 

 Capitalized Leases

Continuing operations $    185 $    155 $    297

Discontinued operations – – –

Total   $    185 $    155 $    297

Amortization of 

 Intangibles

Continuing operations $  5,618 $  4,734 $  3,347

Discontinued operations – – –

Total   $  5,618 $  4,734 $  3,347

Total Depreciation, 

 Depletion, Accretion 

 and Amortization

Continuing operations $271,475 $226,351 $222,400

Discontinued operations – 19 468

Total   $271,475 $226,370 $222,868

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of our cash equivalents, medium-term investments, 

accounts and notes receivable, trade payables, accrued expenses and 

short-term borrowings approximate their fair values because of the 

short-term nature of these instruments. Additional fair value disclosures 

for derivative instruments and interest-bearing debt are presented in 

Notes 5 and 6, respectively.

Derivative Instruments Excluding ECU Earn-out

We periodically use derivative instruments to reduce our exposure to inter-

est rate risk, currency exchange risk or price fluctuations on commodity 

energy sources consistent with our risk management policies. We do not 

use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. 

Additional disclosures regarding our derivative instruments are presented 

in Note 5.

ECU Earn-out

In connection with the June 2005 sale of our Chemicals business, as 

described in Note 2, we entered into two separate earn-out agreements 

with the purchaser, Basic Chemicals Company, LLC (Basic Chemicals). 

Basic Chemicals has completed payments under one earn-out agreement 

and is required to make additional payments under a separate earn-out 

agreement subject to certain conditions. The first earn-out agreement (the 

ECU earn-out) was based on ECU (electrochemical unit) and natural gas 

prices during the five-year period beginning July 1, 2005, and qualified 

as a derivative financial instrument under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (FAS 133). The ECU earn-

out was payable annually and was capped at $150,000,000. During 2007, 

we received the final payment under the ECU earn-out of $22,142,000, 

bringing cumulative cash receipts to the $150,000,000 cap.

FAS 133 requires all derivatives to be recognized on the balance 

sheet and measured at fair value. The fair value of the ECU earn-out was 

adjusted quarterly based on the expected future cash flows. We did not 

designate the ECU earn-out as a hedging instrument and, accordingly, 

gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value were recognized 

in current earnings. Further, pursuant to the Securities and Exchange 

Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5:Z:5, “Classification and 

Disclosure of Contingencies Relating to Discontinued Operations” (SAB 

Topic 5:Z:5), changes in fair value were recognized in continuing opera-

tions. The carrying amount (fair value) of the ECU earn-out was classified 

in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as current (accounts 

and notes receivable – other) or long-term (other noncurrent assets) 

based on our expectation of the timing of cash flows. The carrying 

amount of the ECU earn-out was as follows: December 31, 2007 

– $0; December 31, 2006 – $20,213,000 (classified entirely as cur-

rent) and December 31, 2005 – $119,350,000 (of which $102,641,000 

was current).

The discounted cash flow model utilized to determine the fair value of 

the ECU earn-out required significant estimates and judgments described 

hereafter. An ECU is defined as the price of one short ton of chlorine plus 

the price of 1.1 short tons of caustic soda. The expected future prices for 

an ECU and natural gas were critical variables in the discounted cash flow 

model. Our estimates of these variables were derived from industry ECU 

pricing and current natural gas futures contracts. In addition, significant 

judgment was required in assessing the likelihood of the amounts and 

timing of each possible outcome. Additional disclosures regarding the 

ECU earn-out are presented in Notes 2 and 5.
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Goodwill and Goodwill Impairment

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of net assets acquired 

in business combinations over their fair value. In accordance with 

the provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 

Assets” (FAS 142), goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, as 

of January 1, or more frequently if certain indicators arise. There were 

no charges for goodwill impairment in the years ended December 31, 

2007, 2006 and 2005. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the report-

ing unit level using a two-step process. The first step of the impair-

ment test identifies potential impairment by comparing the fair value of 

a reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair value 

of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill of the reporting 

unit is not considered impaired and the second step of the impairment 

test is not required. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair 

value, the second step of the impairment test is performed to measure 

the amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the impairment 

test compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill with 

the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying value of the reporting 

unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impair-

ment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The implied 

fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the amount of 

goodwill recognized in a business combination.

Prior to the November 16, 2007 acquisition of Florida Rock, we had 

seven reporting units composed of seven regional divisions. Subsequent 

to our acquisition of Florida Rock, we redefined our reporting units to be 

organized into product lines. The carrying value of each reporting unit is 

determined by assigning assets and liabilities, including goodwill, to those 

reporting units as of the January 1 measurement date. We determine the 

fair values of the reporting units using a discounted cash flow methodology 

that requires considerable management judgment and long-term assump-

tions. Any changes in key assumptions with respect to a reporting unit or 

its prospects, or any change in market conditions, interest rates or other 

factors outside of our control, could result in an impairment charge. As a 

result of the 2007 Florida Rock acquisition, and based on our preliminary 

purchase price allocation, goodwill represents 42% of total assets as of 

December 31, 2007 compared with 18% and 17% as of December 31, 

2006 and 2005, respectively.

For additional information regarding goodwill, see Note 19.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets Excluding Goodwill

We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets, including intangible 

assets subject to amortization, when events and circumstances war-

rant such a review. The carrying value of long-lived assets is considered 

impaired when the estimated undiscounted cash flows from such assets 

are less than their carrying value. In that event, a loss is recognized equal 

to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the 

long-lived assets. Our estimate of net future cash flows is based on his-

torical experience and assumptions of future trends, which may be differ-

ent from actual results. We periodically review the appropriateness of the 

estimated useful lives of our long-lived assets.

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is recognized at the time the sale price is fixed, the product’s 

title is transferred to the buyer and collectibility of the sales proceeds is 

reasonably assured. Total revenues include sales of products to custom-

ers, net of any discounts and taxes, and third-party delivery revenues 

billed to customers.

Stripping Costs

As a result of our January 1, 2006 adoption of Emerging Issues Task 

Force Issue No. 04-6, “Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred during 

Production in the Mining Industry” (EITF 04-6), we changed our account-

ing policy for stripping costs.

In the mining industry, the costs of removing overburden and waste 

materials to access mineral deposits are referred to as stripping costs. 

Per EITF 04-6, stripping costs incurred during the production phase are 

considered costs of extracted minerals under a full absorption costing 

system, inventoried, and recognized in cost of sales in the same period 

as the revenue from the sale of the inventory. Additionally, capitalization 

of such costs is appropriate only to the extent inventory exists at the end 

of a reporting period.

Prior to the adoption of EITF 04-6, we expensed stripping costs as 

incurred with only limited exceptions when specific criteria were met. For 

additional information regarding the adoption of EITF 04-6, see Note 18.

Other Costs

Costs are charged to earnings as incurred for the start-up of new plants 

and for normal recurring costs of mineral exploration and research and 

development. Research and development costs for continuing operations 

totaled $1,617,000 in 2007, $1,704,000 in 2006 and $1,554,000 in 2005.

Share-based Compensation

Our 1996 Long-term Incentive Plan expired effective May 1, 2006. Effective 

May 12, 2006, our shareholders approved the 2006 Omnibus Long-term 

Incentive Plan (Plan), which authorizes the granting of stock options and 

other types of share-based awards to key salaried employees and non-

employee directors. The maximum number of shares that may be issued 

under the Plan is 5,400,000.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our share-based compen-

sation awards under the intrinsic value recognition and measurement prin-

ciples of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting 

for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB 25), and related interpretations. 

Additionally, we complied with the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, 

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (FAS 123) and SFAS No. 148, 

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure” 

(FAS 148). Under the provisions of these pronouncements, compensation 

expense for our share-based compensation awards was determined as fol-

lows. Compensation expense for deferred stock unit awards was based on 

the market value of our underlying common stock on the date of grant and 

was recognized in net earnings ratably over the 10-year maximum vesting 

life. Compensation expense for performance share awards was recognized 

over the 3-year term of the award and was adjusted each period based on 

internal financial performance measures, changes in the market value of 

our common stock, and total shareholder return versus a pre selected com-

parison group. Generally, no compensation expense was recognized in net 

earnings for our stock option awards, as all options granted had an exercise 

price equal to the market value of our underlying common stock on the date 

of grant. Expense recognized for stock options in periods prior to our adop-

tion of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” [FAS 123(R)], 

resulted from the accounting treatment required under the provisions of 

APB 25 for modifications to awards. These modifications were primarily 

made in connection with the severance of certain Chemicals employees.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions 

of FAS 123(R) using the modified-prospective transition method. Under 
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this transition method, compensation cost is recognized beginning with 

the effective date: (a) based on the requirements of FAS 123(R) for all 

share-based awards granted after the effective date and (b) based on 

the requirements of FAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior 

to the effective date of FAS 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective 

date. Accordingly, we did not restate our results for prior periods. The 

most notable change with the adoption is that compensation expense 

associated with stock options is now recognized in our Consolidated 

Statements of Earnings, rather than being disclosed in a pro forma foot-

note to our consolidated financial statements. Additionally, prior to adop-

tion, for pro forma and actual reporting, we recognized compensation cost 

for all share-based compensation awards over the nominal (stated) vest-

ing period. We will continue to follow this nominal vesting period approach 

for awards granted prior to our January 1, 2006 adoption of FAS 123(R). 

For awards granted subsequent to our adoption of FAS 123(R), compen-

sation cost will be recognized over the shorter of:

• the nominal vesting period or

•  the period until the employee’s award becomes nonforfeitable upon 

reaching eligible retirement age under the terms of the award.

As a result of adopting FAS 123(R), for the year ended December 31, 

2006, we recognized a pretax charge related to stock options of approxi-

mately $9.3 million, resulting in a decrease to earnings from continuing 

operations and net earnings of approximately $5.7 million, or $0.06 per 

both basic and diluted share. For the year ended December 31, 2007, 

we recognized a pretax charge related to stock options of approximately 

$9.2 million, resulting in a decrease to earnings from continuing opera-

tions and net earnings of approximately $5.5 million, or $0.06 per both 

basic and diluted share.

We receive an income tax deduction for share-based compensation 

equal to the excess of the market value of our common stock on the 

date of exercise or issuance over the exercise price. Prior to the adop-

tion of FAS 123(R), we presented the tax benefits from the exercise of 

stock options or issuance of shares under long-term incentive plans as 

a component of operating cash flows. FAS 123(R) requires the tax ben-

efits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost 

recognized (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash flows. 

The $29,220,000 and $17,376,000 in excess tax benefits classified as 

financing cash inflows for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow 

relate to the exercise of stock options and issuance of shares under long-

term incentive plans and would have been classified as operating cash 

inflows if we had not adopted FAS 123(R).

A summary of unrecognized compensation expense as of 

December 31, 2007 related to share-based awards granted under our 

long-term incentive plans is presented below (in thousands of dollars):

      Unrecognized Expected

      Compensation Weighted-average

      Expense Recognition (Years)

Deferred stock units  $ 4,633  2.3

Performance shares  6,719 1.0

Stock options  14,680 1.0

Total/weighted-average  $26,032  1.2

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized pretax 

compensation expense related to our share-based compensation awards, 

including awards classified as liabilities, of $18,261,000 and related income 

tax benefits of $7,319,000. During the year ended December 31, 2006, 

we recognized pretax com pen  sation expense related to our share-based 

compensation awards, including awards classified as liabilities, of $22,670,000 

and related income tax benefits of $8,901,000. If share-based compensa-

tion expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 had been determined 

and recorded based on the fair value method prescribed by FAS 123, which 

was superseded by FAS 123(R), our net earnings and net earnings per share 

would have been as follows (amounts in thousands, except per share data):

       2005

Net earnings, as reported   $389,050

Add: Total share-based employee compensation 

  expense included in reported net earnings under

intrinsic-value-based methods for all awards, 

net of related tax effects1   19,285

Deduct: Total share-based employee compensation 

  expense determined under fair-value-based 

methods for all awards (including $9,082 related to 

the December 2005 option grant), net of

related tax effects2   (25,349)

Pro forma net earnings    $382,986

Earnings per share:

 Basic – as reported   $3.81

 Basic – pro forma   $3.75

 Diluted – as reported   $3.74

 Diluted – pro forma   $3.68

1  Reflects compensation expense related to deferred stock units, stock option modifications 

primarily for terminated Chemicals employees and performance share awards.

2  Reflects compensation expense related to deferred stock units, stock options and perfor-

mance share awards.

Since 1996, we have customarily granted long-term share-based 

incentive compensation awards for each calendar year in February of 

that year. In anticipation of our adoption of FAS 123(R), we granted stock 

option awards in December 2005 in lieu of long-term share-based incen-

tive awards that would customarily have been made in February 2006. 

The stock options awarded in December 2005 have an exercise price 

equal to the market value of our underlying common stock on the date of 

grant and were fully vested on the date of grant; however, shares obtained 

upon exercise of the options are restricted from sale until January 1, 2009. 

By granting fully vested stock option awards during December 2005, we 

reduced future compensation expense that we would otherwise have rec-

ognized in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings if these awards were 

granted during February 2006, after the effective date of FAS 123(R).

The exercise price of all the stock options awarded in December 2005 

was equal to the market price of our underlying common stock on the 

date of grant; therefore, no compensation expense was recorded in 

the Consolidated Statements of Earnings in accordance with APB 25. 

Furthermore, since the stock options awarded in December 2005 were 

fully vested on the grant date, the pro forma expense referable to these 

options, which amounted to $9.1 million, net of tax, or $0.09 per diluted 

share, was included in our pro forma disclosure for 2005 above.

Reclamation Costs

Reclamation costs resulting from the normal use of long-lived assets 

are recognized over the period the asset is in use only if there is a legal 
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obligation to incur these costs upon retirement of the assets. Additionally, 

reclamation costs resulting from the normal use under a mineral lease are 

recognized over the lease term only if there is a legal obligation to incur 

these costs upon expiration of the lease. The obligation, which cannot be 

reduced by estimated offsetting cash flows, is recorded at fair value as 

a liability at the obligating event date and is accreted through charges to 

operating expenses. This fair value is also capitalized as part of the car-

rying amount of the underlying asset and depreciated over the estimated 

useful life of the asset. If the obligation is settled for other than the carrying 

amount of the liability, a gain or loss is recognized on settlement.

In determining the fair value of the obligation, we estimate the cost for 

a third party to perform the legally required reclamation tasks including a 

reasonable profit margin. This cost is then increased for both future esti-

mated inflation and an estimated market risk premium related to the 

estimated years to settlement. Once calculated, this cost is then dis-

counted to fair value using present value techniques with a credit-adjusted, 

risk-free rate commensurate with the estimated years to settlement.

In estimating the settlement date, we evaluate the current facts and 

conditions to determine the most likely settlement date. If this evalua-

tion identifies alternative estimated settlement dates, we use a weighted-

 average settlement date considering the probabilities of each alternative.

Reclamation obligations are reviewed at least annually for a revision 

to the cost or a change in the estimated settlement date. Additionally, 

reclamation obligations are reviewed in the period that a triggering event 

occurs that would result in either a revision to the cost or a change in 

the estimated settlement date. Examples of events that would trigger a 

change in the cost include a new reclamation law or amendment of an 

existing mineral lease. Examples of events that would trigger a change 

in the estimated settlement date include the acquisition of additional 

reserves or the closure of a facility.

For additional information regarding reclamation obligations (com-

monly known as asset retirement obligations), see Note 17.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits 

We follow the guidance of SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting 

for Pensions” (FAS 87), SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for 

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions” (FAS 106), and SFAS 

No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other 

Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 

106, and 132(R)” (FAS 158), when accounting for pension and post-

retirement benefits. Under these accounting standards, assumptions are 

made regarding the valuation of benefit obligations and the performance 

of plan assets. The primary assumptions are as follows:

•  Discount Rate – The discount rate is used in calculating the present 

value of benefits, which is based on projections of benefit payments to 

be made in the future.

•  Expected Return on Plan Assets – We project the future return on 

plan assets based principally on prior performance and our expecta-

tions for future returns for the types of investments held by the plan 

as well as the expected long-term asset allocation of the plan. These 

projected returns reduce the recorded net benefit costs.

•  Rate of Compensation Increase – For salary-related plans only, we 

project employees’ annual pay increases, which are used to project 

employees’ pension benefits at retirement.

•  Rate of Increase in the Per Capita Cost of Covered Healthcare 

Benefits – We project the expected increases in the cost of covered 

health care benefits.

The provisions of FAS 87 and FAS 106 provide for the delayed recog-

nition of differences between actual results and expected or estimated 

results. This delayed recognition of actual results allows for a smoothed 

recognition in earnings of changes in benefit obligations and plan per-

formance over the working lives of the employees who benefit under the 

plans. FAS 158 (see page 56 for a detailed description) partially super-

sedes the delayed recognition principles of FAS 87 and FAS 106 by requir-

ing that differences between actual results and expected or estimated 

results be recognized in full in other comprehensive income. Amounts 

recognized in other comprehensive income pursuant to FAS 158 are 

reclassified to earnings in accordance with the recognition principles of 

FAS 87 and FAS 106. 

For additional information regarding pension and other postretirement 

benefits, see Note 10.

Environmental Compliance

We incur environmental compliance costs, which include maintenance 

and operating costs for pollution control facilities, the cost of ongoing 

monitoring programs, the cost of remediation efforts and other similar 

costs. Environmental expenditures that pertain to current operations or 

that relate to future revenues are expensed or capitalized consistent with 

our capitalization policy. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition 

caused by past operations that do not contribute to future revenues are 

expensed. Costs associated with environmental assessments and reme-

diation efforts are accrued when management determines that a liability 

is probable and the cost can be reasonably estimated. When a range of 

probable loss can be estimated, we accrue the most likely amount. In the 

event that no amount in the range of probable loss is considered most 

likely, the minimum loss in the range is accrued. As of December 31, 2007, 

the spread between the amount accrued and the maximum loss in the 

range was $2,826,000. Accrual amounts may be based on engineering 

cost estimations or costs associated with past compliance efforts that 

were similar in nature and scope. Our Safety, Health and Environmental 

Affairs Management Committee reviews cost estimates, including key 

assumptions, for accruing environmental compliance costs; however, 

a number of factors, including adverse agency rulings and encounter-

ing unanticipated conditions as remediation efforts progress, may cause 

actual results to differ materially from accrued costs.

Claims and Litigation Including Self-insurance

We are involved with claims and litigation, including items covered under 

our self-insurance program. We are self-insured for losses related to 

workers’ compensation up to $2,000,000 per occurrence, and auto-

motive and general/product liability up to $3,000,000 per occurrence. We 

have excess coverage on a per occurrence basis beyond these deduct-

ible levels.

Under our self-insurance program, we aggregate certain claims and 

litigation costs that are reasonably predictable based on our historical 

loss experience and accrue losses, including future legal defense costs, 

based on actuarial studies. Certain claims and litigation costs, due to 

their unique nature, are not included in our actuarial studies. We use both 

internal and outside legal counsel to assess the probability of loss, and 

establish an accrual when the claims and litigation represent a probable 

loss and the cost can be reasonably estimated. For matters not included 

in our actuarial studies, legal defense costs are accrued when incurred. 

Accrued liabilities under our self-insurance program were $62,514,000, 



55

$45,197,000 and $42,508,000 as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, respectively. Approximately $19,000,000 of the increase from 

2006 to 2007 relates to liabilities acquired in the Florida Rock acquisition. 

Accrued liabilities for self-insurance reserves as of December 31, 2007 

were discounted at 3.507%. As of December 31, 2007, the undiscounted 

amount was $68,825,000 as compared with the discounted liability of 

$62,514,000. Expected payments (undiscounted) for the next five years 

are projected as follows: 2008, $22,530,000; 2009, $13,584,000; 2010, 

$9,354,000; 2011, $6,673,000; and 2012, $3,858,000.

Significant judgment is used in determining the timing and amount of 

the accruals for probable losses, and the actual liability could differ mate-

rially from the accrued amounts.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax 

planning opportunities available in the various jurisdictions in which we 

operate. For interim financial reporting, we estimate the annual tax rate 

based on projected taxable income for the full year and record a quarterly 

income tax provision in accordance with the anticipated annual rate. As 

the year progresses, we refine the estimates of the year’s taxable income 

as new information becomes available, including year-to-date financial 

results. This continual estimation process often results in a change to our 

expected effective tax rate for the year. When this occurs, we adjust the 

income tax provision during the quarter in which the change in estimate 

occurs so that the year-to-date provision reflects the expected annual tax 

rate. Significant judgment is required in determining our effective tax rate 

and in evaluating our tax positions.

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” 

we recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of 

assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets represent items to be used as 

a tax deduction or credit in future tax returns for which we have already 

properly recorded the tax benefit in the income statement. At least quar-

terly, we assess the likelihood that the deferred tax asset balance will be 

recovered from future taxable income. We take into account such factors 

as prior earnings history, expected future earnings, carryback and carry-

forward periods, and tax strategies that could potentially enhance the 

likelihood of a realization of a deferred tax asset. To the extent recovery 

is unlikely, a valuation allowance is established against the deferred tax 

asset, increasing our income tax expense in the year such determination 

is made.

APB Opinion No. 23, “Accounting for Income Taxes, Special Areas,” 

does not require U.S. income taxes to be provided on foreign earnings 

when such earnings are indefinitely reinvested offshore. We periodically 

evaluate our investment strategies with respect to each foreign tax juris-

diction in which we operate to determine whether foreign earnings will 

be indefinitely reinvested offshore and, accordingly, whether U.S. income 

taxes should be provided when such earnings are recorded.

We adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty 

in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN 48) 

effective January 1, 2007 (see Note 18). In accordance with FIN 48, we 

recognize a tax benefit associated with an uncertain tax position when, in 

our judgment, it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained 

upon examination by a taxing authority. For a tax position that meets the 

more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, we initially and subsequently 

measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that we judge to have a 

greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement 

with a taxing authority. Our liability associated with unrecognized tax 

benefits is adjusted periodically due to changing circumstances, such as 

the progress of tax audits, case law developments and new or emerg-

ing legislation. Such adjustments are recognized entirely in the period in 

which they are identified. Our effective tax rate includes the net impact 

of changes in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits and subsequent 

adjustments as considered appropriate by management.

A number of years may elapse before a particular matter for which we 

have recorded a liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit is audited 

and finally resolved. The number of years with open tax audits varies by 

jurisdiction. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the 

timing of resolution of any particular tax matter, we believe our liability for 

unrecognized tax benefits is adequate. Favorable resolution of an unrec-

ognized tax benefit could be recognized as a reduction in our tax provision 

and effective tax rate in the period of resolution. Unfavorable settlement of 

an unrecognized tax benefit could increase the tax provision and effec-

tive tax rate and may require the use of cash in the period of resolution. 

Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits is generally presented as non-

current. However, if we anticipate paying cash within one year to settle an 

uncertain tax position, the liability is presented as current.

We classify interest and penalties recognized on the liability for unrec-

ognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

Our largest permanent item in computing both our effective tax rate 

and taxable income is the deduction allowed for percentage depletion. 

The impact of percentage depletion on the effective tax rate is reflected 

in Note 9. The deduction for percentage depletion does not necessarily 

change proportionately to changes in pretax earnings. Due to the mag-

nitude of the impact of percentage depletion on our effective tax rate 

and taxable income, a significant portion of the financial reporting risk is 

related to this estimate.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 created a new deduction for 

certain domestic production activities as described in Section 199 of the 

Internal Revenue Code. Generally, this deduction, subject to certain limi-

tations, was set at 3% for 2005 and 2006, 6% in 2007 and will remain at 

6% through 2009 and reaches 9% in 2010 and thereafter. The estimated 

impact of this deduction on the 2007, 2006 and 2005 effective tax rates 

is presented in Note 9.

For additional information regarding income taxes and our adoption of 

FIN 48, see Notes 9 and 18.

Comprehensive Income

We report comprehensive income in our Consolidated Statements of 

Shareholders’ Equity. Comprehensive income includes charges and 

credits to equity from nonowner sources. Comprehensive income com-

prises two subsets: net earnings and other comprehensive income (loss). 

Historically, other comprehensive income (loss) includes fair value adjust-

ments to cash flow hedges, minimum pension liability adjustments (prior 

to December 31, 2006), and actuarial gains or losses and prior serv-

ice costs recognized in accordance with FAS 158 (effective beginning 

December 31, 2006).

Earnings Per Share (EPS)

We report two earnings per share numbers, basic and diluted. These are 

computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted-average common 

shares outstanding (basic EPS) or weighted-average common shares 
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outstanding assuming dilution (diluted EPS), as set forth below (in thou-

sands of shares):

     2007 2006 2005

Weighted-average common 

 shares outstanding 97,036 97,577 102,179

Dilutive effect of:

 Stock options 1,903 1,758 1,448

 Other 464 442 458

Weighted-average common 

 shares outstanding, 

 assuming dilution 99,403 99,777 104,085 

All dilutive common stock equivalents are reflected in our earnings 

per share calculations. Antidilutive common stock equivalents are not 

included in our earnings per share calculations. The number of antidilutive 

common stock equivalents for the years ended December 31 are as fol-

lows (in thousands of shares):

     2007 2006 2005

Antidilutive common 

 stock equivalents 407 6  1,192 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value 

Measurements” (FAS 157), which defines fair value, establishes a frame-

work for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value 

measurements. FAS 157 applies whenever other accounting standards 

require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value; accord-

ingly, it does not expand the use of fair value in any new circumstances. 

Fair value under FAS 157 is defined as the price that would be received to 

sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The standard clarifies the 

principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market par-

ticipants would use when pricing an asset or liability. In support of this 

principle, the standard establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the 

information used to develop those assumptions. The fair value hierarchy 

gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the low-

est priority to unobservable data; for example, a reporting entity’s own 

data. Under the standard, fair value measurements would be separately 

disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. With respect to financial 

assets and liabilities, FAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 

November 15, 2007. For nonfinancial assets and liabilities, except those 

items recognized or disclosed at fair value on an annual or more frequent 

basis, FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 (FSP FAS 157-2) requires com-

panies to adopt the provisions of FAS 157 for fiscal years beginning after 

November 15, 2008. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted FAS 157 as 

of January 1, 2008 for financial assets and liabilities, and elected to defer 

our adoption of FAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities as permitted 

by FSP FAS 157-2. There were no material changes in our valuation meth-

odologies, techniques or assumptions for financial assets and liabilities as 

a result of our adoption of FAS 157 for such items. We do not expect our 

January 1, 2009 adoption of FAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities 

to have a material effect on our results of operations, financial position 

or liquidity.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employer’s 

Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, 

an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (FAS 158). 

We adopted the recognition provisions of FAS 158 as of December 31, 

2006, and as a result, recognized an increase to our noncurrent prepaid 

pension asset of $8,949,000, an increase to our noncurrent pension 

and postretirement liabilities of $11,844,000, an increase to deferred tax 

assets of $1,107,000 and a charge to the ending balance of accumulated 

other comprehensive income of $1,788,000, net of tax. In addition to the 

recognition provisions, FAS 158 requires an employer to measure the plan 

assets and benefit obligations as of the date of its year-end balance sheet. 

This requirement is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 

2008. We adopted the measurement date provision effective January 1, 2008, 

and will remeasure plan assets and benefit obligations as of that date, 

pursuant to the transition requirements of FAS 158. We estimate the 

transition adjustments will result in a decrease to noncurrent assets of 

$430,000, an increase to noncurrent liabilities of $7,120,000, a decrease 

to deferred tax liabilities of $2,193,000, a decrease to retained earnings of 

$2,004,000 and a charge to accumulated other comprehensive income, 

net of tax, of $3,353,000.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), “Business 

Combinations” [FAS 141(R)], which requires the acquirer in a business 

combination to measure all assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 

their acquisition date fair value. FAS 141(R) applies whenever an acquirer 

obtains control of one or more businesses. Additionally, the new standard 

requires that in a business combination:

•  Acquisition related costs, such as legal and due diligence costs, be 

expensed as incurred.

•  Acquirer shares issued as consideration be recorded at fair value as of 

the acquisition date.

•  Contingent consideration arrangements be included in the purchase 

price allocation at their acquisition date fair value.

•  With certain exceptions, pre-acquisition contingencies be recorded at 

fair value.

•  Negative goodwill be recognized as income rather than as a pro rata 

reduction of the value allocated to particular assets.

•  Restructuring plans be recorded in purchase accounting only if the 

requirements in FASB Statement No. 146, “Accounting for Costs 

Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” are met as of the acquisi-

tion date.

FAS 141(R) requires prospective application for business combinations 

consummated in fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008; 

we expect to adopt FAS 141(R) as of January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling 

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB 

No. 51” (FAS 160). The standard requires all entities to report noncontrol-

ling interests, sometimes referred to as minority interests, in subsidiaries 

as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Noncontrolling inter-

est under FAS 160 is defined as the portion of equity in a subsidiary not 

attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. The standard requires that 

ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the par-

ent be clearly identified and presented in the consolidated balance sheet 

within equity, but separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of con-

solidated net earnings attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling 

interest should be presented separately on the face of the consolidated 

statement of earnings. When a subsidiary is deconsolidated, any retained 
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noncontrolling equity investment in the former subsidiary should be mea-

sured at fair value, and a gain or loss recognized accordingly. FAS 160 

is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008; we 

expect to adopt FAS 160 as of January 1, 2009.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 

us to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosures 

of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial 

statements. We evaluate these estimates and judgments on an ongoing 

basis and base our estimates on historical experience, current conditions 

and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances. The results of these estimates form the basis for mak-

ing judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities as well 

as identifying and assessing the accounting treatment with respect to 

commitments and contingencies. Actual results may differ materially from 

these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Note 2 Discontinued Operations

In June 2005, we sold substantially all the assets of our Chemicals busi-

ness, known as Vulcan Chemicals, to Basic Chemicals, a subsidiary of 

Occidental Chemical Corporation. These assets consisted primarily 

of chloralkali facilities in Wichita, Kansas; Geismar, Louisiana and Port 

Edwards, Wisconsin; and the facilities of our Chloralkali joint venture 

located in Geismar. The purchaser also assumed certain liabilities relating 

to the Chemicals business, including the obligation to monitor and reme-

diate all releases of hazardous materials at or from the Wichita, Geismar 

and Port Edwards plant facilities. The decision to sell the Chemicals busi-

ness was based on our desire to focus our resources on the Construction 

Materials business.

In consideration for the sale of the Chemicals business, Basic 

Chemicals made an initial cash payment of $214,000,000. Concurrent 

with the sale transaction, we acquired the minority partner’s 49% inter-

est in the joint venture for an initial cash payment of $62,701,000, and 

conveyed such interest to Basic Chemicals. The net initial cash proceeds 

of $151,299,000 were subject to adjustments for actual working capital 

balances at the closing date, transaction costs and income taxes. In 2006 

we received additional cash proceeds of $10,202,000 related to adjust-

ments for actual working capital balances at the closing date.

Basic Chemicals has completed payment under one earn-out agree-

ment and is required to make additional payments under a separate earn-

out  agreement subject to certain conditions. The first earn-out agreement 

was based on ECU and natural gas prices during the five-year period 

beginning July 1, 2005, and was capped at $150,000,000 (ECU earn-

out or ECU derivative). During 2007, we received the final payment under 

the ECU earn-out of $22,142,000, bringing cumulative cash receipts to the 

$150,000,000 cap. The ECU earn-out was accounted for as a deriva-

tive instrument; accordingly, it was reported at fair value. Changes to the 

fair value of the ECU derivative were recorded within continuing opera-

tions pursuant to SAB Topic 5:Z:5. Proceeds under the second earn-out 

agreement are determined based on the performance of the hydro -

chloro carbon product HCC-240fa (commonly referred to as 5CP) from 

the closing of the transaction through December 31, 2012 (5CP earn-out). 

Under this earn-out agreement, cash plant margin for 5CP, as defined 

in the Asset Purchase Agreement, in excess of an annual threshold 

amount is shared equally between Vulcan and Basic Chemicals. The pri-

mary determinant of the value for this earn-out is the level of growth in 

5CP sales volume.

The net cash proceeds from the 2005 sale of the Chemicals business 

for the years ended December 31 are summarized below (in thousands 

of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Proceeds from sale of 

 Chemicals business, 

 net of cash 

 transaction fees:

 Initial proceeds from 

  Basic Chemicals $     – $      –  $214,000

 Working capital 

  adjustment received – 10,202 – 

 Transaction costs – – (4,746)

 5CP earn-out 8,418 3,856 – 

 ECU earn-out 22,142 127,858 – 

  Subtotal cash received $30,560 $141,916 $209,254

Payment for minority 

 partner’s interest in 

 consolidated Chemicals 

 joint venture:

 Initial payment for minority 

  partner’s interest $     – $      –   $ (62,701)

 Working capital 

  adjustments paid –  –  (2,471)

  Subtotal cash paid $     –  $      –  $ (65,172)

Net cash proceeds from 

 the 2005 sale of the 

 Chemicals business $30,560  $141,916  $144,082 

The carrying amounts of the ECU and 5CP earn-outs are reflected 

in accounts and notes receivable – other and other noncurrent assets 

in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The carrying 

amount of the ECU earn-out was as follows: December 31, 2007 – $0; 

December 31, 2006 – $20,213,000 (classified entirely as current) 

and December 31, 2005 – $119,350,000 (of which $102,641,000 was 

current). During 2007, we received payments of $22,142,000 under the 

ECU earn-out and recognized gains related to changes in the fair value 

of the ECU earn-out of $1,929,000 (reflected as a component of other 

income, net in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings). During 2006, 

we received payments of $127,858,000 under the ECU earn-out and rec-

ognized gains related to changes in the fair value of the ECU earn-out 

of $28,721,000 (reflected as a component of other income, net in our 

Consolidated Statements of Earnings).
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During 2007, we received a payment of $8,418,000 under the 5CP 

earn-out related to the year ended December 31, 2006. During 2006, 

we received net payments of $3,856,000 under the 5CP earn-out 

related to the period from the closing of the transaction in June 2005 

through December 31, 2005. Additionally, the final resolution during 

2006 of adjustments for working capital balances at the closing date 

resulted in an increase to the carrying amount of the 5CP earn-out 

of $4,053,000. The carrying amounts of the 5CP earn-out were as 

follows: December 31, 2007 – $20,828,000 (of which $8,799,000 was 

current); December 31, 2006 – $29,246,000 (of which $9,030,000 

was current) and December 31, 2005 – $29,049,000 (of which $3,100,000 

was current).

At the closing date, the fair value of the consideration received in con-

nection with the sale of the Chemicals business, including anticipated 

cash flows from the two earn-out agreements, was expected to exceed 

the net carrying value of the assets and liabilities sold. However, pursuant 

to SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” since the proceeds under 

the earn-out agreements were contingent in nature, no gain was recog-

nized on the Chemicals sale and the value recorded at the June 7, 2005 

closing date referable to these two earn-outs was limited to $128,167,000. 

Furthermore, under SAB Topic 5:Z:5, upward adjustments to the fair value 

of the ECU earn-out subsequent to closing, which totaled $51,070,000, 

were recorded in continuing operations, and therefore did not contrib-

ute to the gain or loss on the sale of the Chemicals business. Ultimately, 

any gain or loss on the sale of the Chemicals business will be recog-

nized to the extent future cash receipts under the 5CP earn-out related 

to the remaining six-year performance period from January 1, 2007 to 

December 31, 2012 exceed or fall short of its December 31, 2007 carrying 

amount of $20,828,000.

As a result of the 2005 sale of our Chemicals business, we incurred 

approximately $23,769,000 of pretax exit and disposal charges and trans-

action fees. These costs consist of a $7,778,000 expense under SFAS 

No. 88, “Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of 

Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits;” $10,444,000 

for employee severance expenses, primarily referable to outstanding 

share-based incentive awards; and $5,547,000 for various transaction 

fees. As of December 31, 2005, we had recognized substantially all of the 

$23,769,000 of pretax exit and disposal charges and transaction fees.

We are potentially liable for a cash transaction bonus payable in 

the future to certain key former Chemicals employees. This transaction 

bonus will be payable only if cash receipts realized from the two earn-out 

agreements described above exceed an established minimum thresh-

old. Based on our evaluation of possible cash receipts from the earn-

outs, the likely range for the contingent payments to certain key former 

Chemicals employees is between $0 and approximately $5,000,000. As 

of December 31, 2007, the calculated transaction bonus would be $0 and, 

as such, no liability for these contingent payments has been recorded.

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impair-

ment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets,” the financial results of the 

Chemicals business are classified as discontinued operations in 

the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings for all 

periods presented.

Net sales, total revenues and pretax earnings (loss) from discontin-

ued operations, excluding minority interest, are as follows (in thousands 

of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Net sales $      – $      – $339,669

Total revenues  – – 364,378

Pretax earnings (loss) (19,327) (16,624) 83,683 

The 2007 and 2006 pretax losses from discontinued operations pri-

marily reflect charges related to general and product liability costs, includ-

ing legal defense costs, and environmental remediation costs associated 

with our former Chemicals businesses. We recorded pretax charges 

including legal defense costs of $16,373,000 and $9,387,000, during 

2007 and 2006, respectively, related to a product liability claim filed by 

the city of Modesto, California (see Note 12).

Note 3 Inventories

Inventories at December 31 are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Finished products $286,591 $214,508 $170,539

Raw materials 28,330 9,967 9,602

Products in process 4,115 1,619 1,589

Operating supplies and other 37,282 17,443 16,022

Total inventories $356,318 $243,537 $197,752

The acquisition of Florida Rock accounted for $80,255,000 of the 

increase in inventory during 2007. In addition to the amounts presented in 

the table above, as of December 31, 2007, inventories of $11,595,000 were 

classified as assets held for sale as described in Note 20.

Including amounts classified as held for sale, inventories valued under 

the LIFO method totaled $269,458,000, $181,851,000 and $146,830,000 

at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. During 2007 and 

2005, reductions in LIFO inventory layers resulted in liquidations of LIFO 

inventory layers carried at lower costs prevailing in prior years as com-

pared with the cost of current-year purchases. The effect of the LIFO liqui-

dation on 2007 results was to decrease cost of goods sold by $85,000; 

increase earnings from continuing operations by $52,000 ($0.00 per 

share effect); and increase net earnings by $52,000 ($0.00 per share 

effect). The effect of the LIFO liquidation on 2005 results was to decrease 

cost of goods sold by $706,000; increase earnings from continuing 

operations by $436,000 ($0.00 per share effect); and increase net earn-

ings by $436,000 ($0.00 per share effect).

Estimated current cost exceeded LIFO cost at December 31, 2007, 2006 

and 2005 by $85,067,000, $57,979,000 and $44,315,000, respectively. We 

use the LIFO method of valuation for most of our inventories as it results in a 

better matching of costs with revenues. We provide supplemental income 

disclosures to facilitate comparisons with companies not on LIFO. The sup-

plemental income calculation is derived by tax-effecting the historic change 

in the LIFO reserve for the periods presented. If all inventories valued at 

LIFO cost had been valued under the methods (substantially average cost) 

used prior to the adoption of the LIFO method, the approximate effect on 

net earnings would have been an increase of $15,518,000 ($0.16 per share 

effect) in 2007, an increase of $9,579,000 ($0.10 per share effect) in 2006 

and an increase of $5,712,000 ($0.05 per share effect) in 2005.



59

Note 4 Property, Plant and Equipment

Balances of major classes of assets and allowances for depreciation, depletion 

and amortization at December 31 are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Land and land 

 improvements $1,429,820 $  757,157 $  713,208

Buildings 155,242 87,681 83,070

Machinery and equipment 3,782,053 2,751,459 2,499,651

Leaseholds 7,159 7,514 5,838

Deferred asset 

 retirement costs 133,043 116,595 97,233

Construction in progress 298,472 177,212 82,708

 Total  5,805,789 3,897,618 3,481,708

Less allowances for 

 depreciation, depletion 

 and amortization 2,185,695 2,028,504 1,877,741

Property, plant and 

 equipment, net $3,620,094  $1,869,114 $1,603,967

The acquisition of Florida Rock accounted for $1,508,403,000 

of the net increase in property, plant and equipment during 2007. 

In addition to the amounts presented in the table above, as of 

December 31, 2007, property, plant and equipment, net in the amount 

of $105,170,000 were classified as assets held for sale as described 

in Note 20.

We capitalized interest costs of $5,130,000 in 2007, $5,000,000 in 2006 

and $1,934,000 in 2005 with respect to qualifying construction projects. Total 

interest costs incurred before recognition of the capitalized amount were 

$53,348,000 in 2007, $31,310,000 in 2006 and $39,080,000 in 2005.

Impairment losses represent the amount by which the carrying value 

exceeded the fair value of the long-lived assets. Write-downs at operating facili-

ties resulted from decreased utilization related to changes in the marketplace; 

the valuations were based on discounted cash flow analysis. We recorded 

asset impairment losses related to long-lived assets as follows: 2007 – 

$153,000; 2006 – $226,000 and 2005 – $697,000. These impairment losses 

resulted from various write-downs related to continu ing operations.

Note 5 Derivative Instruments

We periodically use derivative instruments to reduce our exposure to inter-

est rate risk, currency exchange risk or price fluctuations on commodity 

energy sources consistent with our risk management policies.

In connection with the sale of our Chemicals business, we entered 

into an earn-out agreement that required the purchaser, Basic Chemicals, 

to make payments capped at $150,000,000 based on ECU and natural 

gas prices during the five-year period beginning July 1, 2005. We did not 

designate the ECU earn-out as a hedging instrument and, accordingly, 

gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value were recognized 

in current earnings. Further, pursuant to SAB Topic 5:Z:5, changes in fair 

value were recorded in continuing operations. During the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we recorded gains referable to the 

ECU earn-out of $1,929,000; $28,721,000 and $20,420,000, respectively. 

These gains are reflected in other income, net of other charges, in our 

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings. During 2007, we 

received the final payment under the ECU earn-out of $22,142,000, bring-

ing cumulative cash receipts to the $150,000,000 cap.

In November 2003, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a 

stated (notional) amount of $50,000,000 under which we paid the six-month 

London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a fixed spread and received a 

fixed rate of interest of 6.40% from the counterparty to the agreement. We 

designated this instrument as a highly effective fair value hedge in accor-

dance with FAS 133. Accordingly, the mark-to-market value of the hedge was 

reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets with an adjustment to record 

the underlying hedged debt at its fair value. The interest rate swap agreement 

terminated February 1, 2006, coinciding with the maturity of our 6.40% five-

year notes issued in 2001 in the amount of $240,000,000. At December 31, 

2005, the estimated fair value of this interest rate swap agreement reflected a 

projected payment of $465,000.

In December 2007, we issued $325,000,000 of 3-year floating (vari-

able) rate notes that bear interest at 3-month LIBOR plus 1.25% per 

annum. Concurrently, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement 

with a counterparty in the stated (notional) amount of $325,000,000. 

Under this agreement, we pay a fixed interest rate of 5.25% and receive 

3-month LIBOR plus 1.25% per annum from the counterparty. We have 

designated this interest rate swap agreement as a cash flow hedge of the 

interest payments on the $325,000,000 of 3-year floating rate notes. The 

interest rate swap agreement is scheduled to terminate December 15, 

2010, coinciding with the maturity of the $325,000,000 of 3-year float-

ing rate notes. The realized gains and losses upon settlement related to 

this swap agreement are reflected in interest expense concurrent with 

the hedged interest payments on the debt. At December 31, 2007, the 

estimated fair value of this interest rate swap agreement was a projected 

payment of $1,099,000.

Additionally, during 2007, we entered into fifteen forward starting interest 

rate swap agreements for a total notional amount of $1,500,000,000. The 

objective of these swap agreements was to hedge against the variability of 

future interest payments attributable to changes in interest rates on a por-

tion of the then anticipated fixed-rate debt issuance in 2007 to fund the cash 

portion of the Florida Rock acquisition. We entered into five 5-year swap 

agreements with a blended swap rate of 5.29% on an aggregate notional 

amount of $500,000,000, seven 10-year swap agreements with a blended 

swap rate of 5.51% on an aggregate notional amount of $750,000,000 and 

three 30-year swap agreements with a blended swap rate of 5.58% on an 

aggregate notional amount of $250,000,000. On December 11, 2007, upon 

the issuance of the related fixed-rate debt, we terminated and settled for a 

cash payment of $57,303,000 a portion of these forward starting swaps 

with an aggregate notional amount of $900,000,000 ($300,000,000 5-year, 

$350,000,000 10-year and $250,000,000 30-year). Pursuant to SFAS 

No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” 

(FAS 133), pretax amounts accumulated in other comprehensive loss of 

$54,460,000 as of the settlement date related to the effective portion of 

these cash flow hedges will be amortized to interest expense over the term 

of the related debt. In our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, we clas-

sified the cash paid to settle these forward starting swaps as a financ-

ing activity in accordance with SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flow,” 

and consistent with the nature and use of these derivative instruments. 

The remaining forward starting swaps were extended to August 29, 2008, 

and are composed of two 5-year swap agreements with a blended swap 

rate of 5.71% on an aggregate notional amount of $200,000,000 and four 

10-year swap agreements with a blended swap rate of 5.65% on an aggre-

gate notional amount of $400,000,000. These remaining forward starting 

swap agreements have been designated as cash flow hedges against the 

variability of future interest payments attributable to changes in interest 
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rates on anticipated fixed-rate long-term debt to be issued during 2008. 

At December 31, 2007, we recognized a liability of $41,312,000 equal to 

the fair value of these swaps (included in other noncurrent liabilities), and 

an accumulated other comprehensive loss of $22,721,000, net of tax of 

$14,857,000, equal to the highly effective portion of these swaps. 

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized a loss of 

$5,154,000 (included in other income, net) due to hedge ineffectiveness 

related to the forward-starting interest rate swap agreements. In addition, 

we recognized a loss of $1,422,000 related to the discontinuance of cash 

flow hedging on a portion of our forward starting interest rate swaps when it 

became probable that the original forecasted transactions would not occur 

by the end of the originally specified time period or within an additional 

two-month time period. There was no impact to earnings due to hedge 

ineffectiveness during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

During 2008, we expect to reclassify into earnings, as interest expense, 

approximately $3,528,000 from amounts accumulated in other compre-

hensive income as of December 31, 2007.

Note 6 Credit Facilities, Short-term Borrowings and 
Long-term Debt

Short-term borrowings at December 31 are summarized as follows (in 

thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Bank borrowings $1,260,500 $  2,500 $–

Commercial paper 831,000 196,400 –

Total short-term borrowings $2,091,500  $198,900 $–

Short-term borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2007 of 

$2,091,500,000 consisted of $1,260,500,000 of bank borrowings having 

maturities ranging from 2 to 22 days, interest rates ranging from 4.80% to 

5.25% and a weighted-average interest rate of 4.88% and $831,000,000 

of commercial paper having maturities ranging from 2 to 28 days, inter-

est rates ranging from 4.85% to 5.50% and a weighted-average interest 

rate of 4.92%. We plan to issue $600,000,000 to $800,000,000 of long-

term debt in 2008. Until that time, we plan to continue to utilize our bank 

lines of credit as liquidity back-up for outstanding commercial paper or 

draw on the bank lines to access LIBOR-based short-term loans to fund 

our borrowing requirements. Short-term borrowings outstanding as of 

December 31, 2006 of $198,900,000 consisted of $2,500,000 of bank 

borrowings at 5.575% that matured January 2007 and $196,400,000 

of commercial paper having maturities ranging from 2 to 36 days and 

interest rates ranging from 5.28% to 5.36%. There were no short-term 

borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2005. Periodically, we issue 

commercial paper for general corporate purposes, including working 

capital requirements. We plan to continue this practice from time to time 

as circumstances warrant.

Our policy is to maintain committed credit facilities at least equal 

to our outstanding commercial paper. Unsecured bank lines of credit 

totaling $2,805,000,000 were maintained at the end of 2007, of which 

$1,285,000,000 expires November 14, 2008, $20,000,000 expires 

January 30, 2008 (subsequently refinanced) and $1,500,000,000 

expires November 16, 2012. Of the $1,285,000,000 that expires 

November 14, 2008, we expect to renew $500,000,000. As of December 31, 

2007, $1,260,500,000 of the lines of credit was drawn. Interest rates are 

determined at the time of borrowing based on current market conditions.

All lines of credit extended to us in 2007, 2006 and 2005 were based 

solely on a commitment fee; thus, no compensating balances were 

required. In the normal course of business, we maintain balances for 

which we are credited with earnings allowances. To the extent the earn-

ings allowances are not sufficient to fully compensate banks for the serv-

ices they provide, we pay the fee equivalent for the differences.

With the exception of $5,327,000 of long-term debt assumed with 

the November 2007 acquisition of Florida Rock, all our debt obligations, 

both short-term borrowings and long-term debt, are unsecured as of 

December 31, 2007.

Long-term debt at December 31 is summarized as follows (in thou-

sands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

3-year floating notes 
 issued 2007 $  325,000 $      – $      –

5.60% 5-year notes 
 issued 20071 299,471 – –

6.40% 10-year notes 
 issued 20072 349,808 – –

7.15% 30-year notes 
 issued 20073 249,305 – –

6.40% 5-year notes 
 issued 20014 – – 239,535

6.00% 10-year notes 
 issued 1999 250,000 250,000 250,000

Private placement notes 48,844 49,335 82,209

Medium-term notes 21,000 21,000 21,000

Industrial revenue bonds 17,550 – –

Other notes 4,031 2,359 2,715

Total debt excluding 
 short-term borrowings $1,565,009  $322,694 $595,459 

Less current maturities 
 of long-term debt 35,181 630 272,067

Total long-term debt $1,529,828 $322,064 $323,392 

Estimated fair value 

 of long-term debt $1,548,084 $332,611 $339,291

1  Includes a decrease in valuation for unamortized discounts of $529 thousand as of 

December 31, 2007. The effective interest rate for these 5-year notes is 6.58%.

2  Includes a decrease in valuation for unamortized discounts of $192 thousand as 

of December 31, 2007. The effective interest rate for these 10-year notes is 7.39%.

3  Includes a decrease in valuation for unamortized discounts of $695 thousand as of 

December 31, 2007. The effective interest rate for these 30-year notes is 8.04%.

4  Includes a decrease in valuation for the fair value of interest rate swaps of $465 thousand as 

of December 31, 2005.

The estimated fair value amounts of long-term debt presented in the 

table above have been determined by discounting expected future cash 

flows based on interest rates on U.S. Treasury bills, notes or bonds, as 

appropriate. The fair value estimates are based on information available to 

management as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Although man-

agement is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the esti-

mated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively 

revalued since those dates.
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Scheduled debt payments during 2007 were composed of small mis-

cellaneous notes that matured at various dates. Scheduled debt pay-

ments during 2006 included $240,000,000 (listed in the table above net 

of the $465,000 decrease for the interest rate swap) in February to retire 

the 6.40% 5-year notes issued in 2001 and $32,000,000 in December 

to retire private placement notes issued in 1996. Scheduled debt pay-

ments during 2005 included $2,000,000 in November to retire an 8.07% 

medium-term note issued in 1991.

To replace a portion of the short-term borrowings we incurred to par-

tially fund the cash portion of the Florida Rock acquisition (see Note 20), 

we accessed the public debt market in December 2007 by issuing 

$1,225,000,000 of long-term notes in four related series (tranches), as fol-

lows: $325,000,000 of 3-year floating rate notes, $300,000,000 of 5-year 

5.60% coupon notes, $350,000,000 of 10-year 6.40% coupon notes and 

$250,000,000 of 30-year 7.15% coupon notes. Concurrent with the issu-

ance of the notes, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement on 

the $325,000,000 3-year floating rate notes to convert them to a fixed 

interest rate of 5.25%. These notes are presented in the table above net 

of discounts from par in the amounts of $0, $529,000, $192,000 and 

$695,000, respectively. These discounts and the debt issuance costs of 

the notes are being amortized using the effective interest method over the 

respective lives of the notes. The effective interest rates for these notes, 

including the effects of above mentioned interest rate swap agreement 

and the settlement of the forward starting interest rate swap agree-

ments (see Note 5), are 5.41%, 6.58%, 7.39% and 8.04% for the 3-year, 

5-year, 10-year and 30-year notes, respectively.

Additionally, as a result of the November 2007 Florida Rock acquisi-

tion, we assumed their existing debt as follows: $17,550,000 of variable-

rate tax-exempt industrial revenue bonds, unsecured notes in the amount 

of $592,000 as of December 31, 2007 and secured notes in the amount of 

$1,777,000 as of December 31, 2007.

During 1999, we accessed the public debt market by issuing 

$500,000,000 of 5-year and 10-year notes in two related series (tranches) 

of $250,000,000 each. The 5.75% 5-year coupon notes matured in 

April 2004 and the 6.00% 10-year notes mature in April 2009.

In 1999, we purchased all the outstanding common shares of CalMat 

Co. The private placement notes were issued by CalMat in December 1996 

in a series of four tranches at interest rates ranging from 7.19% to 7.66%. 

Principal payments on the notes began in December 2003 and end in 

December 2011.

During 1991, we issued $81,000,000 of medium-term notes ranging 

in maturity from 3 to 30 years, and in interest rates from 7.59% to 8.85%. 

The $21,000,000 in medium-term notes outstanding as of December 31, 

2007 have a weighted-average maturity of 7.2 years with a weighted-

 average interest rate of 8.85%.

As stated above, during 2007 we assumed $17,550,000 of vari-

able-rate tax-exempt industrial revenue bonds with the acquisition of 

Florida Rock. These bonds mature as follows: $2,250,000 maturing 

June 2012, $1,300,000 maturing January 2021 and $14,000,000 matur-

ing November 2022. The first two bond maturities are collateralized by 

certain property, plant and equipment. The remaining $14,000,000 of 

bonds are backed by a letter of credit. 

Other notes of $4,031,000 as of December 31, 2007 were issued at 

various times to acquire land or businesses.

The aggregate principal payments of long-term debt, including cur-

rent maturities, for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2007 are: 

2008 – $35,164,000; 2009 – $250,400,000; 2010 – $325,375,000; 2011 – 

$20,235,000; and 2012 – $302,443,000.

The aggregate interest payments of long-term debt, including cur-

rent maturities for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2007 are: 

2008 – $93,631,000; 2009 – $84,734,000; 2010 – $77,211,000; 2011 – 

$60,146,000; and 2012 – $58,528,000.

Our debt agreements do not subject us to contractual restrictions 

with regard to working capital or the amount we may expend for cash 

dividends and purchases of our stock. The percentage of consoli-

dated debt to total capitalization (total debt as a percentage of total 

capital), as defined in our bank credit facility agreements, must be less 

than 65%. Our total debt as a percentage of total capital was 49.3% as 

of December 31, 2007; 20.6% as of December 31, 2006; and 21.8% as of 

December 31, 2005. The 2007 increase resulted primarily from borrow-

ings to fund the November 2007 Florida Rock acquisition.

Note 7 Operating Leases

Total rental expense from continuing operations under operating leases 

primarily for machinery and equipment, exclusive of rental payments 

made under leases of one month or less, is summarized as follows (in 

thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Minimum rentals $28,674 $28,364 $22,758

Contingent rentals (based 

 principally on usage) 33,904 33,021 26,372

Total   $62,578  $61,385 $49,130

Future minimum operating lease payments under all leases with ini-

tial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year, exclu-

sive of mineral leases, as of December 31, 2007 are payable as follows: 

2008 – $21,697,000; 2009 – $24,107,000; 2010 – $15,609,000; 2011 – 

$13,686,000; 2012 – $12,519,000; and total $33,064,000 thereafter. 

Lease agreements frequently include renewal options and require that we 

pay for utilities, taxes, insurance and maintenance expense. Options to 

purchase are also included in some lease agreements.

Note 8 Accrued Environmental Costs

Our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 include accrued 

environmental remediation costs as follows (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Construction Materials $4,086 $ 7,792 $5,164

Retained from former

 Chemicals businesses 5,670 5,602 4,380

Total   $9,756  $13,394 $9,544

The long-term portion of the reserves noted above is included in 

other noncurrent liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance 

Sheets and amounted to $6,324,000, $9,873,000 and $7,417,000 at 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The short-term portion 



62 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

of these reserves is included in other accrued liabilities in the accompany-

ing Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The accrued environmental remediation costs in the Construction 

Materials business relate primarily to the former CalMat and Tarmac facili-

ties acquired in 1999 and 2000, respectively. The balances noted above 

for Chemicals relate to retained environmental remediation costs from the 

2003 sale of the Performance Chemicals business and the 2005 sale of 

the Chloralkali business.

Note 9 Income Taxes

The components of earnings from continuing operations before income 

taxes are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Domestic $643,350 $678,080 $456,614

Foreign 24,152 25,411 24,081

Total   $667,502 $703,491  $480,695 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following (in thou-

sands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Current

Federal $172,149 $178,468 $108,457

State and local 21,894 36,695 17,974

Foreign 5,888 5,931 5,819

Total    199,931 221,094 132,250

Deferred

Federal 6,601 627 1,953

State and local (488) 2,254 3,155

Foreign (1,628) (662) (791)

Total   4,485 2,219 4,317

Total provision $204,416  $223,313  $136,567 

The effective income tax rate varied from the federal statutory income 

tax rate due to the following:

     2007 2006 2005

Federal statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase (decrease) in tax 

 rate resulting from:

 Depletion (4.8) (4.6) (5.9)

 State and local income taxes, 

  net of federal income 

  tax benefit 2.7 3.5 3.4

 U.S. Production 

  Activities Deduction (1.0) (0.8) (0.7)

 Provision for uncertain tax 

  positions, prior year tax 

  liabilities and refund claims (0.1) (0.2) (2.7)

 Other (1.2) (1.2) (0.7)

Effective tax rate 30.6% 31.7% 28.4%

Deferred income taxes on the balance sheet result from temporary 

differences between the amount of assets and liabilities recognized for 

financial reporting and tax purposes. The components of the net deferred 

income tax liability at December 31 are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Deferred tax assets related to:

 Postretirement benefits $ 44,392 $ 30,049 $ 29,356

 Accruals for asset retirement 

  obligations and 

  environmental accruals 27,024 10,788 22,379

 Accounts receivable, 

  principally allowance for 

  doubtful accounts 3,110 1,429 1,808

 Inventory 1,593 11,989 8,748

 Deferred compensation, 

  vacation pay and incentives 29,826 25,221 30,322

 Interest rate swaps 36,558 – –

 Self-insurance reserves 23,909 17,589 16,618

 Other 13,380 18,669 2,455

  Total deferred tax assets 179,792 115,734 111,686

Deferred tax liabilities related to:

 Fixed assets 681,453 300,936 301,726

 Pensions 39,947 26,665 22,576

 Intangible assets 63,526 34,697 27,489

 Other 22,174 15,762 14,610

  Total deferred tax liabilities 807,100 378,060 366,401

Net deferred tax liability $627,308  $262,326  $254,715 

The above amounts are reflected in the accompanying Consolidated 

Balance Sheets as of December 31 as follows (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Deferred income taxes:

 Current assets $ (44,210) $ (25,579) $ (23,046)

 Deferred liabilities 671,518 287,905 277,761

Net deferred tax liability $627,308 $262,326 $254,715

The December 31, 2007 net deferred tax liability reflects a $364,982,000 

increase from the prior year. This change includes the effect of our 

November 16, 2007 acquisition of Florida Rock. As of the acquisition, we 

recognized a deferred tax liability of $395,612,000, reflecting the tempo-

rary differences between book and tax basis, of which $383,540,000 was 

referable to fixed assets. 
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We adopted FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, 

an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,” on January 1, 2007 as 

discussed in Note 18. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain tax 

positions and the resulting unrecognized income tax benefits as dis-

cussed in our accounting policy for income taxes (Note 1, page 55). The 

change in the unrecognized income tax benefits from January 1, 2007 to 

December 31, 2007 is reconciled below (in thousands of dollars):

     Gross Unrecognized

     Income Tax Benefits

Unrecognized income tax benefits as of 

 January 1, 2007   $11,760

 Increases for tax positions related to:

  Prior years 6,318

  Current year 2,163

 Decreases for tax positions related to:

  Prior years (2,675)

 Settlements with taxing authorities (376)

 Expiration of applicable statute of limitations  (5,660)

Unrecognized income tax benefits as of 

 December 31, 2007    $11,530 

We classify interest and penalties recognized on the liability for unrec-

ognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The total amount of inter-

est and penalties recognized as income tax expense during 2007 was 

$1,990,000. The balance of accrued interest and penalties included in 

our liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2007 and 

January 1, 2007 amounted to $4,050,000 and $2,060,000, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, our total liability for unrecognized tax ben-

efits amounts to $11,530,000, of which $9,540,000 would affect the effec-

tive tax rate if recognized.

We are routinely examined by various taxing authorities. The U.S. 

federal statute of limitations expired during the third quarter of 2007 

for our 2002 and 2003 tax years resulting in a $5,660,000 decrease in 

our liability, with no significant tax decrease in any single tax position. 

We anticipate no single tax position generating a significant increase or 

decrease in our liability for unrecognized tax benefits within 12 months of 

this reporting date.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various state jurisdic-

tions and two foreign jurisdiction. Generally, we are not subject to changes 

in income taxes by any taxing jurisdiction for the years prior to 2002.

We have not recognized deferred income taxes on $25,526,000 of 

undistributed earnings from one of our international subsidiaries, since 

we consider such earnings as indefinitely reinvested. If we distribute the 

subject earnings, in the form of dividends, then the distribution would be 

subject to U.S. income taxes. The amount of the deferred income taxes 

that would be recognized is $8,951,000.

Note 10 Benefit Plans

The measurement date for our pension and other postretirement ben-

efit plans is November 30. In 2005, we accelerated the date for actuarial 

measurement of our obligation from December 31 to November 30. We 

believe that the one-month acceleration of the measurement date is a 

preferred change as it allows us more time to review the completeness 

and accuracy of actuarial measurements, which improves our internal 

control procedures. The effect of the change in measurement date on 

the respective obligations and assets of the plans did not have a material 

cumulative effect on annual expense or accrued benefit cost.

In the following tables, the use of “n/a” signifies “not applicable.”

Pension Plans

We sponsor four funded, noncontributory defined benefit pension plans 

including one plan assumed with the November 16, 2007 acquisition 

of Florida Rock. This assumed plan is closed to new participants. The 

remaining three plans cover substantially all employees hired prior to 

July 15, 2007, other than those covered by union-administered plans. 

Normal retirement age is 65, but the plans contain provisions for earlier 

retirement. Benefits for the Salaried Plan are based on salaries or wages 

and years of serv ice; the Construction Materials Hourly Plan and the 

Chemicals Hourly Plan provide benefits equal to a flat dollar amount for 

each year of serv ice. Effective July 15, 2007, we amended our defined 

benefit pension plans and our defined contribution 401K plans to no 

longer accept new participants. Existing participants continue to accrue 

benefits under these plans. Salaried and non-union hourly employees 

hired on or after July 15, 2007 are eligible for a single defined contribution 

401K/Profit-Sharing plan rather than both a defined benefit and a defined 

contribution plan. This amendment had no effect on our existing pension 

benefit obligation or 2007 net periodic benefit cost.

Additionally, we sponsor unfunded, nonqualified pension plans, includ-

ing one such plan assumed in the Florida Rock acquisition, that are 

included in the tables below. The projected benefit obligation, 

accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of assets for these 

plans were: $57,140,000, $40,892,000, and $0 at December 31, 2007, 

$37,081,000, $31,351,000 and $0 at December 31, 2006 and 

$30,642,000, $27,048,000 and $0 at December 31, 2005. Approxi-

mately $8,900,000 of the December 31, 2007 obligation relates to exist-

ing Florida Rock retirees receiving benefits under the assumed plan.
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The following table sets forth the combined funded status of the plans 

and their reconciliation with the related amounts recognized in our con-

solidated financial statements at December 31 (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Change in Benefit Obligation 

Benefit obligation at 
 beginning of year $579,641 $535,686 $524,332

Acquisition  36,921 – –

Service cost 20,705 18,322 20,013

Interest cost 34,683 32,122 30,706

Amendments (828) (1,441) (1,094)

Discontinued operations – – (18,169)

Actuarial (gain)/loss (5,322) 26,531 7,325

Benefits paid (29,530) (31,579) (27,427)

Benefit obligation at 
 end of year $636,270 $579,641 $535,686

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of assets at 
 beginning of year $611,184 $557,036 $519,550

Acquisition  25,802 – –

Actual return on plan assets 70,483 84,209 35,897

Employer contribution 1,808 1,518 29,016

Benefits paid (29,530) (31,579) (27,427)

Fair value of assets at 
 end of year $679,747  $611,184  $557,036

Funded status $ 43,477 $ 31,543 $ 21,350

Unrecognized net 
 actuarial loss n/a n/a 6,967

Unrecognized prior 
 service cost n/a n/a 6,448

Net amount recognized $ 43,477 $ 31,543  $ 34,765

Amounts Recognized in 
 the Consolidated 
 Balance Sheets

Noncurrent assets (2007 and 
 2006)/Prepaid benefit 
 cost (2005) $102,446 $ 68,517 $ 61,703

Current liabilities (2,978) (1,584) –

Noncurrent liabilities (2007 
 and 2006)/Accrued benefit 
 liability (2005) (55,991) (35,390) (30,918)

Intangible asset n/a n/a 396

Accumulated other 
 comprehensive loss n/a n/a 3,584

Net amount recognized $ 43,477 $ 31,543 $ 34,765

Amounts Recognized in 
 Accumulated Other 
 Comprehensive Income

Net actuarial gain $ (40,500) $  (9,389) n/a

Prior service cost 2,356 3,939 n/a

Minimum pension liability n/a n/a $  3,584

Total amount recognized $ (38,144) $  (5,450) $  3,584

Effective January 1, 2006, retirees from the salaried pension plan 

who retired on or before January 1, 2004 were granted a cost-of-living 

increase, with a maximum increase of 15%. As it is no longer our intention 

to grant cost-of-living increases, no further increases are assumed for 

determining future pension expense. The effect of this change is reflected 

as an amendment in the 2005 change in benefit obligation table above.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans 

was $582,589,000 at December 31, 2007; $533,906,000 at December 31, 

2006; and $496,806,000 at December 31, 2005. Approximately $35,900,000 

of the December 31, 2007 accumulated benefit obligation is a result of the 

Florida Rock acquisition.

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit 

cost, amounts recognized in other comprehensive income and weighted-

average assumptions of the plans at December 31 (amounts in thou-

sands, except percentages):

     2007 2006 2005

Components of Net Periodic 
 Pension Benefit Cost

Service cost $ 20,705 $ 18,322 $ 20,013

Interest cost 34,683 32,122 30,706

Expected return on 
 plan assets (46,517) (43,970) (42,065)

Amortization of prior 
 service cost 755 1,067 2,211

Amortization of actuarial loss  1,822 1,737 1,318

Net periodic pension 
 benefit cost $ 11,448  $  9,278 $ 12,183

Changes in Plan Assets and  
 Benefit Obligations 
 Recognized in Other 
 Comprehensive Income

Net actuarial gain $(29,287)

Prior service credit (829)

Reclassification of actuarial 
 loss to net periodic pension 
 benefit cost (1,822)

Reclassification of prior service 
 cost to net periodic 
 pension benefit cost (755)

Amount recognized in other 
 comprehensive income $(32,693)

Assumptions 
 Weighted-average 
 assumptions used to 
 determine benefit  
 obligation at November 30

Discount rate 6.45% 5.70% 5.75%

Rate of compensation increase 
 (for salary-related plans):

  Inflation 2.25% 2.25% 2.25%

  Merit/Productivity 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Total rate of 
 compensation increase 4.75% 4.75% 4.75%

Weighted-average 
 assumptions used to 
 determine net periodic 
 benefit cost for years 
 ended December 31

Discount rate 5.70% 5.75% 5.40%

Expected return on assets 8.25% 8.25% 8.25%

Rate of compensation increase 
 (for salary-related plans):

  Inflation 2.25% 2.25% 2.25%

  Merit/Productivity 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Total rate of 
 compensation increase 4.75% 4.75% 4.75%
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During 2006, we recognized a settlement charge of $826,000 rep-

resenting an acceleration of unrecognized losses due to lump-sum 

payments to certain retirees from our former Chemicals business. The 

disposition of the Chloralkali business resulted in a curtailment loss of 

$1,533,000 in 2005.

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost that will 

be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into 

net periodic pension benefit cost during 2008 are $1,229,000 and 

$464,000, respectively.

Plan assets are composed primarily of marketable domestic and inter-

national equity securities, corporate and government debt securities and 

other specialty investments. Our pension plan asset allocation ranges for 

2008 and asset allocation percentages at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005 are presented below:

     Asset Percentage of

     Allocation Ranges Plan Assets at December 31

Asset Category 2008 2007 2006 2005

Equity securities 50%–77% 62% 66% 72%

Debt securities 15%–27% 18% 17% 20%

Real estate –  – – –

Other  10%–25% 20% 17% 8%

Total     100% 100% 100%

Equity securities include domestic equities in the Russell 3000 Index 

and foreign equities in the Europe, Australia and Far East (EAFE) and 

International Finance Corporation (IFC) Emerging Market Indices. Debt 

securities include domestic debt instruments, while the other asset cat-

egory includes investments in venture capital, buyout funds, mezzanine 

debt private partnerships and an interest in a commodity index fund as 

well as cash reserves.

We establish our pension investment policy by evaluating asset/

liability studies periodically performed by our consultants. These studies 

estimate trade-offs between expected returns on our investments and the 

variability in anticipated cash contributions to fund our pension liabilities. 

Our policy accepts a relatively high level of variability in potential pension 

fund contributions in exchange for higher expected returns on our invest-

ments and lower expected future contributions. We believe this policy is 

prudent given our strong pension funding and cash flows. Further, this 

policy is reflective of our practice of maintaining a strong balance sheet 

over time.

Our current strategy for implementing this policy is to invest a rela-

tively high proportion in publicly traded equities, a moderate amount in 

long-term publicly traded debt and a relatively smaller amount in private, 

non liquid opportunities for higher returns, such as venture capital, com-

modities, buyouts and mezzanine debt.

The policy, set by the Board’s Finance and Pension Funds Committee, 

is articulated through guideline ranges and targets for each asset cat-

egory: domestic equities, foreign equities, bonds, specialty investments 

and cash reserves. Management implements the strategy within these 

guidelines and reviews the financial results quarterly, while the Finance 

and Pension Funds Committee reviews them semiannually.

Assumptions regarding our expected return on plan assets are based 

primarily on judgments made by management and the Board committee. 

These judgments take into account the expectations of our pension plan 

consultants and actuaries and our investment advisors, and the opinions 

of market professionals. We base our expected return on long-term invest-

ment expectations. Accordingly, the expected return has remained 8.25% 

since our 1986 adoption of FAS 87 and has not varied due to short-term 

results above or below our long-term expectations.

Total employer contributions for the pension plans are presented 

below (in thousands of dollars):

       Pension

Employer Contributions

2005    $29,100

2006    1,433

2007     1,808

2008 (estimated)   2,978

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, 

as appropriate, are expected to be paid (in thousands of dollars):

       Pension

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

2008    $ 29,586

2009    31,691

2010     33,946

2011     36,105

2012     38,731

2013–2017   233,765

Certain of our hourly employees in unions are covered by multi-

employer defined benefit pension plans. Contributions to these plans 

approximated $8,368,000 in 2007, $7,352,000 in 2006 and $5,825,000 

in 2005. The actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits and 

net assets available for benefits for employees in the union-administered 

plans are not determinable from available information. A total of 18% of 

our hourly labor force were covered by collective bargaining agreements. 

Of our hourly workforce covered by collective bargaining agreements, 8% 

were covered by agreements that expire in 2008.

In addition to the pension plans noted above, we have two unfunded 

supplemental retirement plans. The accrued costs for these supplemen-

tal retirement plans were $1,104,000 at December 31, 2007; $1,201,000 at 

December 31, 2006; and $1,281,000 at December 31, 2005.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 (PPA), enacted on August 17, 

2006, significantly changes the funding requirements after 2007 for 

single-employer defined benefit pension plans, among other provisions. 

Funding requirements under the PPA will largely be based on a plan’s 

funded status, with faster amortization of any shortfalls or surpluses. 

We do not believe this new legislation will have a material impact on the 

funding requirements of our defined benefit pension plans during 2008. 

The potential impact on the funding requirements of the pension plan 

assumed in the Florida Rock acquisition is currently under review.

Postretirement Plans

In addition to pension benefits, we provide certain healthcare benefits 

and life insurance for some retired employees. Effective July 15, 2007, we 

amended our salaried postretirement healthcare coverage to increase the 

eligibility age for early retirement coverage to age 62, unless certain grand-

fathered provisions were met. This change reduced the post retirement 

plan benefit obligation by $7,170,000 as of July 15, 2007, and resulted in 
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a reduction to net periodic benefit cost of $1,042,000 for the remainder 

of 2007. Substantially all our salaried employees and, where applicable, 

hourly employees may become eligible for those benefits if they reach a 

qualifying age and meet certain service requirements while working for 

us. Generally, Company-provided healthcare benefits terminate when 

covered individuals become eligible for Medicare benefits, become eligi-

ble for other group insurance coverage or reach age 65, whichever occurs 

first. The Florida Rock acquisition increased the postretirement plan ben-

efit obligation as of December 31, 2007 by approximately $13,800,000 

and increased the projected 2008 net periodic benefit cost by approxi-

mately $2,100,000.

The following table sets forth the combined funded status of the plans 

and their reconciliation with the related amounts recognized in our con-

solidated financial statements at December 31 (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation at 

 beginning of year $  90,805 $ 89,735 $100,878

Acquisition 13,759 – –

Service cost 4,096 3,617 4,188

Interest cost 5,483 4,760 5,160

Amendments (7,170) (82) –

Discontinued operations – – (19,604)

Actuarial (gain) loss 6,123 (101) 5,116

Benefits paid (6,942) (7,124) (6,003)

Benefit obligation at 

 end of year $ 106,154 $ 90,805 $ 89,735

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of assets at 

 beginning of year $       – $      – $      –

Actual return on plan assets  – – –

Fair value of assets at 

 end of year $       – $      – $      –

Funded status $(106,154) $(90,805) $(89,735)

Unrecognized net 

 actuarial loss n/a n/a 15,410

Unrecognized prior 

 service credit n/a n/a (767)

Net amount recognized $(106,154) $(90,805) $(75,092)

Amounts Recognized in 

 the Consolidated 

 Balance Sheets

Current liabilities $  (6,966) $ (5,497) $ (5,555)

Noncurrent liabilities 

  (2007 and 2006)/

Accrued postretirement 

benefits (2005) (99,188) (85,308) (69,537)

Net amount recognized $(106,154) $(90,805) $(75,092)

Amounts Recognized in 

 Accumulated Other 

 Comprehensive Income

Net actuarial loss $  19,485 $ 14,272 n/a

Prior service (credit) cost  (7,375) (680) n/a

Total amount recognized $  12,110 $ 13,592 n/a

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic 

benefit cost, amounts recognized in other comprehensive income, 

weighted- average assumptions and assumed trend rates of the plans at 

December 31 (amounts in thousands, except percentages):

     2007 2006 2005

Components of Net 

  Periodic Postretirement 

Benefit Cost

Service cost $ 4,096 $3,617 $ 4,188

Interest cost  5,483 4,760 5,160

Expected return on 

 plan assets  – – –

Amortization of prior 

 service credit (475) (168) (167)

Amortization of actuarial loss 910 478 1,215

Net periodic postretirement 

 benefit cost $10,014 $8,687 $10,396

Changes in Plan Assets 

 and Benefit Obligations 

 Recognized in Other 

 Comprehensive Income

Net actuarial loss $ 6,123  

Prior service credit (7,170)  

Reclassification of actuarial 

 loss to net periodic 

 postretirement 

 benefit cost (910)  

Reclassification of prior 

  service credit to net 

periodic postretirement 

benefit cost 475  

Amount recognized in other 

 comprehensive income $ (1,482)  

Assumptions

Weighted-average 

  assumptions used to 

determine benefit 

obligation at November 30

Discount rate 6.10% 5.50% 5.50%

Weighted-average 

  assumptions used to 

determine net periodic 

benefit cost for years 

ended December 31

Discount rate 5.50% 5.50% 5.31%

Expected return on assets n/a n/a n/a

Assumed Healthcare Cost 

 Trend Rates at December 31

Healthcare cost trend rate 

 assumed for next year 9% 9% 9%

Rate to which the cost trend 

 rate gradually declines 5.25% 5% 5%

Year that the rate reaches the 

 rate it is assumed to maintain 2012 2011 2010
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The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service credit that will 

be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net 

periodic postretirement benefit cost during 2008 are $750,000 and 

$839,000, respectively.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on 

the amounts reported for the healthcare plans. A one-percentage-point 

change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would have the follow-

ing effects (in thousands of dollars):

     One-percentage-point One-percentage-point

     Increase Decrease

Effect on total of service 

 and interest cost $1,057 $  (917)

Effect on postretirement 

 benefit obligation 9,462 (8,379)

The disposition of the Chloralkali business resulted in a curtailment 

gain of $176,000 during 2005.

Total employer contributions for the postretirement plans are pre-

sented below (in thousands of dollars):

      Postretirement

Employer Contributions

2005    $6,003

2006    6,566

2007     6,933

2008 (estimated)   6,966

The employer contributions shown above are equal to the cost of ben-

efits during the year. The plans are not funded and are not subject to any 

regulatory funding requirements.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, 

as appropriate, are expected to be paid (in thousands of dollars):

      Postretirement

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

2008    $ 6,966

2009    7,807

2010     8,538

2011     9,207

2012     9,633

2013–2017   56,077

Contributions by participants to the postretirement benefit plans were 

$1,147,000, $857,000 and $716,000 for the years ended December 31, 

2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits Assumptions

During 2007, we reviewed our assumptions related to the discount rate, 

the expected return on plan assets, the rate of compensation increase 

(for salary-related plans) and the rate of increase in the per capita cost of 

covered healthcare benefits.

In selecting the discount rate, we consider fixed-income security 

yields, specifically high-quality bonds. At November 30, 2007, the dis-

count rate for our plans increased to 6.45% from 5.70% at November 30, 

2006 for purposes of determining our liability under FAS 87 (pensions) 

and increased to 6.10% from 5.50% at November 30, 2006 for purposes 

of determining our liability under FAS 106 (other postretirement benefits). 

An analysis of the duration of plan liabilities and the yields for correspond-

ing high-quality bonds is used in the selection of the discount rate.

In estimating the expected return on plan assets, we consider past 

performance and future expectations for the types of investments held 

by the plan as well as the expected long-term allocation of plan assets to 

these investments. At November 30, 2007, the expected return on plan 

assets remained 8.25%.

In projecting the rate of compensation increase, we consider past 

experience in light of movements in inflation rates. At November 30, 2007, 

the inflation component of the assumed rate of compensation remained 

2.25%. In addition, based on future expectations of merit and produc-

tivity increases, the weighted-average component of the salary increase 

assumption remained 2.50%.

In selecting the rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered 

healthcare benefits, we consider past performance and forecasts of 

future healthcare cost trends. At November 30, 2007, our assumed rate 

of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits increased 

to 9.0% for 2008, decreasing each year until reaching 5.25% in 2012 and 

remaining level thereafter.

Defined Contribution Plans

We sponsor six defined contribution plans including two plans assumed 

with the acquisition of Florida Rock. Substantially all salaried and non-

union hourly employees are eligible to be covered by at least one of these 

plans. As stated above, effective July 15, 2007, we amended our defined 

benefit pension plans and our defined contribution 401K plans to no 

 longer accept new participants. Existing participants continue to accrue 

benefits under these plans. Salaried and nonunion hourly employees 

hired on or after July 15, 2007 are eligible for a single defined contribu-

tion 401K/Profit-Sharing plan rather than both a defined benefit and a 

defined contribution plan. Expense recognized in connection with these 

plans totaled $10,713,000, $12,017,000 and $10,477,000 for 2007, 2006 

and 2005, respectively.

Impact of Sale of the Chemicals Business

In connection with the sale of the Chemicals business, as described in 

Note 2, we retained the accumulated benefit obligation for the Chemicals 

Hourly Pension Plan, as all active participants ceased employment with 

the Company. We also retained the accumulated benefit obligation for 

salaried employees who ceased participation in the Salaried Pension Plan 

as a result of their termination. Both of these accumulated benefit obliga-

tions are fully funded by assets held in our Master Pension Trust.

Additionally, we retained the accumulated benefit obligation for any 

unfunded, nonqualified pension plans related to Chemicals salaried 

employees who ceased participation as a result of their termination. 

The retention of the unfunded accumulated benefit obligation for post -

retirement plans depended on whether the terminated employee reached 

a qualifying age and met certain service requirements prior to termination.
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As a result of the divestiture, our future pension and postretirement 

obligations referable to the divested operations were reduced as of 

December 31, 2005 by approximately $18.2 million and $19.6 million, 

respectively. For the full year 2005, the sale reduced pension and other 

postretirement benefits expense approximately $2.1 million and $1.6 mil-

lion, respectively.

Note 11 Incentive Plans

Share-based Compensation Plans

Our 1996 Long-term Incentive Plan expired effective May 1, 2006. Effec-

tive May 12, 2006, our shareholders approved the 2006 Omnibus Long-

term Incentive Plan (Plan), which authorizes the granting of stock options 

and other types of share-based awards to key salaried employees and 

non-employee directors. The maximum number of shares that may be 

issued under the Plan is 5,400,000.

Deferred Stock Units – Deferred stock units were granted to executive 

officers and key employees from 2001 through 2005. These awards vest 

ratably in years 6 through 10 following the date of grant, accrue divi-

dend equivalents starting one year after grant, carry no voting rights and 

become payable upon vesting. A single deferred stock unit entitles the 

recipient to one share of common stock upon vesting. Vesting is acceler-

ated upon retirement at age 62 or older, death, disability or change of 

control as defined in the award agreement. Nonvested units are forfeited 

upon termination of employment for any other reason. Expense provisions 

referable to these awards amounted to $1,371,000 in 2007, $1,142,000 in 

2006 and $1,167,000 in 2005.

The fair value of deferred stock units is estimated as of the date of grant 

based on the market price of our stock on the grant date. Compensation 

cost is recognized in net earnings ratably over the 10-year maximum vest-

ing life during which employees perform related services. For awards that 

may be granted on or after January 1, 2006, expense recognition would 

be accelerated to the retirement eligible date for individuals meeting the 

requirements for immediate vesting of awards upon reaching retirement 

age. The following table summarizes activity for nonvested deferred stock 

units during the year ended December 31, 2007:

       Weighted-average

      Number Grant Date

      of Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at beginning of year  301,870 $ 41.01

Granted  – –

Dividend equivalents accrued  4,084 $114.90

Vested  (30,691) $ 42.49

Canceled/forfeited  –      –

Nonvested at December 31, 2007  275,263 $  41.95

The weighted-average grant date fair value of deferred stock units 

granted was $57.69 during 2005.

Performance Shares – Performance share awards were granted annu-

ally beginning in 2003 with the exception of 2006. Each performance 

share unit is equal to one share of our common stock, but carries no 

voting or dividend rights. The units ultimately paid for performance share 

awards may range from 0% to 200% of target. Fifty percent of the pay-

ment is based upon our three-year-average Total Shareholder Return 

(TSR) performance relative to the three-year-average TSR performance 

of a preselected comparison group of companies. The remaining 50% 

of the payment is based upon the achievement of established internal 

financial performance targets. These awards vest on December 31 of 

the third year after date of grant. Vesting is accelerated upon reaching 

retirement age, death, disability, or change of control, all as defined in 

the award agreement. Nonvested units are forfeited upon termination for 

any other reason. Awards granted prior to 2005 were paid in an equal 

combination of cash and shares of our common stock. The cash portion 

of the award was based on the market value of our common stock on the 

measurement date. Performance shares granted in 2005 and 2007 will be 

paid entirely in shares of our common stock. Expense provisions referable 

to these awards amounted to $7,684,000 in 2007, $12,179,000 in 2006 

and $24,509,000 in 2005.

The fair value of performance shares is estimated as of the date of 

grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model. Compensation cost for 

awards that will be paid in shares is recognized in net earnings ratably 

over the three-year maximum vesting life, is based on the awards that ulti-

mately vest and is not adjusted for the actual target percentage achieved. 

Compensation cost for awards paid in cash was recognized in net earn-

ings over the three-year maximum vesting life and was adjusted based 

upon changes in the fair market value of our common stock and changes 

in our relative TSR performance and internal financial performance tar-

gets. For awards granted on or after January 1, 2006, expense recogni-

tion is accelerated to the retirement eligible date for individuals meeting 

the requirements for immediate vesting of awards upon reaching retire-

ment age. The following table summarizes the activity for nonvested per-

formance share units during the year ended December 31, 2007:

       Weighted-average

      Number Grant Date

      of Shares1 Fair Value

Nonvested at beginning of year  185,450 $ 51.81

Granted  94,540 $105.93

Vested  (69,350) $ 46.32

Canceled/forfeited  (1,140) $ 92.52

Nonvested at December 31, 2007  209,500 $  77.83

1  The number of common shares issued related to performance shares may range from 0% to 

200% of the number of performance shares shown in the table above based on the achieve-

ment of established internal financial performance targets and our three-year- average TSR 

performance relative to the three-year-average TSR performance of a preselected compari-

son group of companies.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of performance shares 

granted was $105.93 during 2007 and $55.09 during 2005.

Cash payments under our performance share plan, net of applicable 

tax withholdings, were $9,144,000 in 2007 and $6,700,000 in 2006. There 

were no cash payments under our performance share plan during 2005.
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fair value and the weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the 

fair value of option grants for the years ended December 31:

     2007 2006 2005

Fair value $34.18 $16.95  $16.35

Risk-free interest rate 4.73% 4.34% 4.19%

Dividend yield 2.04% 2.16% 2.12%

Volatility 27.46% 26.22% 26.87%

Expected term 7.75 years 5.05 years 5.56 years

The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield at the date of grant of 

a U.S. Treasury security with a maturity period equal to or approximating 

the option’s expected term. The dividend yield assumption is based on 

our historical dividend payouts. The volatility assumption is based on the 

historical volatility of our common stock over a period equal to the option’s 

expected term and the market-based implied volatility derived from options 

trading on our common stock. The expected term is based on historical 

experience and expectations about future exercises and represents the 

period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding.

Stock Options – Stock options granted have an exercise price equal to 

the market value of our underlying common stock on the date of grant. 

With the exceptions of the stock option grants awarded in December 2005 

and January 2006, the options vest ratably over 3 or 5 years and expire 

10 years subsequent to the grant. The options awarded in December 2005 

and January 2006 were fully vested on the date of grant, expire 10 years 

subsequent to the grant, and shares obtained upon exercise of the 

options are restricted from sale until January 1, 2009 and January 24, 

2009, respectively. Vesting is accelerated upon reaching retirement age, 

death, disability, or change of control, all as defined in the award agree-

ment. Nonvested awards are forfeited upon termination for any other 

reason. Prior to the acquisition of Florida Rock, shares issued upon the 

exercise of stock options were issued from treasury stock. Since that 

acquisition, these shares are issued from our authorized and unissued 

common stock.

The fair value of stock options is estimated as of the date of grant using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation expense for stock 

options is based on this grant date fair value and is recognized for awards 

that ultimately vest. The following table presents the weighted-average 

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table above represent the total 

pretax intrinsic value (the difference between our closing stock price on 

the last trading day of 2007 and the exercise price, multiplied by the num-

ber of in-the-money options) that would have been received by the option 

holders had all options been exercised on December 31, 2007. These 

values change based on the fair market value of our common stock. The 

aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $62,971,000 in 2007, 

$43,725,000 in 2006 and $38,149,000 in 2005.

Cash received from stock option exercises was $35,195,000 in 2007, 

$28,920,000 in 2006 and $37,940,000 in 2005. The tax benefit realized 

from stock option exercises totaled $25,232,000 in 2007, $17,376,000 

in 2006 and $15,287,000 in 2005. To the extent the tax deductions 

exceed compensation cost recorded, the tax benefit is reflected as a 

component of shareholders’ equity in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Expense provisions referable to stock options amounted to $9,207,000 

in 2007, $9,348,000 in 2006 and $5,554,000 in 2005. Expense recog-

nized in 2005 resulted from stock option award modifications, primarily 

for terminated Chemicals employees.

Cash-based Compensation Plans

We have incentive plans under which cash awards may be made annu-

ally to officers and key employees. Expense provisions referable to 

these plans amounted to $21,187,000 in 2007, $22,491,000 in 2006 and 

$17,574,000 in 2005.

Note 12 Other Commitments and Contingencies

We have commitments in the form of unconditional purchase obligations 

as of December 31, 2007. These include commitments for the purchase of 

property, plant and equipment of $81,194,000 and commitments for non-

capital purchases of $87,427,000. The commitments for the purchase of 

property, plant and equipment are due in 2008; the commitments for non-

capital purchases primarily relate to transportation and electrical contracts 

and are due as follows: 2008, $24,151,000; 2009–2010, $21,552,000; 

2011–2012, $18,166,000; and total $23,558,000 there after. Expenditures 

under the noncapital purchase commitments totaled $135,721,000 in 

2007, $139,033,000 in 2006 and $158,855,000 in 2005.

We have commitments in the form of contractual obligations related 

to our mineral royalties as of December 31, 2007 in the amount 

of $138,859,000, due as follows: 2008, $13,024,000; 2009–2010, 

$20,951,000; 2011–2012, $13,299,000; and total $91,585,000 there-

after. Expenditures under the contractual obligations related to min-

eral royalties totaled $48,120,000 in 2007, $45,569,000 in 2006 and 

$46,299,000 in 2005.

A summary of our stock option activity as of December 31, 2007 and changes during the year is presented below:

       Weighted-average

       Remaining Aggregate

     Number Weighted-average Contractual Intrinsic Value

     of Shares Exercise Price Life (Years) (in thousands)

Outstanding at beginning of year 6,768,562 $ 48.76  

 Granted 409,250 $109.23  

 Exercised (889,872)  $ 39.55  

 Forfeited or expired (8,185) $ 54.21  

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 6,279,755 $ 54.00 5.14 $153,540

Vested and expected to vest  6,256,671  $ 53.89   5.13  $153,652

Exercisable at December 31, 2007  5,239,803  $ 50.40   4.69  $146,953
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We provide certain third parties with irrevocable standby letters of 

credit in the normal course of business. We use commercial banks to 

issue standby letters of credit to back our obligations to pay or perform 

when required to do so pursuant to the requirements of an underlying 

agreement or the provision of goods and services. The standby letters of 

credit listed below are cancelable only at the option of the beneficiary who 

is authorized to draw drafts on the issuing bank up to the face amount of 

the standby letter of credit in accordance with its terms. Since banks con-

sider letters of credit as contingent extensions of credit, we are required 

to pay a fee until they expire or are canceled. Substantially all our standby 

letters of credit are renewable annually at the option of the beneficiary.

Our standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2007 are summarized 

in the table below (in millions of dollars):

       Amount

Standby Letters of Credit1

Risk management requirement for insurance claims  $ 39.0

Payment surety required by utilities   0.4

Contractual reclamation/ restoration requirements  51.6

Financing requirement for industrial revenue bond  14.2

Total standby letters of credit   $105.2

1 Substantially all of the standby letters of credit have a one-year term and are renew-

able annually.

As described in Note 2, we may be required to make cash payments in 

the form of a transaction bonus to certain key former Chemicals employ-

ees. The transaction bonus is contingent upon the amounts received 

under the two earn-out agreements entered into in connection with the 

sale of the Chemicals business. As of December 31, 2007, the calculated 

transaction bonus would be $0 and, as such, no liability for these contin-

gent payments has been recorded. Based on our evaluation of possible 

cash receipts from the earn-outs, the likely range for the contingent pay-

ments is between $0 and approximately $5,000,000.

As described in Note 9, our liability for unrecognized tax benefits is 

$11,530,000 as of December 31, 2007.

We are subject to occasional governmental proceedings and orders 

pertaining to occupational safety and health or to protection of the envi-

ronment, such as proceedings or orders relating to noise abatement, 

air emissions or water discharges. As part of our continuing program of 

stewardship in safety, health and environmental matters, we have been 

able to resolve such proceedings and to comply with such orders without 

any material adverse effects on our business.

We have received notices from the United States Environmental 

Protection Agency (EPA) or similar state or local agencies that we are 

considered a potentially responsible party (PRP) at a limited number of 

sites under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation 

and Liability Act (CERCLA or Superfund) or similar state and local envi-

ronmental laws. Generally we share the cost of remediation at these 

sites with other PRPs or alleged PRPs in accordance with negotiated or 

prescribed allocations. There is inherent uncertainty in determining the 

potential cost of remediating a given site and in determining any individual 

party’s share in that cost. As a result, estimates can change substan-

tially as additional information becomes available regarding the nature or 

extent of site contamination, remediation methods, other PRPs and their 

probable level of involvement, and actions by or against governmental 

agencies or private parties.

We have reviewed the nature and extent of our involvement at each 

Superfund site, as well as potential obligations arising under other federal, 

state and local environmental laws, and based our estimated accrued 

obligation, if any, upon our likely portion of the potential liability in relation 

to the total liability of all PRPs that have been identified and are believed 

to be financially viable. In our opinion, the ultimate resolution of claims 

and assessments related to these sites will not have a material adverse 

effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash 

flows, although amounts recorded in a given period could be material to 

our results of operations or cash flows for that period. Amounts accrued 

for environmental matters are presented in Note 8.

We are a defendant in various lawsuits in the ordinary course of busi-

ness. It is not possible to determine with precision the outcome of, or 

the amount of liability, if any, under these lawsuits, especially where the 

cases involve possible jury trials with as yet undetermined jury panels. In 

our opinion, the disposition of these lawsuits will not adversely affect our 

consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows to a 

material extent. In addition to those lawsuits in which we are involved in 

the ordinary course of business, certain other legal proceedings are more 

specifically described below. Although the ultimate outcome is uncertain, 

it is our opinion that the disposition of these described lawsuits will not 

adversely affect our consolidated financial position, results of operations 

or cash flows to a material extent.

On October 12, 2007, we reached an agreement with the city of 

Modesto in the case styled City of Modesto, et al. v. Dow Chemical 

Company, et al., filed in San Francisco County Superior Court, California, 

to resolve all claims against Vulcan for a sum of $20 million. The agree-

ment provides for a release and dismissal or withdrawal without prejudice 

of all claims against Vulcan. The agreement also expressly states that the 

settlement paid by Vulcan is for compensatory damages only and not 

for any punitive damages, and that Vulcan denies any conduct capable 

of giving rise to an assignment of punitive damages. The settlement has 

been approved by the San Francisco Superior Court judge presiding over 

this case and thus is now final. While we believe the verdicts rendered 

and damages awarded during the first phase of the trial are contrary to 

the evidence presented, we settled the city’s claims in order to avoid 

the costs and uncertainties of protracted litigation. The $20 million was 

paid during the fourth quarter of 2007. We believe the settlement dam-

ages, legal defense costs, and other potential claims are covered by 

insurance policies purchased by Vulcan, and we are pursuing recovery 

from these insurers.

Although this agreement settles all claims against Vulcan by the city of 

Modesto related to this litigation, certain potential ancillary claims related 

to this matter remain unresolved. At this time, we cannot determine 

the likelihood or reasonably estimate a range of loss resulting from any 

such claims.



71

In addition, on or about September 18, 2007, Vulcan was served with a 

third-party complaint filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District 

of California (Fresno Division). The underlying action was brought by the 

United States of America on behalf of the U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency against various individuals associated with a dry cleaning facil-

ity in Modesto called Halford’s, seeking “recovery of unreimbursed costs 

incurred by it for activities undertaken in response to the release or threat-

ened release of hazardous substances at the Modesto Groundwater 

Superfund Site in Modesto, Stanislaus County, California.” The complaint 

also seeks certain civil penalties against the named defendants. Vulcan 

was sued by the original defendants as a third-party defendant in this 

action. No discovery has been conducted in this matter.

We have also recently been named as a defendant in the matter of 

Garcia v. Dow Chemical Company, et al., filed in Modesto, Stanislaus 

County, California. This is a wrongful death action that generally alleges 

that the water supply and environment in the city of Modesto were con-

taminated with toxic chlorinated solvents by the defendants, including 

Vulcan, and that Ms. Garcia was “hurt and injured in her health” as a 

result of exposure to said solvents. No discovery has been conducted in 

this matter.

We produced and marketed industrial sand from 1988 to 1994. Since 

July 1993 we have been sued in numerous suits in a number of states by 

plaintiffs alleging that they contracted silicosis or incurred personal inju-

ries as a result of exposure to, or use of, industrial sand used for abrasive 

blasting. As of January 17, 2008 the number of suits totaled 88 involving 

an aggregate of 554 plaintiffs. There are 51 pending suits with 494 plain-

tiffs filed in Texas. Those Texas cases are in a State Multidistrict Litigation 

Court and are stayed until discovery issues are resolved. The balance 

of the suits have been brought in California, Florida and Louisiana. We 

are seeking dismissal of all suits on the grounds that plaintiffs were not 

exposed to our product. To date we have been successful in getting dis-

missals from cases involving approximately 17,000 plaintiffs with little or 

no payments made in settlement.

We have been named as a defendant in multiple lawsuits filed in 2001 

and 2002 in state court and federal district court in Louisiana. The law-

suits claim damages for various personal injuries allegedly resulting from 

releases of chemicals at our former Geismar, Louisiana plant in 2001. A 

trial for the issues of causation and damages for ten plaintiffs was held in 

July 2004. Five of these plaintiffs were dismissed during the trial. A jury 

awarded the remaining five plaintiffs an aggregate award of $201,000. In 

November 2006, the trial court approved a settlement class with most of 

the remaining plaintiffs in the matter. A court-appointed special master is 

overseeing the settlement process of the November 2006 approved set-

tlement class. A second settlement class was approved by the Court in 

2007 and a court appointed special master is also overseeing the settle-

ment of this second class. Vulcan has paid its insurance deductible as a 

part of the settlements in 2006, and our insurers are funding the settle-

ments beyond this deductible.

In September 2001, we were named a defendant in a suit brought by 

the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT), in the Circuit Court of 

Cook County, Chancery Division, Illinois, alleging damage to a 0.9-mile 

section of Joliet Road that bisects our McCook quarry in McCook, Illinois, 

a Chicago suburb. IDOT seeks damages to “repair, restore, and main-

tain” the road or, in the alternative, judgment for the cost to “improve and 

maintain other roadways to accommodate” vehicles that previously used 

the road. The complaint also requests that the court enjoin any McCook 

quarry operations that will further damage the road. The court in this case 

granted summary judgment in favor of Vulcan on certain claims. The court 

also granted the plaintiff’s motion to amend their complaint to add a puni-

tive damages claim, although the court made it clear that it was not ruling 

on the merits of this claim. Discovery is ongoing and no trial date has 

been set.

On March 22, 2006, the United States District Court for the Southern 

District of Florida (in a case captioned Sierra Club, National Resources 

Defense Council and National Parks Conservation Association v. Lt. Gen. 

Carl A. Stock, et al.) ruled that the mining permit issued for our Miami quarry, 

which was acquired in the Florida Rock transaction in November 2007, as 

well as several permits issued to competitors in the same region, had 

been improperly issued. The Court remanded the permitting process to 

the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for further review and consideration. 

On July 13, 2007, the Court ordered us to cease most mining excavation 

at our Miami quarry, effective on July 17, 2007, pending the issuance by 

the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps of Engineers) of a Supplemental 

Environmental Impact Statement (SEIS). The order suspends our ability 

to excavate a substantial amount of the reserves at this site; certain 

reserve deposits as well as material excavated prior to the order remain 

accessible for mining and processing. The Court based its decision to 

shut down mining activity at the Miami quarry and two quarries owned 

by competitors on concern that levels of benzene had been detected in 

an area of the Biscayne Aquifer known as the Northwest Wellfield, which 

supplies a significant portion of the water supply to the Miami area. At 

this time, we do not have any information to indicate that the benzene 

was produced by our mining activities or that the levels of benzene pose 

a risk to human health. The District Court decision was appealed to the 

U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, and oral arguments were 

held before a panel in Miami on November 28, 2007. We are currently 

awaiting a decision from the Court.

Florida Rock Industries, Inc., a subsidiary of Vulcan, and the mem-

bers of its board of directors prior to the merger with Legacy Vulcan, 

were named in a purported shareholder class action complaint filed in 

Florida state court (the Duval County Circuit Court) on March 6, 2007, 

captioned Dillinger v. Florida Rock, et al. The complaint sought to enjoin 

the merger between Florida Rock and Vulcan that was consummated 

on November 16, 2007. The complaint alleges, among other things, that 

the former Florida Rock directors breached their fiduciary duties owed to 

Florida Rock’s shareholders by selling Florida Rock to Legacy Vulcan for 

an inadequate price.

We believe this lawsuit is without merit but have determined to seek 

a settlement to avoid the expense, risk, inconvenience and distraction of 

continued litigation. Accordingly, the parties have entered into a memo-

randum of understanding providing for the settlement of the lawsuit and 

have agreed to seek final court approval of the settlement and dismissal 

of the lawsuit on the terms set forth in the memorandum. Pursuant to 

the memorandum, Florida Rock agreed to include additional requested 
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disclosure in its proxy statement for the special meeting of share -

holders at which the merger agreement was approved, and to pay 

plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees. When this memorandum is approved by the 

Court, the lawsuit will be dismissed with prejudice and all other claims, 

whether legal or equitable, which the plaintiffs or any member of the 

purported class may have in connection with the merger or the proxy 

statement, will be released.

It is not possible to predict with certainty the ultimate outcome of these 

and other legal proceedings in which we are involved. As of December 31, 

2007, we had recorded liabilities, including accrued legal costs, of 

$3,440,000 related to claims and litigation for which a loss was deter-

mined to be probable and reasonably estimable. For claims and litigation 

for which a loss was determined to be only reasonably possible, no liability 

was recorded. Furthermore, the potential range of such losses would not 

be material to our consolidated financial statements. In addition, losses on 

certain claims and litigation described above may be subject to limitations 

on a per occurrence basis by excess insurance, as described more fully 

in Note 1 under our accounting policy for claims and litigation including 

self-insurance (pages 54 and 55).

Note 13 Shareholders’ Equity

On February 10, 2006, the Board of Directors increased to 10,000,000 shares 

the existing authorization to purchase common stock. On November 16, 

2007 pursuant to the terms of the agreement to acquire Florida Rock, all 

treasury stock held immediately prior to the close of the transaction was 

canceled. Our Board of Directors resolved to carry forward the exist-

ing authorization to purchase common stock. As of December 31, 2007, 

3,411,416 shares remained under the current purchase authorization.

The number and cost of shares purchased during each of the last 

three years and shares held in treasury at year end are shown below:

     2007 2006 2005

Shares purchased

 Number 44,123 6,757,361 3,588,738

 Total cost (thousands) $4,800 $522,801 $228,479

 Average cost $108.78 $77.37 $63.67

Shares in treasury at year end

 Number – 45,098,644 39,378,985

 Average cost $ – $28.78 $19.94

The number of shares purchased in 2007 and 2006 includes 44,123 

and 76,567 shares, respectively, purchased directly from employees to 

satisfy income tax withholding requirements on shares issued pursuant 

to incentive compensation plans. The remaining shares were purchased 

in the open market.

In November 2007, we issued 12,604,083 shares of common stock in 

connection with the acquisition of Florida Rock.

Note 14 Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income includes charges and credits to equity from 

nonowner sources and comprises two subsets: net earnings and other 

comprehensive income (loss). The components of other comprehen-

sive income (loss) are presented in the Consolidated Statements of 

Shareholders’ Equity, net of applicable taxes.

The amount of income tax (expense) benefit allocated to each 

component of other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is summarized as follows (in thou-

sands of dollars):

     Before-tax Tax (Expense) Net-of-tax

     Amount Benefit Amount

December 31, 2007

Fair value adjustment to 

 cash flow hedges $(92,718) $ 36,676 $(56,042)

Reclassification adjustment 

  for cash flow hedge amounts 

included in net earnings 198 (78) 120

Adjustment for funded status 

  of pension and postretirement 

benefit plans 31,163 (12,326) 18,837

Amortization of pension and 

  postretirement plan actuarial 

loss and prior service cost 3,012 (1,191) 1,821

Total other comprehensive 

 income (loss) $(58,345) $ 23,081 $(35,264)

December 31, 2006

Fair value adjustment to 

 cash flow hedges $     115 $     (40) $     75

Minimum pension 

 liability adjustment (1,662) 635 (1,027)

Total other comprehensive 

 income (loss) $  (1,547) $   595 $   (952)

December 31, 2005

Reclassification adjustment for 

  cash flow hedge amounts 

included in net earnings $      99 $     (37) $     62

Minimum pension liability 

 adjustment (1,564) 598 (966)

Total other comprehensive 

 income (loss) $  (1,465) $   561 $   (904)

Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, 

at December 31, are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Cash flow hedges $(55,847) $     75 $    –

Pension and 

 postretirement plans 15,630 (5,028) (2,213)

Total   $(40,217) $(4,953) $(2,213)



73

Note 15 Segment Reporting – Continuing Operations

Prior to the November 2007 acquisition of Florida Rock, our Construction 

Materials business was organized in seven regional divisions that pro-

duced and sold aggregates and related products and services. All these 

divisions exhibited similar economic characteristics, production pro-

cesses, products and services, types and classes of customers, meth-

ods of distribution and regulatory environments. Accordingly, they were 

aggregated into one reporting segment for financial statement purposes.

Subsequent to our acquisition of Florida Rock, we redefined our 

operating segments, and as a result, we now have three reporting seg-

ments organized around our principal product lines: aggregates, asphalt 

mix, concrete and cement. For reporting purposes, we have combined 

our Asphalt mix and Concrete operating segments into one reporting seg-

ment as the products are similar in nature and the businesses exhibit 

similar economic characteristics, product processes, types and classes 

of customer, methods of distribution and regulatory environments. We 

have recast our 2006 and 2005 data to reflect this change in reportable 

segments to conform to the current year’s presentation. Management 

reviews earnings from the product line reporting units principally at the 

gross profit level.

The Aggregates segment produces and sells aggregates and related 

products and services in eight regional divisions. During 2007, the Aggre-

gates segment served markets in 22 states, the District of Columbia, the 

Bahamas and Mexico with a full line of aggregates, and 8 additional states 

with railroad ballast. Customers use aggregates primarily in the construc-

tion and maintenance of highways, streets and other public works and in 

the construction of housing and commercial, industrial and other non-

residential facilities. Aggregates are a critical ingredient in the produc-

tion of asphalt mix and concrete. Customers are served by truck, rail and 

water distribution networks from our production facilities and sales yards. 

Due to the high weight-to-value ratio of aggregates, markets generally 

are local in nature. Quarries located on waterways and rail lines allow us 

to serve remote markets where local aggregates reserves may not be 

available. We sell a relatively small amount of construction aggregates 

outside the United States. Nondomestic net sales were $19,981,000 in 

2007, $20,595,000 in 2006 and $13,490,000 in 2005.

The Asphalt mix and Concrete segment produces and sells asphalt 

mix and ready-mixed concrete in four regional divisions serving 10 states 

primarily in our mid-Atlantic, Florida, southwestern and western mar-

kets, the Bahamas and the District of Columbia. Additionally, two of the 

divisions produce and sell other concrete products such as block, pre-

stressed and precast and resell purchased building materials related to 

the use of ready-mixed concrete and concrete block. Aggregates com-

prise approximately 95% of asphalt mix by weight and 78% of ready-mixed 

concrete by weight. Our Asphalt mix and Concrete segment purchases 

a majority of its aggregates requirements from our Aggregates segment. 

These transfers are made at local market prices for the particular grade 

and quality of product utilized in the production of asphalt mix and con-

crete. Customers for our Asphalt mix and Concrete segment are generally 

served locally from our production facilities or by truck. Because asphalt 

mix and ready-mixed concrete harden rapidly, delivery is time constrained 

and generally confined to a radius of approximately 20 to 25 miles from 

the producing facility.

The Cement segment produces and sells Portland and masonry 

cement in both bulk and bags from our Florida cement plant. Other 

Cement segment facilities in Florida import cement, clinker and slag and 

either resell, grind, blend, bag or reprocess those materials. This segment 

also includes a Florida facility that mines, produces and sells calcium 

products. All of these Cement segment facilities are within the Florida 

regional division. Our Concrete segment is the largest single customer of 

our Cement segment. 

The majority of our activities are domestic. Long-lived assets outside 

the United States, which primarily consist of property, plant and equip-

ment, were $175,413,000 in 2007, $146,457,000 in 2006 and $105,182,000 

in 2005. All transactions between our reportable segments are recorded 

at prices approximating market.

Segment Financial Disclosure
Amounts in millions 2007 2006 2005

Total Revenues

Aggregates $2,316.7 $2,280.2 $1,991.5

Asphalt mix and Concrete 765.7 760.9 623.5

Cement 7.7 – –

 Total net sales $3,090.1 $3,041.1 $2,615.0

Delivery revenues  237.7 301.4 280.3

Total revenues $3,327.8 $3,342.5 $2,895.3

Gross Profit

Aggregates $  828.7 $  819.0 $  650.0

Asphalt mix and Concrete  122.2 112.9 58.8

Cement – – –

Total gross profit $  950.9 $  931.9 $  708.8 

Identifiable Assets

Aggregates $7,207.8 $2,889.2 $2,556.5

Asphalt mix and Concrete  875.6 313.5 308.1

Cement  587.9 – –

 Identifiable assets  8,671.3 3,202.8 2,864.6

General corporate assets  230.2 169.8 275.6

Cash items  34.9 55.2 450.2

Total   $8,936.4 $3,427.8 $3,590.4

Depreciation, Depletion, 

 Accretion and Amortization

Aggregates $  246.9 $  210.3 $  206.4

Asphalt mix and Concrete 20.3 14.1 13.6

Cement 1.9 – –

Corporate and 

 other unallocated 2.4 2.0 2.4

Total   $  271.5 $  226.4 $  222.4

Capital Expenditures from

 Continuing Operations

Aggregates $  445.0 $  425.5 $  213.6

Asphalt mix and Concrete 24.2 30.6 15.2

Cement 10.3 – –

Corporate 1.0 2.8 0.6

Total   $  480.5 $  458.9 $  229.4
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Note 16 Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Supplemental information referable to the Consolidated Statements of 

Cash Flows is summarized below (in thousands of dollars):

     2007 2006 2005

Cash payments:

 Interest (exclusive of 

  amount capitalized) $ 41,933 $ 32,616 $ 37,331

 Income taxes 132,697 219,218 211,985

Noncash investing and 

 financing activities:

 Accrued liabilities for 

   purchases of property, 

plant and equipment 32,065 32,941 14,244

 Debt issued for purchases 

   of property, plant 

and equipment 19 177 –

 Proceeds receivable 

   from exercise of 

stock options 152 31 –

 Amounts referable to 

  business acquisitions:

   Liabilities assumed 588,184 – 4,684

 Noncash proceeds from 

   the sale of the 

Chemicals business:

   Earn-outs (Note 2) – – 127,979

   Working capital 

    adjustments – – 14,255

Note 17 Asset Retirement Obligations

SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (FAS 143) 

applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived 

assets resulting from the acquisition, construction, development and/or 

normal use of the underlying assets.

FAS 143 requires recognition of a liability for an asset retirement obli-

gation in the period in which it is incurred at its estimated fair value. The 

associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying 

amount of the underlying asset and depreciated over the estimated use-

ful life of the asset. The liability is accreted through charges to operating 

expenses. If the asset retirement obligation is settled for other than the car-

rying amount of the liability, we recognize a gain or loss on settlement.

We record all asset retirement obligations for which we have legal 

obligations for land reclamation at estimated fair value. Essentially all 

these asset retirement obligations relate to our underlying land parcels, 

including both owned properties and mineral leases. FAS 143 results in 

ongoing recognition of costs related to the depreciation of the assets and 

accretion of the liability. For the years ended December 31, we recognized 

operating costs (accretion and depreciation) related to FAS 143 as fol-

lows: 2007 – $19,038,000; 2006 – $16,197,000; and 2005 – $14,867,000, 

including $447,000 related to discontinued operations. FAS 143 operating 

costs for our continuing operations are reported in cost of goods sold. 

FAS 143 asset retirement obligations are reported within other noncurrent 

liabilities in our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of our asset retirement obliga-

tions for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows 

(in thousands of dollars):

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2004  $ 90,906 

 Liabilities incurred   3,767

 Liabilities (settled)   (12,437)

 Accretion expense   4,826

 Revisions up (down)   18,712

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2005   $105,774

 Liabilities incurred   1,021

 Liabilities (settled)   (16,806)

 Accretion expense   5,499

 Revisions up (down)   19,341

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2006  $114,829

 Liabilities incurred   17,091

 Liabilities (settled)   (13,799)

 Accretion expense   5,866

 Revisions up (down)   7,396

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2007 $131,383 

Of the $17,091,000 of liabilities incurred during 2007, $13,729,000 

resulted from the acquisition of Florida Rock.

Upward revisions to our asset retirement obligations for the years 

ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are largely attributable to one 

aggregates facility located in California, which we operate under a min-

eral lease. Extremely wet weather conditions in 2005 and 2006, which 

flooded certain areas at the site, resulted in higher than expected costs 

to extract water, dry materials, recompact affected areas and haul away 

certain materials with high moisture content. During 2005 we identified 

certain material generated in our extraction process that contained sub-

stances that precluded it from being used as fill material. Estimated costs 

to examine, handle and haul such material resulted in upward revisions 

to our asset retirement obligations. Delays in executing an amended 

lease agreement, which resulted in delays in performing our reclamation 

plan, and changes to the reclamation plan that resulted from ongoing 

operational logistics, caused inefficiencies related to double handling and 

stockpiling materials that were not anticipated in previous cost estimates. 

Altogether, upward revisions to our asset retirement obligations related 

to this site amounted to approximately $10.3 million during 2006 and 

$11.1 million during 2005.

Other net upward revisions to our asset retirement obligations during 

2007, 2006 and 2005 relate primarily to changes in cost estimates and 

settlement dates at numerous aggregates facilities.
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Note 18 Accounting Changes

2007 – FIN 48

On January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FIN 48, “Accounting 

for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement 

No. 109.” FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes 

recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with 

FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” by prescribing 

a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial state-

ment recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to 

be taken in a tax return. Under FIN 48, the financial statement effects of a 

tax position should initially be recognized when it is more likely than not, 

based on the technical merits, that the position will be sustained upon 

examination. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recogni-

tion threshold should initially and subsequently be measured as the larg-

est amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being 

realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority.

As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, as of January 1, 2007, 

we increased the liability for unrecognized tax benefits by $2,420,000, 

increased deferred tax assets by $1,480,000 and reduced retained earn-

ings by $940,000. The total liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of 

January 1, 2007, amounted to $11,760,000.

See Note 9 for the FIN 48 tabular reconciliation of unrecognized 

tax benefits.

2007 – FSP AUG AIR-1

On January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. AUG 

AIR-1, “Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities” (FSP 

AUG AIR-1). This FSP amended certain provisions in the American 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants Industry Audit Guide, “Audits of 

Airlines” (Airline Guide). The Airline Guide is the principal source of guid-

ance on the accounting for planned major maintenance activities and it 

permits four alternative methods of accounting for such activities. This 

guidance principally affects our accounting for periodic overhauls on our 

ocean going vessels. Prior to January 1, 2007, we applied the accrue-in-

advance method as prescribed by the Airline Guide, which allowed for 

the accrual of estimated costs for the next scheduled overhaul over the 

period leading up to the overhaul. At the time of the overhaul, the actual 

cost of the overhaul was charged to the accrual, with any deficiency or 

excess charged or credited to expense. FSP AUG AIR-1 prohibits the 

use of the accrue-in-advance method, and was effective for fiscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2006. Accordingly, we adopted this FSP 

effective January 1, 2007, and have elected to use the deferral method of 

accounting for planned major maintenance as prescribed by the Airline 

Guide and permitted by FSP AUG AIR-1. Under the deferral method, the 

actual cost of each overhaul is capitalized when incurred and amortized 

over the period until the next overhaul. Additionally, the FSP must be 

applied retrospectively to the beginning of the earliest period presented in 

the financial statements. As a result of the retrospective application of this 

change in accounting principle, we have adjusted our financial statements 

for all periods presented to reflect using the deferral method of accounting 

for planned major maintenance.

2006 – EITF 04-6

On January 1, 2006, we adopted EITF 04-6, “Accounting for Stripping 

Costs Incurred during Production in the Mining Industry.” In the min-

ing industry, the costs of removing overburden and waste materials to 

access mineral deposits are referred to as stripping costs. Per EITF 

04-6, stripping costs incurred during the production phase are consid-

ered costs of the extracted minerals under a full absorption costing sys-

tem, inventoried, and recognized in costs of sales in the same period as 

the revenue from the sale of the inventory. Additionally, capitalization of 

such costs is appropriate only to the extent inventory exists at the end 

of a reporting period.

Prior to the adoption of EITF 04-6, we expensed stripping costs as 

incurred with only limited exceptions when specific criteria were met. The 

January 1, 2006 adoption of EITF 04-6 resulted in an increase in current 

assets (finished product inventory) of $16,791,000; a decrease in other 

assets (capitalized quarrying costs) of $659,000; an increase in deferred 

tax liabilities of $3,896,000; and a cumulative effect of adoption that 

increased retained earnings by $12,236,000.

2006 – FAS 123(R)

See Note 1 under the caption Share-based Compensation (pages 52 

and 53).

2006 – FAS 158

See Note 1 under the caption Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

(page 56).

Note 19 Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In accordance with FAS 142, we classify purchased intangible assets into 

three categories: (1) goodwill, (2) intangible assets with finite lives sub-

ject to amortization and (3) intangible assets with indefinite lives. Goodwill 

and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized; rather, they 

are reviewed for impairment at least annually. For additional information 

regarding our policies on impairment reviews, see Note 1 under the cap-

tions Goodwill and Goodwill Impairment (page 52) and Impairment of 

Long-lived Assets Excluding Goodwill (page 52).

Goodwill

Goodwill is recognized when the consideration paid for a business combi-

nation (acquisition) exceeds the fair value of the tangible and other intangi-

ble assets acquired. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units for purposes 

of testing goodwill for impairment. There were no charges for goodwill 

impairment in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.



76 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations are stated at their fair 

value, determined as of the date of acquisition, less accumulated amor-

tization, if applicable. These assets consist primarily of contractual rights 

in place, noncompetition agreements and favorable lease agreements. 

Intangible assets acquired individually or otherwise obtained outside a 

business combination consist primarily of permitting, permitting compli-

ance and zoning rights and are stated at their historical cost, less accu-

mulated amortization, if applicable.

Historically, we have acquired intangible assets with only finite lives. 

Amortization of intangible assets with finite lives is recognized over their 

estimated useful lives using a method of amortization that closely reflects 

the pattern in which the economic benefits are consumed or otherwise 

realized. Intangible assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment 

when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. There were no charges for impairment of intan-

gible assets in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Intangible assets are reported within other noncurrent assets in our 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

As a result of the reorganization of our operating segments in 2007, our reportable segments were changed from one reportable segment to three 

reportable segments organized around our principal product lines: aggregates; asphalt mix and concrete; and cement. We have reallocated our goodwill 

for the prior periods presented below to reflect this change in reportable segments to conform to the current year’s presentation. Changes in the carrying 

amount of goodwill by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are summarized below (in thousands of dollars):

       Asphalt mix

      Aggregates and Concrete Cement Total

Goodwill as of December 31, 2004   $  508,548  $91,633 $       –  $  600,181 

 Goodwill of acquired businesses   18,836 – – 18,836

 Purchase price allocation adjustment   (1,934) – – (1,934)

Goodwill as of December 31, 2005   $  525,450 $91,633 $       – $  617,083

 Goodwill of acquired businesses   8,800 – – 8,800

 Purchase price allocation adjustment   (5,694) – – (5,694)

Goodwill as of December 31, 2006   $  528,556 $91,633 $       – $  620,189

 Goodwill of acquired businesses*   3,002,300 – 297,662 3,299,962

 Less goodwill as of December 31, 2007 

  classified as assets held for sale (Note 20)   131,060 – – 131,060

Goodwill as of December 31, 2007   $3,399,796 $91,633 $297,662 $3,789,091

*  The goodwill of acquired businesses for 2007 relates to the acquisitions listed in Note 20. We are currently evaluating the final purchase price allocation for most of these acquisitions; therefore, the 

goodwill amount is subject to change. Approximately  $31,301 thousand of the goodwill from the 2007 acquisitions is expected to be fully deductible for income tax purposes.

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization by major intangible asset class for the year ended December 31 is summarized below 

(in thousands of dollars): 

     Weighted-average

     Amortization Period  2007 2006 2005

Intangible assets subject to amortization

Gross carrying amount

 Contractual rights in place   $ 61,565 $ 38,800 $ 32,165

 Noncompetition agreements   1,830 6,900 6,995

 Favorable lease agreements   38,998 12,621 12,068

 Permitting, permitting compliance and zoning rights   39,662 32,849 32,098

 Other   5,530 565 1,094

Total gross carrying amount   $147,585 $ 91,735 $ 84,420

Accumulated amortization

 Contractual rights in place 30.0 years  $  (4,884) $  (2,770) $ (1,054)

 Noncompetition agreements 6.6 years  (1,195) (5,882) (5,743)

 Favorable lease agreements 26.7 years  (5,808) (5,208) (6,262)

 Permitting, permitting compliance and zoning rights 26.0 years  (8,456) (7,224) (11,818)

 Other 19.1 years  (5,318) (355) (367)

Total accumulated amortization 27.1 years  $ (25,661) $(21,439) $(25,244)

Total intangible assets subject to amortization, net   $121,924 $ 70,296  $ 59,176 

Intangible assets with indefinite lives   – – –

Total intangible assets, net   $121,924  $ 70,296  $ 59,176 

Aggregate amortization expense for the period   $  4,265  $  2,750 $  3,126

Estimated amortization expense for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2007 is: 2008 – $7,000,000; 2009 – $7,182,000; 2010 – $7,003,000; 

2011 – $6,276,000; and 2012 – $6,232,000.
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Note 20 Acquisitions

On November 16, 2007, we acquired 100% of the outstanding com-

mon stock of Florida Rock Industries, Inc. (Florida Rock), a leading 

producer of construction aggregates, cement, concrete and concrete 

products in the southeastern and mid-Atlantic states, in exchange for 

cash and stock.

Under the terms of the agreement, Florida Rock shareholders had the 

right to elect to receive either 0.63 of a share of Vulcan common stock or 

$67.00 in cash, without interest, for each share of Florida Rock common 

stock that they owned. The elections were subject to proration so that, 

in the aggregate, 70% of all outstanding shares of Florida Rock com-

mon stock were exchanged for cash and 30% of all outstanding shares of 

Florida Rock common stock were exchanged for shares of Vulcan com-

mon stock.  Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, each out-

standing Florida Rock stock option, which fully vested prior to the effective 

time of the mergers, ceased to represent an option to acquire shares of 

Florida Rock common stock and instead represented the right to receive 

a cash amount equal to the excess, if any, of $67.00 per option to acquire 

one share of Florida Rock common stock over the exercise price payable 

in respect of such stock option (the option consideration).

Based on the exchange ratio and proration provisions of the agree-

ment, 12,604,083 shares of common stock were issued to Florida Rock 

shareholders at a value of $1,436,487,000 (based on the average closing 

share price, adjusted for dividends, of Legacy Vulcan’s common stock 

during the four trading days from February 15, 2007 through February 21, 

2007, centered on the day the transaction was announced). In addition, 

$3,212,609,000 in cash was paid in exchange for approximately 70% of the 

outstanding common stock of Florida Rock, based on the proration provi-

sions of the agreement, and to fund the option consideration. Including 

Vulcan’s direct transaction costs of approximately $29,342,000, total 

cash and stock consideration paid was approximately $4,678,438,000. 

The results of operations for Florida Rock are included in our accompa-

nying 2007 Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the period from the 

November 16, 2007 closing date to December 31, 2007.

The goodwill that arose from this transaction reflected the value to 

Vulcan from:

•  Acquiring an established business with assets that have been assem-

bled over a very long period of time, the development of such assets in 

any meaningful time frame would be virtually impossible, and the collec-

tion of such assets can earn a higher rate of return than those net assets 

could earn alone.

•  The synergies and other benefits created by combining our businesses, 

including an expanded geographic footprint and enhanced presence in 

several fast-growing markets, including the state of Florida.

•  Acquiring a talented, assembled workforce, particularly key manage-

ment personnel with extensive industry experience and knowledge 

and a proven track record for strong cash flows and earnings growth.

In accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” the 

total cost of the acquisition has been preliminarily allocated to the assets 

acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their respective fair val-

ues at the acquisition date, with amounts exceeding the fair values being 

recorded to goodwill. Goodwill, none of which is deductible for tax pur-

poses, and other intangible assets recorded in connection with the acqui-

sition totaled $3,268,661,000 and $56,198,000, respectively. We are in 

the process of obtaining third-party valuations of the property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets and have performed preliminary internal 

valuations of these assets as well as working capital and other assets and 

liabilities. Due to the proximity of the acquisition to our year end, further 

refinements to our purchase price allocation are likely to be made as valu-

ation analyses and other studies are completed. We expect to complete 

the purchase price allocation process during the third quarter of 2008, 

and when finalized, material adjustments to goodwill may result.

We have not recorded any material preacquisition contingencies where 

the related asset, liability or impairment is probable and the amount can 

be reasonably estimated. Prior to the end of the one-year purchase price 

allocation period, if information becomes available that indicates it is prob-

able that such events had occurred and the amounts can be reasonably 

estimated, such items will be included in the final purchase price allocation 

and may result in adjustments to goodwill.

The preliminary estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabili-

ties assumed as of the November 16, 2007 acquisition date are as follows 

(in thousands of dollars):

       November 16,

       2007

Current assets   $  220,137

Investments and long-term receivables   20,000

Property, plant and equipment   1,626,637

Goodwill1   3,268,661

Intangible assets subject to amortization2

 Contractual rights in place   22,177

 Noncompetition agreements   80

 Favorable lease agreements   33,841

 Other amortizable intangibles   100

Total intangible assets subject to amortization  56,198

Other assets   45,422

Total assets acquired   $5,237,055

Current liabilities, excluding current portion 

 of long-term debt   $   86,140

Long-term debt, including current portion  21,277

Deferred income taxes   387,200

Pension and other postretirement benefits  11,622

Other noncurrent liabilities   52,378

Total liabilities assumed   558,617

Net assets acquired   $4,678,438 

1  Goodwill was preliminarily allocated to the segments as follows: Aggregates $2,970,999 thou-

sand, Concrete $0 and Cement $297,662 thousand.

2  The preliminary weighted-average amortization periods of acquired amortizable intangible 

assets were estimated as follows: contractual rights in place 38.7 years, noncompetition 

agreements 5.0 years, favorable lease agreements 23.4 years, other amortizable intangibles 

5.0 years and in total 29.3 years. The amortizable intangible assets are expected to have no 

significant residual value.
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As a result of the Florida Rock acquisition, we entered into a Final 

Judgment with the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice 

that requires us to divest certain Florida Rock and Vulcan assets. These 

assets consist of nine sites as follows:

• four Florida Rock aggregates production facilities located in Georgia

• a Florida Rock aggregates production facility located in Tennessee

•  a Florida Rock aggregates production facility and a Florida Rock dis-

tribution yard located in Virginia

• a Vulcan aggregates production facility located in Georgia

• a Vulcan greenfield (undeveloped) aggregates site located in Georgia

As of December 31, 2007, the assets and related liabilities for these 

sites are classified as held for sale in the accompanying Consolidated 

Balance Sheets under two captions: assets held for sale and liabilities 

of assets held for sale. In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for 

the Impairment of Disposal of Long-lived Assets” (FAS 144), deprecia-

tion expense and amortization expense were suspended on assets held 

for sale upon the November 16, 2007 acquisition. The major classes of 

assets and liabilities of assets classified as held for sale at December 31, 

2007 were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

       2007

Current assets   $ 12,417

Property, plant and equipment, net   105,170

Goodwill and intangibles   142,166

Other assets   22

Total assets held for sale   $259,775

Current liabilities   $    299

Minority interest   6,010

Total liabilities of assets held for sale   $  6,309

In addition to the Florida Rock acquisition, during 2007 we also 

acquired the assets of the following facilities for cash payments total-

ing approximately $58,872,000, including acquisition costs and net of 

acquired cash:

• an aggregates production facility in Illinois

• an aggregates production facility in North Carolina

As a result of these two 2007 acquisitions, we recognized $31,301,000 

of goodwill, all of which is expected to be fully deductible for income tax 

purposes. Purchase price allocations for 2007 acquisitions are prelimi-

nary and subject to adjustment.

Also, during 2007, we acquired an aggregates production facility in 

Alabama in exchange for two aggregates production facilities in Illinois.

In 2006 we acquired the assets of the following facilities for cash pay-

ments totaling approximately $20,481,000, including acquisition costs 

and net of acquired cash:

• an aggregates production facility and asphalt mix plant in Indiana

• an aggregates production facility in North Carolina

• an aggregates production facility in Virginia

As a result of these 2006 acquisitions, we recognized $8,800,000 of 

goodwill and $5,146,000 of amortizable intangible assets, all of which are 

expected to be fully deductible for income tax purposes.

During 2006, we made cash payments of $50,000 for contingent con-

sideration related to a 2005 acquisition.

In 2005, we acquired the assets of the following facilities for cash pay-

ments totaling approximately $93,965,000, including acquisition costs 

and net of acquired cash:

•  five aggregates production facilities and five asphalt mix plants 

in Arizona

• an aggregates production facility in Georgia

• four aggregates production facilities in Indiana

• an aggregates production facility in Tennessee

The 2005 acquisition payments reported above exclude escrowed 

funds of $5,800,000 of contingent consideration related to the acquisition of 

the Arizona facilities and $50,000 of contingent consideration related to the 

acquisition of the Tennessee facility. The contingent consideration related 

to the Arizona facilities was resolved in January 2008 and we expect to 

receive the $5,800,000 of escrowed funds plus interest during the first 

quarter of 2008. 

As a result of these 2005 acquisitions, we recognized $18,836,000 of 

goodwill and $32,165,000 of amortizable intangible assets, all of which 

are expected to be fully deductible for income tax purposes.

The amount by which the total cost of these acquisitions exceeded the 

fair value of the net assets acquired, including identifiable intangibles, was 

recognized as goodwill.

All the 2007, 2006 and 2005 acquisitions described above were 

accounted for as purchases and, accordingly, the results of operations 

of the acquired businesses are included in the accompanying consoli-

dated financial statements from their respective dates of acquisition. Had 

Florida Rock been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2007 and 2006, 

respectively, on a pro forma consolidated basis, net sales, total revenues, 

earnings from continuing operations, net earnings and earnings per share 

would have been as follows (amounts in millions, except per share data):

(unaudited)  2007 2006

Net sales  $3,965.6 $4,343.4

Total revenue  4,234.3 4,684.2

Earnings from continuing operations  456.6 559.6

Net earnings  444.5 549.6

Basic earnings per share

 Earnings from continuing operations  $4.23 $5.08

 Net earnings per share  $4.11 $4.99

Diluted earnings per share

 Earnings from continuing operations  $4.14 $4.98

 Net earnings per share  $4.03 $4.89

The unaudited pro forma results above may not be indicative of the 

results that would have been obtained had the Florida Rock acquisition 

occurred at the beginning of 2007 and 2006, nor does it intend to be a 

projection of future results.

End of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Acquisitions

The sum of net assets (assets less liabilities, including acquired debt) 

obtained in a business combination. Net assets are recorded at their 

fair value at the date of the combination, and include tangible and 

intangible items.

Capital Employed

The sum of interest-bearing debt, other noncurrent liabilities and share-

holders’ equity. Average capital employed is a 12-month average.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures include capitalized replacements of and additions to 

property, plant and equipment, including capitalized leases, renewals and 

betterments. Capital expenditures exclude the property, plant and equip-

ment obtained by business acquisitions.

We classify our capital expenditures into three categories based on 

the predominant purpose of the project expenditures. Thus, a project 

is classified entirely as a replacement if that is the principal reason for 

making the expenditure even though the project may involve some cost-

saving and/or capacity improvement aspects. Likewise, a profit-adding 

project is classified entirely as such if the principal reason for making the 

expenditure is to add operating facilities at new locations (which occa-

sionally replace facilities at old locations), to add product lines, to expand 

the capacity of existing facilities, to reduce costs, to increase mineral 

reserves, to improve products, etc.

Capital expenditures classified as environmental control do not reflect 

those expenditures for environmental control activities, including indus-

trial health programs that are expensed currently. Such expenditures are 

made on a continuing basis and at significant levels. Frequently, profit-

adding and major replacement projects also include expenditures for 

environmental control purposes.

Net Sales

Total customer revenues from continuing operations for our products 

and services excluding third-party delivery revenues, net of discounts and 

taxes, if any.

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

The sum of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, 

minority interest in earnings of a consolidated subsidiary, amortization of 

capitalized interest and fixed charges net of interest capitalization credits, 

divided by fixed charges. Fixed charges are the sum of interest expense 

before capitalization credits, amortization of financing costs and one-third 

of rental expense.

Total Debt as a Percentage of Total Capital

The sum of short-term borrowings, current maturities and long-term debt, 

divided by total capital. Total capital is the sum of total debt and share-

holders’ equity.

Shareholders’ Equity

The sum of common stock (less the cost of common stock in treasury), 

capital in excess of par value, retained earnings and accumulated other 

comprehensive income (loss), as reported in the balance sheet. Average 

shareholders’ equity is a 12-month average.

Total Shareholder Return

Average annual rate of return using both stock price appreciation and 

quarterly dividend reinvestment. Stock price appreciation is based on a 

point-to-point calculation, using end-of-year data.

Financial Terminology
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts in millions 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Average Capital Employed

Continuing operations $ 4,116.3 $ 2,979.5  $ 2,613.2  $ 2,447.0  $ 2,551.0  $ 2,547.9  $ 2,497.1  $ 2,137.0  $ 1,981.1  $ 827.8  $ 737.5 

Cash items  52.7  123.5   491.1   358.5  270.3   101.3   53.8  37.2   66.5   122.0   62.5 

 Subtotal  4,169.0  3,103.0   3,104.3   2,805.5  2,821.3  2,649.2   2,550.9   2,174.2  2,047.6   949.8   800.0 

Discontinued operations  1.4  11.1   211.7   479.9   499.6   488.0   546.2  553.1   428.4   389.0   373.1 

 Total  $ 4,170.4 $ 3,114.1  $ 3,316.0  $ 3,285.4  $ 3,320.9  $ 3,137.2  $ 3,097.1  $ 2,727.3  $ 2,476.0  $ 1,338.8  $ 1,173.1 

Capital Expenditures

Continuing operations $ 480.5 $ 458.9  $ 229.4  $ 197.1  $ 164.9  $ 206.7  $ 230.6  $ 213.5  $ 200.0  $ 157.4  $ 119.2 

Discontinued operations  –  –  4.9   16.0   35.2   42.9   57.6   132.9   118.1   54.4   56.5 

 Total  $ 480.5 $ 458.9  $ 234.3  $ 213.1  $ 200.1  $ 249.6  $ 288.2  $ 346.4  $ 318.1  $ 211.8  $ 175.7 

Property, Plant & Equipment 

 from Acquisitions

Continuing operations $ 1,648.3 $ 20.5  $ 94.0  $ 34.6  $ 3.5  $ 43.4  $ 138.8  $ 265.1  $ 799.0  $ 59.4  $ 12.1 

Discontinued operations  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  1.3   –  –  –

 Total  $ 1,648.3 $ 20.5  $ 94.0  $ 34.6  $ 3.5  $ 43.4  $ 138.8  $ 266.4  $ 799.0  $ 59.4  $ 12.1 

Increase (Decrease)

 in Working Capital

Continuing operations $ 350.2 $ (25.5) $ 76.1  $ (19.2) $ (27.0) $ 25.7  $ 31.0  $ 58.6  $ 102.7  $ 19.5  $ (8.7)

Cash, debt and other

 financing working capital  (1,964.9)  (314.8)  (411.4)  517.5   46.4   52.6   255.7   (165.6)  (237.3)  53.8   76.8 

 Subtotal  (1,614.7)  (340.3)  (335.3)  498.3   19.4   78.3   286.7   (107.0)  (134.6)  73.3   68.1 

Discontinued operations  –  (9.8)  (69.0)  (7.4)  (4.1)  28.2   (23.5)  (8.8)  7.8   12.2   11.9 

 Total  $ (1,614.7) $ (350.1) $ (404.3) $ 490.9  $ 15.3  $ 106.5  $ 263.2  $ (115.8) $ (126.8) $ 85.5  $ 80.0 

Capital Expenditures from 

 Continuing Operations*

Replacement $ 207.6 $ 212.2  $ 120.5  $ 87.9  $ 71.3  $ 136.7  $ 132.8  $ 126.5  $ 73.6  $ 83.4  $ 65.8 

Environmental control  20.1  13.8   13.5   11.1   8.8   10.9   9.7   8.5   4.7   4.3   2.5 

Profit-adding  252.8  232.9   95.4   98.1   84.8   59.1   88.1   78.5   121.7   69.7   50.9 

 Total  $ 480.5 $ 458.9  $ 229.4  $ 197.1  $ 164.9  $ 206.7  $ 230.6  $ 213.5  $ 200.0  $ 157.4  $ 119.2 

Depreciation, Depletion,

 Accretion and Amortization

 from Continuing Operations $ 271.5 $ 226.4  $ 222.4  $ 211.3  $ 216.1  $ 205.2  $ 217.2  $ 182.6  $ 165.8  $ 96.6  $ 90.5 

*Refer to page 79 for a discussion of the three categories we use to classify capital expenditures.

Enterprise Financial Data
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts in millions 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Sales Units

Aggregates:

 Customer sales – tons  219.4  242.5   246.3   230.1   220.0   204.1   222.2   197.7   195.4   165.4   155.2 

 JV and internal sales – tons*  11.6  12.9   13.2   13.0   12.8   13.2   14.8   24.6   24.6   14.2   12.2 

  Total aggregates – tons  231.0  255.4   259.5   243.1   232.8   217.3   237.0   222.3   220.0   179.6   167.4 

Other construction materials:

 Asphalt mix – tons  11.3  11.6   11.7   10.2   10.4   10.9   12.4   13.7  13.2   2.7   2.5 

 Concrete – cubic yards  2.5  2.9   3.2   3.3   3.2   2.7   2.9   3.3   3.6   0.4   0.4 

Net Sales Amounts

Aggregates $ 2,316.7 $ 2,280.2  $ 1,991.5  $ 1,715.6  $ 1,606.0  $ 1,513.4  $ 1,612.0  $ 1,392.4  $ 1,362.9  $1,099.3  $ 996.8 

Other products and services:

 Concrete and asphalt  765.7  760.9   623.5   497.6   480.9   467.2   501.6   493.5   447.7   59.3   54.2 

 Cement  7.7  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

  Total $ 3,090.1 $ 3,041.1  $ 2,615.0  $ 2,213.2  $ 2,086.9  $ 1,980.6  $ 2,113.6  $ 1,885.9  $ 1,810.6  $ 1,158.6  $ 1,051.0 

Aggregates Sales Volume 

 by End Use (estimated)

Public construction:

 Highways, streets and airports 25% 23%  23%  23%  25%  31%  33%  34%  34%  34%  35% 

 Other public works 11% 10%  10%  10%  9% 10%  8%  10%  10%  8%  9% 

 Government buildings 11% 11%  11%  11%  11%  11%  10%  9%  9%  10%  11% 

  Public subtotal 47% 44%  44%  44%  45%  52% 51%  53%  53%  52%  55% 

Private construction:

 Residential buildings 19% 25%  26%  26%  26%  21%  20%  19%  19%  20%  18% 

 Private nonresidential buildings 31% 28%  27% 27%  25%  23% 25%  23%  23%  23%  22% 

 Railroads 1% 1%  1% 1%  2% 2% 1% 2% 2% 2%  2% 

Private nonconstruction:

 Agricultural, chemical 

  and industrial 2% 2% 2%  2%  2%  2%  3%  3%  3%  3%  3% 

  Private subtotal 53% 56%  56%  56%  55%  48%  49%  47%  47%  48%  45% 

  Total 100% 100%  100%  100%  100%  100% 100% 100%  100%  100%  100% 

* Represents tons shipped primarily to our other operations (i.e., asphalt mix and concrete). Revenue from internal shipments is not included in net sales as presented in the accompanying 

Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Continuing Operations – Supplementary Data
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts in millions,

except per share data 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Net sales $ 3,090.1 $ 3,041.1 $ 2,615.0 $ 2,213.2 $ 2,086.9 $ 1,980.6 $ 2,113.6 $ 1,885.9 $ 1,810.6 $ 1,158.6 $1,051.0 

Delivery revenues  237.7  301.4  280.3  241.1  222.7  195.3  218.3  197.9  197.6  141.3  115.5 

Total revenues  3,327.8  3,342.5  2,895.3  2,454.3  2,309.6  2,175.9  2,331.9  2,083.8  2,008.2  1,299.9  1,166.5 

Cost of goods sold  2,139.2  2,109.2  1,906.2  1,628.8  1,531.2  1,442.3  1,534.1  1,386.9  1,323.7  768.0  732.6 

Delivery costs  237.7  301.4  280.3  241.2  222.7  195.3  218.3  197.9  197.6  141.3  115.5 

Cost of revenues  2,376.9  2,410.6  2,186.5  1,870.0  1,753.9  1,637.6  1,752.4  1,584.8  1,521.3  909.3  848.1 

Gross profit  950.9  931.9  708.8  584.3  555.7  538.3  579.5  499.0  486.9  390.6  318.4 

Selling, administrative

 and general expenses  289.6  264.3  232.4  196.2  178.8  162.7  162.1  137.9  132.0  115.4  106.3 

Other operating (income)

 expense, net  (53.1)  (27.5)  (0.4)  (15.6)  (1.4)  –    21.8  8.9  14.9  (10.5)  (0.6)

Operating earnings  714.4  695.1  476.8  403.7  378.3  375.6  395.6  352.2  340.0  285.7  212.7 

Other (expense) income, net  (5.3)  28.5  24.4  8.3  6.4  4.8  1.3  20.3  27.3  12.0  8.9 

Interest income  6.6  6.2  16.6  5.7  3.6  2.5  2.7  2.7  3.0  5.9  3.1 

Interest expense  48.2  26.3  37.1  40.3  53.2  53.7  59.7  51.8  50.8  6.5  6.5 

Earnings from continuing            

 operations before income taxes  667.5  703.5  480.7  377.4  335.1  329.2  339.9  323.4  319.5  297.1  218.2 

Provision for income taxes  204.4  223.3  136.6  114.9  97.6  96.0  108.4  99.3  102.0  90.2  60.5 

Earnings from continuing

  operations before cumulative

effect of accounting changes  463.1  480.2  344.1  262.5  237.5  233.2  231.5  224.1  217.5  206.9  157.7 

Earnings (loss) on discontinued

 operations, net of tax  (12.2)  (10.0)  44.9  26.2  (23.7)  (42.8)  (8.8)  (4.2)  22.2  49.0  51.4 

Cumulative effect

 of accounting changes  –  –   –  –    (18.8)  (20.5)  –   –    –    –    –   

Net earnings $ 450.9 $ 470.2 $ 389.0 $ 288.7 $ 195.0 $ 169.9 $ 222.7 $ 219.9 $ 239.7 $ 255.9 $ 209.1 

Diluted earnings per share:

 Earnings from continuing

   operations before 

cumulative effect of 

accounting changes  $ 4.66  $ 4.81  $3.31  $2.53  $ 2.31  $ 2.28  $ 2.26  $ 2.20  $2.13  $2.02  $1.53 

 Discontinued operations  (0.12)  (0.10)  0.43  0.25  (0.23)  (0.42)  (0.09)  (0.04)  0.22  0.48  0.50 

 Cumulative effect

  of accounting changes  –  –  –  –    (0.18)  (0.20)  –  –  –  –  –

Diluted net earnings per share  $ 4.54  $ 4.71  $3.74  $2.78  $ 1.90  $ 1.66  $ 2.17  $ 2.16  $2.35  $2.50  $2.03 

Gross profit as a percentage

 of net sales 30.8% 30.6% 27.1% 26.4% 26.6% 27.0% 27.4% 26.5% 26.9% 33.7% 30.3%

Net earnings:

 As a percentage of net sales 14.6% 15.5% 14.9% 13.0% 9.3% 8.6% 10.5% 11.7% 13.2% 22.1% 19.9%

 As a percentage of average

  shareholders’ equity 18.4% 23.0% 18.6% 15.3% 11.4% 10.4% 14.6% 15.8% 19.4% 24.0% 22.7%

Effective tax rate 30.6% 31.7% 28.4% 30.4% 29.1% 29.1% 31.9% 30.7% 31.9% 30.4% 27.7%

Supplementary Statements of

 Earnings Data, Excluding

 Discontinued Operations

Energy $ 234.8 $ 226.7 $ 199.8 $ 148.6 $ 131.1 $ 124.8 $ 138.9 $ 122.0 $ 98.0 $ 59.2 $ 62.4 

Taxes other than income:

 Payroll  41.2  38.2  35.3  32.1  30.6  30.7  30.2  29.6  27.5  18.6  17.8 

 Property, franchise, etc.  47.5  38.9  38.1  36.2  36.0  31.2  30.4  30.2  31.0  16.0  14.0 

Rentals  82.1  81.7  67.6  49.7  45.4  50.9  54.8  48.2  46.3  40.1  22.6

Royalties  48.1  45.6  45.4  39.4  36.2  34.9  35.0  33.4  29.4  19.9  19.4 

Research and development  1.6  1.7  1.6  1.3  1.4  1.2  1.2  1.4  1.2  1.0  1.3 

Advertising  1.1  1.2  1.1  1.1  1.0  1.0  1.0  1.1  0.9  0.5  0.5

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Supplementary Data
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Dollar amounts in millions,

As of December 31 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 34.9 $ 55.2 $ 275.1 $ 271.5 $ 147.8 $ 127.0 $ 90.8 $ 55.3 $ 52.8 $ 180.6 $ 121.1 

Medium-term investments  –  –  175.1  179.2  273.9  43.7  10.0  –  –  –  7.5 

Accounts and notes receivable  421.9  391.5  476.4  281.6  360.0  332.1  340.1  381.9  329.7  221.3  199.8 

Inventories  356.3  243.5  197.8  177.2  219.4  239.6  228.4  199.0  178.7  143.7  132.4 

Deferred income taxes  44.2  25.6  23.0  34.4  34.4  37.7  53.0  44.7  52.9  24.9  21.4 

Prepaid expenses  40.1  15.4  17.2  15.9  14.7  9.5  7.7  13.6  10.6  5.9  4.9 

Assets held for sale  259.8  –  –  458.2  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  

  Total current assets  1,157.2  731.2  1,164.6  1,418.0  1,050.2  789.6  730.0  694.5  624.7  576.4  487.1 

Investments and 

 long-term receivables  25.4  6.7  6.9  7.2  21.1  16.0  13.4  72.6  77.1  71.0  63.5 

Property, plant and equipment, net  3,620.1  1,869.1  1,604.0  1,536.4  1,892.6  1,976.1  2,000.0  1,848.6  1,639.7  895.8  808.4 

Goodwill  3,789.1  620.2  617.1  600.2  579.8  575.8  588.6  562.0  454.8  94.0  59.3 

Other assets  344.6  200.6  197.8  105.7  93.2  90.7  81.3  72.7  43.2  21.4  30.9 

  Total $ 8,936.4 $ 3,427.8 $ 3,590.4 $ 3,667.5 $ 3,636.9 $ 3,448.2 $ 3,413.3 $ 3,250.4 $ 2,839.5 $ 1,658.6 $ 1,449.2 

Liabilities and 

 Shareholders’ Equity

Current maturities 

 of long-term debt $ 35.2 $ 0.6 $ 272.0 $ 3.2 $ 249.7 $ 41.6 $ 17.2 $ 6.8 $ 6.2 $ 5.4 $ 5.4 

Short-term borrowings  2,091.5  198.9  –  –  29.0  37.3  43.9  270.3  101.7  2.4  3.7 

Other current liabilities  395.2  288.0  298.7  228.1  264.3  218.8  283.4  295.1  278.7  203.7  198.6 

Liabilities of assets held for sale  6.3  –  –  188.4  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  

Long-term obligations  1,529.8  322.1  323.4  604.5  607.7  857.8  906.3  685.4  698.9  76.5  81.9 

All other noncurrent liabilities  1,118.8  607.3  562.7  622.5  683.4  595.7  558.2  521.3  430.3  216.9  168.1 

Shareholders’ equity  3,759.6  2,010.9  2,133.6  2,020.8  1,802.8  1,697.0  1,604.3  1,471.5  1,323.7  1,153.7  991.5 

  Total $ 8,936.4 $ 3,427.8 $ 3,590.4 $ 3,667.5 $ 3,636.9 $ 3,448.2 $ 3,413.3 $ 3,250.4 $ 2,839.5 $ 1,658.6 $ 1,449.2 

Other Financial Data

Average Capital Employed

Current maturities $ 3.8 $ 49.9 $ 224.7 $ 65.9 $ 220.9 $ 10.9 $ 6.4 $ 6.3 $ 7.5 $ 5.4 $ 5.1 

Short-term borrowings  602.6  118.1  12.1  25.3  32.9  39.6  147.0  150.6  287.5  2.6  3.5 

Long-term debt  423.4  322.6  375.8  607.3  672.7  893.7  899.6  689.1  608.1  78.5  82.6 

All other noncurrent liabilities  690.8  580.0  611.8  701.7  678.9  559.7  520.7  486.1  339.8  186.7  162.0 

Shareholders’ equity  2,449.8  2,043.5  2,091.6  1,885.2  1,715.5  1,633.3  1,523.4  1,395.2  1,233.1  1,065.6  919.9 

  Total $ 4,170.4 $ 3,114.1 $ 3,316.0 $ 3,285.4 $ 3,320.9 $ 3,137.2 $ 3,097.1 $ 2,727.3 $ 2,476.0 $ 1,338.8 $ 1,173.1 

Capital Expenditures

Cash purchases of property,

 plant and equipment $ 483.3 $ 435.2 $ 215.6 $ 203.8 $ 193.9 $ 248.8 $ 286.9 $ 340.4 $ 314.7 $ 203.3 $ 161.2 

Accruals and other items for 

 property, plant 

 and equipment  (2.8)  23.5  18.4  9.3  6.2  0.8  0.9  3.3  2.8  8.5  14.4 

Debt issued for property, plant

 and equipment  –  0.2  0.3  –  –  –  0.4  2.7  0.6  –  0.1 

  Total $ 480.5 $ 458.9 $ 234.3 $ 213.1 $ 200.1 $ 249.6 $ 288.2 $ 346.4 $ 318.1 $ 211.8 $ 175.7 

Acquisitions

Cash paid $ 3,297.9 $ 20.5 $ 94.0 $ 34.6 $ 3.5 $ 43.4 $ 138.8 $ 265.1 $ 780.4 $ 24.9 $ 12.1 

Cash acquired  2.9  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

Stock issued  1,436.5  –  –  –  –  –  –  1.3  10.6  34.5  –  

Debt issued  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  8.0  –  –  

  Total $ 4,737.3 $ 20.5 $ 94.0 $ 34.6 $ 3.5 $ 43.4 $ 138.8 $ 266.4 $ 799.0 $ 59.4 $ 12.1 

Working capital $ (1,371.0) $ 243.7 $ 593.8 $ 998.2 $ 507.3 $ 492.0 $ 385.5 $ 122.3 $ 238.1 $ 364.9 $ 279.4 

Ratio of earnings to            

 fixed charges – consolidated  9.2  12.9  8.7  7.3  5.7  5.4  5.2  5.6  5.6  15.6  15.3 

Total debt as a percentage of 

 total capital  49.3% 20.6% 21.8% 23.1% 33.0% 35.6% 37.6% 39.5% 37.9% 6.8% 8.4% 

Average number of employees  8,245  7,983  8,051  8,410  8,838  9,487  9,783  9,313  9,243  6,971  7,180

Consolidated Balance Sheets and Other Financial Data
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts in millions 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Operating Activities
Net earnings $ 450.9 $ 470.2 $ 389.0 $ 288.7 $ 195.0 $ 169.9 $ 222.7 $ 219.9 $ 239.7 $ 255.9 $ 209.1 
Adjustments to reconcile net
 earnings to net cash provided
 by operating activities:
  Depreciation, depletion,
   accretion and amortization  271.5  226.4  222.9  246.4  277.1  267.7  278.2  232.4  207.1  137.9  129.2 
  Cumulative effect of
   accounting changes  –  –  –  –  18.8  20.5  –  –  –  –  –  
  (Increase) decrease in assets
   before initial effects of business
   acquisitions and dispositions  2.8  (76.0)  (116.0)  17.5  (30.8)  21.0  15.1  (42.6)  (12.3)  (28.4)  (6.0)
  (Increase) decrease in liabilities
   before initial effects of business
   acquisitions and dispositions  5.0  (22.6)  4.8  85.6  77.8  (28.1)  (0.9)  26.3  (6.6)  12.0  9.3 
  Other, net  (22.1)  (18.7)  (27.5)  (57.6)  (18.9)  7.0  (3.0)  (1.4)  (5.9)  (15.7)  0.5 
    Net cash provided by            
     operating activities  708.1  579.3  473.2  580.6  519.0  458.0  512.1  434.6  422.0  361.7  342.1 
Investing Activities
Purchases of property,
 plant and equipment  (483.3)  (435.2)  (215.6)  (203.8)  (193.9)  (248.8)  (286.8)  (340.4)  (314.7)  (203.3)  (161.2)
Proceeds from sale of property,
 plant and equipment  88.9  7.9  10.6  48.4  38.0  25.9  39.0  62.4  103.1  27.1  16.4 
Proceeds from sale of 
 contractual rights, net of cash 
 transaction fees  –  24.8  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
Proceeds from sale of Chemicals
 business, net of cash 
 transaction fees  30.6  141.9  209.3  –  43.7  –  –  –  –  –  –  
Payment for partner’s interest
 in consolidated joint venture  –  –  (65.2)  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
Payment for business acquisitions  (3,297.9)  (20.5)  (94.0)  (34.6)  (3.5)  (43.4)  (138.8)  (265.1)  (780.4)  (24.9)  (12.1)
(Increase) decrease in
 medium-term investments  –  175.1  4.1  94.7  (230.2)  (33.7)  (10.0)  –  –  7.5  (4.5)
Change in investments and
 long-term receivables  5.0  0.3  0.6  0.8  (5.3)  (2.6)  0.3  (8.7)  (22.2)  (7.8)  (2.4)
Withdrawal of earnings
  from (investment in)

nonconsolidated companies  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  13.2  16.1  0.3  0.2 
Other, net  2.4  0.7  1.0  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
    Net cash used for
     investing activities  (3,654.3)  (105.0)  (149.2)  (94.5)  (351.2)  (302.6)  (396.3)  (538.6)  (998.1)  (201.1)  (163.6)
Financing Activities
Net short-term 
 borrowings (payments)  1,892.6  198.9  –  (29.0)  (8.3)  (6.6)  (226.5)  168.6  91.3  (1.3)  0.4 
Payment of short-term debt and
 current maturities  (2.0)  (272.5)  (3.4)  (249.8)  (41.6)  (17.3)  (6.8)  (6.1)  (96.3)  (5.2)  (5.0)
Payment of long-term debt  –  –  (8.3)  (0.2)  (0.2)  (7.4)  –  (8.0)  (1.2)  (0.2)  –  
Proceeds from issuance of 
 long-term debt  1,223.6  –  –  –  –  –  238.6  –  496.9  –  –  
Purchases of common stock  (4.8)  (522.8)  (228.5)  –  –  –  –  –  (12.5)  (65.0)  (43.1)
Dividends paid  (181.3)  (144.1)  (118.2)  (106.3)  (99.6)  (95.4)  (91.1)  (84.8)  (78.7)  (70.0)  (63.6)
Proceeds from exercise of 
 stock options  35.1  28.9  37.9  21.5  5.1  4.4  5.6  1.9  1.3  1.9  0.4 
Excess tax benefits from
 share-based compensation  29.2  17.4  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
Contribution from minority interest
 of consolidated subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  35.6  36.0  31.9  –  
Other, net  (66.6)  –  0.1  1.4  (2.4)  3.1  (0.1)  (0.7)  11.5  6.8  5.7 
    Net cash (used for) provided 
     by financing activities  2,925.8  (694.2)  (320.4)  (362.4)  (147.0)  (119.2)  (80.3)  106.5  448.3  (101.1)  (105.2)
Net increase (decrease) in cash
 and cash equivalents  (20.3)  (219.9)  3.6  123.7  20.8  36.2  35.5  2.5  (127.8)  59.5  73.3 
Cash and cash equivalents
 at beginning of year  55.2  275.1  271.5  147.8  127.0  90.8  55.3  52.8  180.6  121.1  47.8 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 at end of year $ 34.9 $ 55.2 $ 275.1 $ 271.5 $ 147.8 $ 127.0 $ 90.8 $ 55.3 $ 52.8 $ 180.6 $ 121.1

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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     Ten-year Growth Five-year Growth

     1997–2007 2002–2007

Aggregates Sales

Units      3.9%  2.1%

Dollars    9.1%  10.4%

Operating Data      

Net sales    10.2%  10.6%

Operating earnings    10.4%  16.0%

Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting changes  10.0%  18.0%

Net earnings    7.6%  25.0%

Share Data

Per common share:      

 Diluted earnings from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting changes  10.1%  18.8%

 Basic net earnings    7.9%  26.3%

 Diluted net earnings    7.8%  25.8%

 Dividends declared    9.7%  14.4%

 Shareholders’ equity at year end    10.7%  14.0%

Financial Position

Property, plant and equipment – gross, at year end    6.9%  4.8%

Property, plant and equipment – net, at year end    9.5%  9.1%

Average capital employed:      

 Continuing operations    14.4%  8.7%

Average shareholders’ equity    9.3%  7.8%

Other Data

Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization from continuing operations  9.5%  4.6%

Net cash provided by operating activities    6.0%  6.8%

Capital expenditures    2.4%  7.9%

Selected National Price Indices

Consumer price index for all urban consumers    2.6%  3.0%

Gross domestic product implicit price deflator    2.3%  2.9%

Producer price index for industrial commodities    3.4%  6.1%

*The compound growth rates shown on this page and elsewhere herein were computed by linear regression analysis of the logarithms of the annual data values.

Average Annual Compound Growth Rates*

Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Amounts in millions, except per share data 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Net Sales

First quarter $ 630.2 $ 642.3 $ 479.4 $ 431.9 $ 392.0 $ 400.6 $ 399.6 $ 366.2 $ 346.7 $ 193.3 $ 187.2 

Second quarter  807.8  807.8  705.3  584.7  556.6  546.0  589.5  514.0  479.9  308.6  286.4 

Third quarter  844.9  848.3  749.4  649.3  616.3  566.7  604.5  531.8  523.0  352.2  319.4 

Fourth quarter  807.2  742.7  680.9  547.3  522.0  467.3  520.0  473.9  461.0  304.5  258.0 

 Total  $ 3,090.1 $ 3,041.1 $ 2,615.0 $ 2,213.2 $ 2,086.9 $ 1,980.6 $ 2,113.6 $ 1,885.9 $ 1,810.6 $ 1,158.6 $ 1,051.0 

Total Revenues

First quarter $ 687.2 $ 708.7 $ 528.6 $ 474.4 $ 428.4 $ 439.3 $ 437.5 $ 403.0 $ 382.2 $ 216.5 $ 206.3 

Second quarter  878.8  888.2  782.1  647.9  615.8  598.7  648.4  567.7  530.3  345.8  316.9 

Third quarter  904.9  929.3  830.0  723.4  685.5  623.5  670.2  589.8  581.3  395.9  357.2 

Fourth quarter  856.9  816.3  754.6  608.6  579.9  514.4  575.8  523.3  514.4  341.7  286.1 

 Total  $ 3,327.8 $ 3,342.5 $ 2,895.3 $ 2,454.3 $ 2,309.6 $ 2,175.9 $ 2,331.9 $ 2,083.8 $ 2,008.2 $ 1,299.9 $ 1,166.5 

Operating Earnings

First quarter $ 137.1 $ 99.0 $ 38.0 $ 40.3 $ 17.5 $ 42.3 $ 24.1 $ 33.8 $ 30.8 $ 28.9 $ 12.0 

Second quarter  217.2  218.1  153.5  118.2  117.5  129.4  128.8  115.9  102.9  82.3  69.3 

Third quarter  214.3  206.4  164.9  146.3  143.0  128.7  143.1  121.5  124.3  108.1  78.9 

Fourth quarter  145.8  171.6  120.4  98.9  100.3  75.2  99.6  81.0  82.0  66.4  52.5 

 Total  $ 714.4 $ 695.1 $ 476.8 $ 403.7 $ 378.3 $ 375.6 $ 395.6 $ 352.2 $ 340.0 $ 285.7 $ 212.7 

Earnings from Continuing

 Operations Before Cumulative

 Effect of Accounting Changes

First quarter $ 89.3 $ 71.9 $ 21.6 $ 21.1 $ 3.9 $ 21.0 $ 6.1 $ 17.8 $ 18.7 $ 20.1 $ 9.2 

Second quarter  143.7  152.3  102.0  83.7  73.1  80.5  78.2  74.2  63.7  59.2  51.5 

Third quarter  143.9  140.9  128.3  92.2  97.3  86.0  88.0  82.8  83.3  76.4  58.0 

Fourth quarter  86.2  115.1  92.2  65.5  63.2  45.7  59.2  49.3  51.8  51.2  39.0 

 Total  $ 463.1 $ 480.2 $ 344.1 $ 262.5 $ 237.5 $ 233.2 $ 231.5 $ 224.1 $ 217.5 $ 206.9 $ 157.7 

Basic Earnings Per Share

 from Continuing Operations

 Before Cumulative Effect

 of Accounting Changes

First quarter  $0.94  $0.72  $0.21  $0.21  $0.04  $0.21  $0.06  $0.18  $0.19  $0.20  $0.09 

Second quarter  1.50  1.53  1.00  0.82  0.72  0.79  0.77  0.73  0.63  0.59  0.51 

Third quarter  1.50  1.47  1.25  0.90  0.95  0.84  0.87  0.82  0.82  0.75  0.57 

Fourth quarter  0.85  1.21  0.91  0.64  0.62  0.45  0.58  0.49  0.52  0.51  0.38 

 Full year  $4.77  $4.92  $3.37  $2.56  $2.33  $2.29  $2.28  $2.22  $2.16  $2.05  $1.55 

Diluted Earnings Per Share

 from Continuing Operations

 Before Cumulative Effect

 of Accounting Changes

First quarter  $0.91  $0.70  $0.21  $0.20  $0.04  $0.20  $0.06  $0.17  $0.18  $0.20  $0.09 

Second quarter  1.46  1.50  0.98  0.81  0.71  0.79  0.76  0.73  0.63  0.58  0.50 

Third quarter  1.47  1.44  1.23  0.89  0.95  0.84  0.86  0.81  0.81  0.74  0.56 

Fourth quarter  0.83  1.19  0.89  0.63  0.61  0.45  0.58  0.49  0.51  0.50  0.38 

 Full year  $4.66  $4.81  $3.31  $2.53  $2.31  $2.28  $2.26  $2.20  $2.13  $2.02  $1.53 

Net Earnings (Loss)

First quarter $ 88.9 $ 70.1 $ 54.5 $ 15.4 $ (17.5) $ (8.9) $ 5.7 $ 23.3 $ 26.4 $ 36.5 $ 21.9 

Second quarter  142.0  150.6  121.6  87.9  56.0  65.4  79.6  76.1  62.7  70.0  62.8 

Third quarter  135.4  135.7  122.2  99.1  99.1  76.8  92.2  86.0  85.8  89.9  73.3 

Fourth quarter  84.6  113.8  90.7  86.3  57.4  36.6  45.2  34.5  64.8  59.5  51.1 

 Total  $ 450.9 $ 470.2 $ 389.0 $ 288.7 $ 195.0 $ 169.9 $ 222.7 $ 219.9 $ 239.7 $ 255.9 $ 209.1 

Basic Net Earnings (Loss) 

 Per Share

First quarter  $0.93  $0.70  $0.53  $0.15  $(0.17)  $(0.09)  $0.06  $0.23  $0.26  $0.36  $0.21 

Second quarter  1.49  1.51  1.19  0.86  0.55  0.64  0.79  0.75  0.62  0.69  0.62 

Third quarter  1.41  1.42  1.19  0.97  0.97  0.75  0.91  0.85  0.85  0.89  0.72 

Fourth quarter  0.83  1.20  0.90  0.84  0.56  0.36  0.44  0.34  0.64  0.59  0.51 

 Full year  $4.65  $4.82  $3.81  $2.82  $ 1.91  $ 1.67  $2.20  $2.18  $2.38  $2.54  $2.06 

Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) 

 Per Share

First quarter  $0.91  $0.68  $0.52  $0.15  $(0.17)  $(0.09)  $0.06  $0.23  $0.26  $0.36  $0.21 

Second quarter  1.45  1.48  1.17  0.85  0.55  0.64  0.78  0.75  0.61  0.68  0.61 

Third quarter  1.38  1.39  1.17  0.96  0.96  0.75  0.90  0.84  0.84  0.88  0.71 

Fourth quarter  0.82  1.17  0.88  0.83  0.56  0.36  0.44  0.34  0.64  0.58  0.50 

 Full year  $4.54  $4.71  $3.74  $2.78  $ 1.90  $ 1.66  $2.17  $2.16  $2.35  $2.50  $2.03 

Net Sales, Total Revenues, Net Earnings and Earnings Per Share
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies



87

     2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Common Stock Prices

First quarter High  $125.79  $89.16  $59.67  $50.53  $38.75  $48.92  $48.19  $47.75  $48.13  $37.83  $22.17 

     Low  87.27  66.98  52.36  45.65  28.75  44.95  40.75  37.69  40.75  31.50  18.42 

     Close  116.48  86.65  56.83  47.44  30.23  47.54  46.83  45.81  41.31  36.50  21.63 

Second quarter High  128.62  93.85  65.99  48.78  39.95  49.95  55.30  48.88  50.75  39.90  26.88 

     Low  111.46  70.44  52.36  41.94  29.90  42.46  43.60  41.25  39.63  34.83  20.42 

     Close  114.54  78.00  64.99  47.55  37.07  43.80  53.75  42.69  48.25  35.56  26.17 

Third quarter High  116.52  80.18  74.55  51.18  42.99  44.35  55.22  47.00  51.25  40.75  30.15 

     Low  80.50  65.85  64.04  44.30  36.20  34.15  37.50  37.50  34.31  33.63  26.13 

     Close  89.15  78.25  74.21  50.95  39.91  36.16  43.20  40.19  36.63  33.73  29.00 

Fourth quarter High  96.09  92.00  76.31  55.53  48.60  38.24  48.95  48.44  44.13  44.67  34.65 

     Low  77.04  76.81  60.72  46.85  39.76  32.35  40.46  36.50  34.81  31.33  28.15 

     Close  79.09  89.87  67.75  54.61  47.57  37.50  47.94  47.88  39.94  43.85  34.04 

Year   High  128.62  93.85  76.31  55.53  48.60  49.95  55.30  48.88  51.25  44.67  34.65 

     Low  77.04  65.85  52.36  41.94  28.75  32.35  37.50  36.50  34.31  31.33  18.42 

     Close  79.09  89.87  67.75  54.61  47.57  37.50  47.94  47.88  39.94  43.85  34.04 

Dividends Declared Per

 Share of Common Stock*

First quarter   $0.460  $0.370  $0.290  $0.260  $0.245  $0.235  $0.225  $0.210  $0.195  $0.173  $0.157 

Second quarter   0.460  0.370  0.290  0.260  0.245  0.235  0.225  0.210  0.195  0.173  0.157 

Third quarter   0.460  0.370  0.290  0.260  0.245  0.235  0.225  0.210  0.195  0.173  0.157 

Fourth quarter   0.460  0.370  0.290  0.260  0.245  0.235  0.225  0.210  0.195  0.173  0.157 

    Total   $1.840  $1.480  $1.160  $1.040  $0.980  $0.940  $0.900  $0.840  $0.780  $0.693  $0.627 

Other Data

Price earnings ratio (annual)

     High  28.4  20.0  20.4  20.1  25.6  30.1  25.5  22.6  21.8  17.8  17.0 

     Low  17.0  14.1  14.0  15.1  15.1  19.5  17.3  16.9  14.6  12.5  9.1 

     Close  17.4  19.2  18.1  19.7  25.1  22.6  22.1  22.2  17.0  17.5  16.7 

Dividends paid as a percentage

 of diluted net earnings per share 40.6% 31.6% 31.0% 37.5% 51.6% 56.6% 41.5% 38.9% 33.2% 27.7% 30.9%

Shareholders’ equity

 per common share  $37.83  $20.06  $20.43  $19.43  $17.55  $16.55  $15.65  $14.42  $12.95  $11.29  $9.64 

Ratio of stock price to

  shareholders’ equity per

common share at year end  2.1  4.5  3.3  2.8  2.7  2.3  3.1  3.3  3.1  3.8  3.5 

Common shares outstanding

 at year end (in millions)  108.2  94.6  100.3  102.6  101.8  101.5  101.3  101.0  100.7  100.6  101.1 

Weighted-average common shares

 outstanding (in millions)  97.0  97.6  102.2  102.4  101.8  101.7  101.4  101.0  100.9  100.9  101.5 

Weighted-average common shares

 outstanding, assuming dilution

 (in millions)  99.4  99.8  104.1  103.7  102.7  102.5  102.5  102.0  102.2  102.2  102.8 

* Dividends paid in 2007 totaled $181,315,000 as compared with $144,082,000 paid in 2006. On February 8, 2008, our Board of Directors authorized a quarterly dividend of 49 cents per common 

share payable March 10, 2008. The new quarterly dividend represents a 6.5% increase over quarterly dividends paid in 2007.

Common Stock Prices, Dividends and Related Data
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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Donald M. James

Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

John D. Baker II

President and

Chief Executive Officer

Patriot Transportation Holdings

Philip J. Carroll, Jr.

Former Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

Fluor Corporation

Phillip W. Farmer

Former Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Harris Corporation

H. Allen Franklin

Former Chairman, President

and Chief Executive Officer

Southern Company

Ann McLaughlin Korologos

Former U.S. Secretary of Labor

Chairman, Board of Trustees

The RAND Corporation

Douglas J. McGregor

Former President and

Chief Operating Officer

Burlington Industries

James V. Napier

Former Chairman of the Board

Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.

Donald B. Rice

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

Agensys, Inc.

Orin R. Smith

Former Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

Engelhard Corporation

Vincent J. Trosino

Former President, Chief Operating Officer

and Vice Chairman of the Board

State Farm Mutual Automobile

Insurance Company

Chairmen Emeriti

W. Houston Blount

Herbert A. Sklenar

Directors Emeriti

Marion H. Antonini

Livio D. DeSimone

John K. Greene

Richard H. Leet

John J. McKetta

James W. McSwiney

Founding Directors

W. Houston Blount

William R. Ireland

Glenn Ireland II

Executive

Philip J. Carroll, Jr.

Donald M. James*

Douglas J. McGregor

James V. Napier

Donald B. Rice

Orin R. Smith

Audit

Phillip W. Farmer

H. Allen Franklin

Douglas J. McGregor

James V. Napier*

Vincent J. Trosino

Compensation

Philip J. Carroll, Jr.

H. Allen Franklin

James V. Napier

Donald B. Rice

Orin R. Smith*

Finance and Pension Funds

John D. Baker II

Phillip W. Farmer

Ann McLaughlin Korologos 

Douglas J. McGregor*

James V. Napier

Donald B. Rice

Vincent J. Trosino

Governance

Philip J. Carroll, Jr.

Phillip W. Farmer

Ann McLaughlin Korologos 

Donald B. Rice*

Orin R. Smith

Safety, Health and 

Environmental Affairs

John D. Baker II

Philip J. Carroll, Jr.*

H. Allen Franklin

Douglas J. McGregor

Orin R. Smith

Vincent J. Trosino

*Chair

Board of Directors and Committees
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies

Board of Directors

Board Committees
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Donald M. James

Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

(1997/1992) Age 59

William F. Denson, III

Senior Vice President,

General Counsel

(1999/1973) Age 64

J. Wayne Houston

Senior Vice President, Human Resources

(2004/1980) Age 58

Daniel F. Sansone

Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer

(2005/1988) Age 55

Robert A. Wason IV

Senior Vice President,

Corporate Development

(1998/1988) Age 56

Ejaz A. Khan

Vice President, Controller

and Chief Information Officer

(2000/1979) Age 50

James W. O’Brien

Vice President, Tax

(2006/2006) Age 51

Brad C. Rosenwald

Vice President, Safety,

Health and Environment

(2006/1980) Age 55

J. Philip Alford

Treasurer

(2006/1978) Age 58

Norman Jetmundsen, Jr.

Assistant General Counsel

(2002/2002) Age 54

Jerry F. Perkins Jr.

Secretary

(2007/2002) Age 38

Guy M. Badgett, III

Senior Vice President,

Construction Materials Group

(2001/1970) Age 59

Ronald G. McAbee

Senior Vice President – West

(2007/1974) Age 60

Danny R. Shepherd

Senior Vice President – East

(2007/2002) Age 56

Thompson S. Baker II

President, Florida Rock Division

(2007/2007) Age 49

Stanley G. Bass

President, Midsouth Division

(2005/1996) Age 46

Sherrod B. Clarke, Jr.

President, Southern and Gulf

Coast Division

(2005/1979) Age 55

Diggs S. Bishop

President, Northern Concrete Division

(2007/2007) Age 48

James T. Hill

President, Southwest Division

(2004/1996) Age 48

D. Gray Kimel, Jr.

President, Mideast Division

(2004/1972) Age 58

Michael R. Mills

President, Southeast Division

(2007/1991) Age 47

Robert R. Vogel

President, Midwest Division

(2000/1982) Age 50

Alan D. Wessel

President, Western Division

(2007/1992) Age 50

Stephen J. Barberio

Vice President, Geological Services

(2008/1990) Age 60

James P. Daniel

Vice President, Business Development

(2004/1995) Age 53

Randal C. Hall

Vice President, Engineering Services

(2003/1993) Age 53

Sidney F. Mays

Vice President, Marketing Support Services

(2007/1986) Age 46

Mark E. Smith

Vice President, Operations Support – East

(2007/1980) Age 51

Dates indicate year appointed to present 

position/year employed by Vulcan.

Ages are as of March 1, 2008.

Corporate and Construction Materials Officers
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies

Corporate Officers

Construction Materials Officers



General Information

Notice of Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of the shareholders will be held at the corporate head-

quarters, 1200 Urban Center Drive, Birmingham, Alabama, on May 9, 

2008, at 9:00 a.m. Central Daylight Time. All shareholders are urged to 

attend. A formal notice of the meeting, proxy statement and proxy accom-

pany this report.

Electronic Deposit of Dividends

Registered holders of our common stock may have their quarterly divi-

dends deposited to their checking or savings account free of charge. 

Contact The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation personnel to sign up 

for this service.

Telephone: (866) 886-9902

Internet: bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

BuyDIRECT and Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The BuyDIRECT plan offers both existing registered stockholders and 

first-time investors an affordable alternative for investing in the Company, 

including the ability to participate in automatic reinvestment of dividends 

to purchase additional shares of our common stock. A brochure describ-

ing this service may be obtained by calling:

Telephone:  (866) 353-7849

Form 10-K

Investors will be provided a copy of our Form 10-K annual report to the 

SEC, without charge, by writing to the Secretary of the Company.

Social Responsibility Report

Our latest report is available on our website. You may also request a 

printed copy by writing to Community Relations at the corporate head-

quarters address listed above.

Independent Auditors

Deloitte & Touche, LLP, Birmingham, Alabama

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Investor Information
Vulcan Materials Company and Subsidiary Companies
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How to Reach Us

Shareholder Services

Our transfer agent and registrar, The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation, 

has a direct response system for handling shareholders’ inquiries about 

change of address, account balances, recent dividend information, divi-

dend checks, reportable income and dividend reinvestment.

Telephone:  (866) 886-9902 (toll-free inside the U.S. and Canada)

(201) 680-6578 (outside the U.S. and Canada, may call collect)

(800) 231-5469 (TDD, hearing impaired)

The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation

P.O. Box 358015

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15252-8015

E-mail: shareowners@bnymellon.com

Internet: bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

Investor Relations

Mark D. Warren

Telephone: (205) 298-3220

E-mail: ir@vmcmail.com

Community Relations

David A. Donaldson

Telephone: (205) 298-3220

E-mail: cr@vmcmail.com

Internet Address

Our Internet address is vulcanmaterials.com. This website includes gen-

eral Company information, Securities and Exchange Commission filings, 

investor information and an archive of recent news releases.

Corporate Headquarters

Vulcan Materials Company

1200 Urban Center Drive

Birmingham, Alabama 35242-2545

Telephone: (205) 298-3000

Fax: (205) 298-2963

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) Assertions

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE under the symbol VMC. 

On June 7, 2007, Donald M. James, chairman and chief executive offi-

cer, submitted to the NYSE the Written Affirmation required by the rules 

of the NYSE certifying that he was not aware of any violations by Vulcan 

Materials Company of NYSE Corporate Governance listing standards.

The certifications of Mr. James and Daniel F. Sansone, senior vice 

president and chief financial officer, made pursuant to Section 302 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been filed as exhibits to our 2007 

Annual Report on Form 10-K.



The recent modernization and expansion project at our Sac Tun quarry in Mexico has improved its competitive 

profile while increasing capacity 33 percent to over twelve million tons per year.
PLAYA DEL CARMEN, MEXICO
QUARRY EXPANSION

ON THE COVER:IN 2007, WE POSTED RECORD RESULTS 
IN KEY BUSINESS METRICS DESPITE LAGGING 
DEMAND. NEAR THE END OF THE YEAR, 
FLORIDA ROCK INDUSTRIES JOINED US, CREATING 
OPERATIONAL AND STRATEGIC SYNERGIES WHILE 
INCREASING OUR RESERVES AND ENHANCING 
OUR ABILITY TO SERVE CUSTOMERS IN OUR
GROWTH-MARKET FOOTPRINT. WHILE UNCERTAINTY
IN THE GENERAL ECONOMY SWIRLED, OUR 
FUNDAMENTALS REMAINED STRONG.
 
WHAT HAS NOT AND WILL NOT CHANGE 
ABOUT VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY IS THE 
CONSISTENCY AND EXECUTION OF OUR 
STRATEGY, THE STRENGTH OF OUR UNDERLYING 
BUSINESS, AND OUR PROSPECTS AS A VITAL 
CONTRIBUTOR TO AMERICA’S INFRASTRUCTURE.
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STRATEGIC
STABLE
GROWING
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